=

pwc

GRACEKENNEDY LIMITED

Financial Statements
31 December 2018



GraceKennedy Limited
Index

31 December 2018

Page
Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members

Financial Statements

-

Consolidated statement of financial position
Consolidated income stalement

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Consvlidated statement of changes in equity
Consolidated statement of cash flows

Company statement of financial position
Company income statement

Company statement of comprehensive income

o @~ O A W N

Company statement of changes in equity
Company statement of cash flows 10

Notes to the financial statements 11-124



i

pwc

Independent auditor’s report
To the Members of GraceKennedy Limited

Report on the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial
statements

Our opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and the stand-alone financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of GraceKennedy Limited (the Company) and its
subsidiaries (together ‘the Group’) and the stand-alone financial position of the Company as at

31 December 2018, and of their consolidated and stand-alone financial performance and their
consolidated and stand-alone cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and with the requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act.

What we have audited

GraceKennedy Limited’s consolidated and stand-alone financial statements comprise:
¢ the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

* the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
» the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

» the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

» the company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018;

s the company income statement for the year then ended;

s the company statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

» the company statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

« the company statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, which include significant
accounting policies.

Basis for opinion i

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements section of our report,

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Scotiabank Centre, Duke Street, Kingston, Jamaica
T: (876} 922 6230, F: (876) 922 7581, www.pwe.com/fm
LA McKnight P.E. Willams AK, Jain B.L, Scott, B.J. Derning G.A Resca P.A Williams R.S. Nathan C.1. Bell-Wisdom G.K Moora
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Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Our audit approach

Audit scope

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement
in the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements. In particular, we considered where management
made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved
making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits,
we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including, among other matters,
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due
to fraud.

How we tailored our group audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial statements, and to ensure we had
adeguate quantitative coverage of significant accounts in the financial statements we designed and
performed audit procedures over varicus components. The Group comprised 44 reporting components of
which, we selected 19 components which mainly represent the principal business units within the Group
and covered entities within Jamaica, Barbados, Bahamas, Trinidad and Tobago, Canada, the United
Kingdom, the United States of America (USA) and Guyana.

Of the 19 components selected, we performed an audit of the complete financial information of 12
components (“full scope components”) which were selected based on their size, risk characteristics or
both. For the remaining 7 components (“specific scope components”), we performed audit procedures on
specific accounts and or analytical procedures within that component that we considered had the potential
for the greatest impact on the significant accounts in the financial statements either due to the size of these
accounts or their risk profile. The audit scope of these components may not have included testing of all
significant accounts of the component but will have contributed to the coverage of significant accounts
tested for the Group.

In relation to the remaining components, none of which are individually greater than 3% of the Group’s
profit before tax we performed other procedures, including analytical review procedures and testing of
consolidation journals, intercompany eliminations and foreign currency translation recalculations to
respond to any potential risks of material misstatement to the Group financial statements.
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For components that are in scope of the Group audit, we used component auditors from PwC network
firms and non PwC firms who are familiar with the local laws and regulations to perform this audit work.
Throughout the audit we had regular meetings and correspondence with management and component
auditor teams to follow up progress of work for all components. The Group team engagement leader and
the senior members of the group engagement team reviewed reports about the audit approach and
findings of the component auditors.

Context

The context of our audit is set by the Group's major activities in 2018. One of the most significant events
was the acquisition of a 35% interest in Catherine’s Peak Bottling Company Limited which is accounted for
as an investment in associate. Additionally, the impact of the Group’s adoption of IFRS g in respect of
estimates and judgments involved in expected credit loss (ECL) calculations for loans receivables and
investments was significant. These have therefore become new key audit matters for our audit in 2018.

Our other key audit matters relating to goodwill impairment assessment of the United States of America
operations and valuation of pension scheme assets and liabilities continue to be areas which are significant
to the Group and involve significant levels of judgement by management and expert knowledge as in prior
year.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

IKey audil matter How our audil addressed the key audil

malter

Accounting for investment in associate (Group
and Company)

Refer to notes 2(c), 4(ix), 4(i} and 10 of the
consolidated and stand-alone financial statements
for disclosures of related accounting policies,
Jjudgments, estimates and balances.

During the year, the Group acquired a 35% interest ~ We read the share purchase agreement and evaluated

in Catherine’s Peak Bottling Company Limited (CP)  the appropriateness of the accounting for the

for a consideration of $525 million which is acquisition as an associate against management’s

accounted for as an investment in associate for both :tc::al:rt:izg policies and the required accounting

the Group and Company.
‘We held discussions with management to gain an
understanding and evaluate their basis for selecting
assumptions used in value in use calculations for CP.
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The consideration paid in the acquisition of the
interest in CP resuited in the identification of
intangible assets including brands, customer
relialtionships and goodwill amounting to $498.5
million.

‘We focused on the investment due to the
significance of the consideration paid,
management’s judgement and estimation involved
in identifying intangible assets and the
determination of any impairment in relation to
goodwill,

The complex judgements include identifying all
assets including intangibles, and liabilities of the
newly acquired associate and estimating their
associated fair value for initial recognition as part of
the Purchase Price Allocation and value-in-use
{VIU) calculations. Key inputs into the VIU were
revenue growth and discount rates.

Expected credit losses in relation to financial assets
(Group)

Refer to notes 2(h), 3cfi) and 4{viii) of the
consolidated and stand-alone financial statements

for disclosures of related accounting policies,
Judgments, estimates and balances.

The Group adopted the accounting standard IFRS 9
‘Financial instruments’ effective 1 January 2018.
The standard introduced new requirements around
two main aspects of how financial instruments are
treated namely; measurement & classification and
impairment. In relation to impairment, the standard
prescribes a new forward looking expected credit
loss (*ECL") impairment model, which takes into
account reasonable and supportable forward
looking information and will generally result in the
earlier recognition of impairment provisions.

‘The introduction of the new standard required the
Group to build and implement new models to
measure the expected credit losses for relevant
financial assets. With the most significant impact to
debt securities and loans and advances, including
off balance sheet exposures.

‘With the assistance of our valuation expert, we
independently determined fair values for the identified
intangible assets and compared to management’s
calculated value.

We corroborated the key inputs into the VIU, being the
revenue growth and discount rates to historic and
prospective financial, industry and economic
information, taking into consideration our knowledge of
the Group and the industries in which the Group
operates.

Using management’s projections, we sensitised the
discount rate to recalculate a VIU for CP to evaluate
whether there was any impairment on the carrying
value of goodwill,

Based on the audit procedures performed, no
adjustments to the financial statements were deemed
necessary.

‘We obtained the Group’s accounting policies as it relates
to IFRS 9 and assessed the reasonableness of those
accounting policies with the requirements of the
standard.

We evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of the relevant controls for IFRS 9
including:
e Model development, validation and approval
# Review and approval of key assumptions,
judgements and forward-looking assumptions
prior to being incorporated in the expected
credit loss models;
e Review and approval of the output of expected
credit loss models and related transition
impacts.

We found that these key controls were designed,
implemented and operated effectively, and therefore we
determined that we could place reliance on these key
controls for the purposes of our andit.
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We have focused on this area because there are a
number of significant management determined
judgements including:

Determining the criteria for a significant
increase in credit risk, which impacts the
staging of the asset and the related
calculation, ie one year or lifetime expected
loss calculations.

Determining management's use of the
optional practical expedient to assess credit
risk on financial assets as low at the date of
initial application and at the reporting date
which allowed management to measure
impairtment using a 12-month expected
credit loss.

Determining the relevant inputs and
techniques included in the expected credit
loss model utilised in probability of default
{PD), loss given default (LGD) and
exposures at default (EAD) parameters.
For loans and advances, a significant
amount of historical data is built into the
PD, LGD and EAD risk parameters.

PD meodels are developed based on the
Group's specific historical default rates for
each industry classification. LGD models
are developed based on the Group’s
specific historical loss rate for the given
exposure. For EAD, the Group evaluated
both term loans and revolving loans. Term
loans were evaluated based on the
borrower’s contractual terms over the
forecast period. For revolving loans,

‘'specifically credit cards and overdrafts, the

Group estimated the average utilization of
limits at the point of default; and

Use of multiple economic scenarios that
are forward looking.

Valuation of real estate property pledged as
collateral for term loans: this is the most
significant repayment source for credit-
impaired assets (stage 3).

We evaluated the appropriateness of the Group's staging
and where applicable, determined whether the
significant increase in eredit risk and default definitions
were appropriately applied.

We obtained an understanding of management's ECL
madel including source data, evaluated the theoretical
soundness and tested the mathematical integrity of the
model. We tested reliability of source data used in the
models on a sample basis by corroborating to historical
data or external public information where available.

We tested the completeness of debt securities, loans and
advances and off-balance sheet exposures to determine
whether all financial instruments were included in the
ECL calculation.

‘We evaluated the appropriateness of management’s
judgement pertaining to forward looking information,
the basis of the multiple economic scenarios used and
the weighting applied to capture nonlinear losses.

We tested the opening equity adjustments in relation to
the adoption of the new standard’s classification and
measurement requirements.

Debt Securities:

Where management has applied practical expedients
calculations in accordance with the standard, we tested
the Group’s application of the low credit risk
simplification at reporting date by using rating agencies
definition of investment grade and evaluated the
appropriateness of the Group classifying all debt
securities as stage 2.

We reperformed, on a sample basis, certain model
calculations to confirm the risk parameter outputs,
including PD, LGD and EAD, We have compared the
PD and LGD associated with credit ratings that are
published by rating agencies.
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The impact of adopting the new standard resulted in
a reduction in opening retained earnings of $205.9
million.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's on-balance
sheet grass loans and advances totalled $26.3
billion. Off-balance sheet exposures which include
undrawn commitments such as credit cards,
overdrafis and loan commitments amounted to
$539.1 million, The Group’s debt securities,
measured at amortised cost and fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) totalled $37.1
billion, Overall, the total of the above exposures
represent 47% of total assets. The resultant
impairment recorded under the ECL amounted to
$943.5 million for loans and advances, including off
balance sheet items and $293.0 million for debt
securities.

Loans and advances, including the off-balance
sheet exposures:

We reperformed the calculation of days past due, a key
data input into the PD parameter, in the Group’s
banking system on a sample basis.

We tested the completeness and accuracy of the three
year historical data used by agreeing details on default
rates and recovery rates. In addition, for credit cards
and overdraft facilities, we tested the completeness and
accuracy of utilisation rates at the point of default. The
data used for these assessments were based on the
Group’s internal default experience segmented by
product type, For a sample of credit exposures, we
agreed the critical data fields, such as origination date,
maturity date, default date, principal, collateral value
and cash recoveries and exposure limits, used in
developing default, recovery and utilisation rates to
source documents.

For a sample of stage 3 loans we obtained an
understanding of the latest developments at the
borrowers and the basis of measuring the impairment
provisions and considered whether key judgments were
appropriate given the borrowers’ circumstances, We re-
performed management’s impairment calculation. We
tested key inputs to the impairment calculation
including the expected future cash flows and valuation
of collateral held, and determined reasonableness of the
valuation of real estate collateral with the assistance of
our auditors’ expert.

Based on the procedures described above, no material
exceptions were noted in our assessment of the Group's
implementation of IFRS g, including its provisioning in
accordance with its newly adopted expected credit loss
model.
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Goodwill impairment for the United States of
America (USA) operations (Group)

Refer to notes 2(g), 4(i) and 11 of the consolidated
and stand-alone financial statements for
disclosures of related accounting policies,
Judgments, estimates and balances.

The total carrying value of goodwill is $1.4 billion of
which $948 million relates to the USA operations.

The assessment of the carrying value of goodwill
involves judgement in relation to forecasting future
cash flows with key inputs being weighted average
cost of capital, growth and discount rates.

Management’s focus on logistics and warehousing
efficiencies continued in the current year while
introducing new products and concentrating on
improving the market penetration of existing
products. The USA operations continue to receive
working capital assistance from the parent company
and as such, it remains an area of focus.

We tested management’s assumptions used in their
impairment testing model for goodwill, including the
future cash flow projections, discount rates and growth
rates applied. The following procedures were
performed:

‘We obtained management’s discounted cash flow model
{DCF) including qualitative and quantitative analyses
and obtained an understanding of the process used by
management to determine the fair value of the reporting
unit.

We were assisted by our valuation experts to review the
appropriateness of the assumptions and methodology
used in the DCF,

‘We tested the mathematical accuracy of the underlying
calculations included in the DCF model.

‘We agreed 31 December 2018 base year financial
information included in the prior year’s forecast to the
audited results and compared the current period base
year information to the audited results to evaluate
management’s ability to accurately forecast financial
information,

We assessed management's key assumptions by
comparing them to historical results and economic and
industry data where available.

We performed independent recalculation of the carrying
value and performed sensitivity analysis by looking at
changes in management's revenue growth rate
assumptions.

We considered subsequent events and their impact on
the entity's cash flows and forecasts.

We found the assumptions to be consistent and in line
with our expectations.
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Valuation of pension scheme assets and other
post-employment obligations (Group and
Company)

Refer to notes 2(m), 4(iii) and 14 of the consolidated
and stand-alone financial statements for
disclosures of related accounting policies,
Jjudgments and estimate and balances.

The Group has defined benefit pension plans with
pension plan assets and other post-employment
obligations which are significant in the context of
the overall statement of financial position of the
Group and Company. Pension plan assets amounted
to $3.3 billion for both Group and Company and
other post-employment obligations amounted to
$6.1 billion and $2.9 billion for Group and Company
respectively.

We focused on this area as the valuation of the
pension liabilities requires significant levels of
judgement and technical expertise in choosing
appropriate assumptions. A number of the key
assumptions can have a material impact on the
calculation of the liability including;

s salary increases

e inflation

e discount rates and:
e  mortality rates

The pension assets include significant pension asset
investments, the fair value measurement of which
includes some judgement.

Management uses external actuaries to assist in
determining these assumnptions and in valuing the
net pension assets and other post-employment
obligations.

‘We performed the following procedures on the
valuations of net pension plan assets and other post-
employment obligations as follows:

‘We reviewed the audit work papers of the auditors of
the pension scheme in relation to work on the fair
valuation of pension assets.

‘We evaluated management’s assumptions made in
relation to the valuations of the net pension assets and
other-post employment obligations and the
assumptions around salary increases and mortality rates
by comparing them to national and industry averages.

We agreed the discount and inflation rates used in the
valuation of the other post-employment obligations to
those issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of Jamaica and targets set by the Bank of Jamaica.

We tested the completeness and accuracy of data
extracted and supplied to the Group’s actuary, which is
used to calculate the pension scheme surplus or deficit.

We engaged our actuarial specialist and liaised with
management and their actuary to understand and
review the judgements made in determining key
economic assumptions used in the calculation of the
liability.

Based on the audit evidence obtained, we determined
that the available audit evidence supported the data and
assumptions used by management in the actuarial
valuations and determination of the fair value of the
scheme assets.
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Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Annual Report
(but does not include the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon), which is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements does not cover the other
information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materiaily inconsistent with the consolidated and stand-alone financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
consolidated and stand-alone financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and with the requirements of the Jamaican
Companies Act, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated and stand-alone financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, management is responsible for
assessing the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group and Company’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial
statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and stand-alone
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated and stand-alone financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and stand-alone financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group and Company’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group or Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group or Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and stand-alone financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and stand-alone financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Repoi‘t on other legal and reguld%ory requirements
As required by the Jamaican Companies Act, we have obtained all the information and explanations
which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept, so far as appears from our examination of those
records, and the accompanying consolidated and stand-alore financial statements are in agreement
therewith and give the information required by the Jamaican Companies Act, in the manner so required,

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Peter Williams.

Chartered Accountants
1 March 2019
Kingston, Jamaica
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GraceKennedy Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

31 December 2018

{expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2018 2017
Note $'000 $'000
Assels
Cash and deposits 5 14,824,799 12,084,245
Investment securities 6 28,261,306 31,853,026
Pledged assels 6 9,931,362 4,927,305
Receivables 7 15,226,423 15,848,567
Inventories 8 12,784,061 11,253,140
Loans receivable 9 26,469,557 27,548,329
Taxalion recoverable 764,826 798,690
Investmenls in associates and joint ventures 10 2,964,841 1,796,220
Invesiment properties a7 628,000 618,000
Intangible assets 1" 4,128,043 4,398,127
Fixed assets 12 14,300,969 11,715,661
Deferred tax assels 13 1,410,080 836,477
Pension plan asset 14 3,269,925 6,308,843
Assets classified as held for sale 12 271,208 -
Total Assets 135,235,400 129,988,640
Liabliities
Deposits 34,371,026 33,530,523
Securities sold under agreements lo repurchase 7,208,337 3,792,720
Bank and other loans 15 16,529,313 16,515,615
Payables 16 23,201,686 22,210,889
Taxation 464,890 427,486
Deferred tax liabilities 13 687,069 1,369,294
Other post-employment obligations 14 6,083,687 5,129,990
Total Liabilities 80,546,008 82,976,527
Equity
Capital and reserves attributable to the company's owners
Share capital 17 490,354 540,951
Capital and fair value reserves 18 6,346,838 6,089,245
Retained eamings 32,306,560 32,120,056
Banking raserves 19 3,118,867 3,044,111
Other reserves 20 2,351,808 3,428,449
44,614,427 45,222,812
Non-Controlling interests 21 2,074,965 1,789,301
Total Equity 46,689,392 47,012,113
Total Equity and Liabilities 135,235,400 129,988,640

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 1 March 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

)

/

- ﬁ,ww-]_ ’@ Q S epi \q;éhtw;omcer

Gordon Shirley - i éhalrman Donald Wehby l Group Chief
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GraceKennedy Limited

Consolidated Income Statement

Year ended 31 December 2018

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2018 2017
Note $'000 $'000
Revenue from products and services 93,522,584 88,222,714
Interest revenue 4,022,147 4,252,938
Revenues 23 97,544,731 92,475,652
Direct and operating expenses (93,915,850} (88,578,375)
Net impairment losses on financial assets (484,367} (366,048)
Expenses 24  (94,404,217) {88,944,423)
3,140,514 3,531,229
Other income 25 3,486,010 2,088,006
Profit from Operations 6,626,524 5,619,235
Interest income — non-financial services 427,501 378,212
Interest expense — non-financial services (581.873) (662,857)
Share of resulls of associates and joint ventures 10 490,873 484,972
Profit before Taxation 6,963,025 5,819,562
Taxation 27 {1.319,448) {1,047,462)
NET PRCFIT 5,643,577 4,772,100
Attributable to:
Owners of GraceKennedy Limited 28 5,005,915 4,116,101
Non-Controlling interests 21 637,662 655,999
5,643,577 4,772,100
$ $
Earnings per Stock Unit for profit attributable to the owners of the company during the year: 30
Basic 5.05 4,15

Diluted 5.04 4.14




GraceKennedy Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2018

{expressed in Jamaican dallars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 3

2018 2017
Note $'000 $'000
Profit for the year 5,643,577 4,772,100
Other comprehensive income:
{tems that will not be reclassified lo profit or loss:
Gains on revaluation of land and buildings 684,638 23,027
Changes in fair value of equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 103,601 -
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations (2.734,637) 58,934
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures 30,249 3,436
{1,916,149) 85,397
Hems that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:
Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,180,883) (201,407)
Changes in fair value of debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensiva income (279,949) -
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial assels - 250,677
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures 15,373 (22,903)
(1,445,459) 26,367
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax {3.361,608) 111,764
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,281,969 4,883,864
Attributable to:
Owners of GraceKennedy Limiled 1,639,972 4,248,634
MNon-Controlling interests 21 641,997 635,230
2,281,969 4,883,864




GraceKennedy Limited
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 December 2018

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 4

Non-
Controlling Total
Attributable to owners of the parent Interest Equlty
Number Capital and
of Stock Share  Fair Value Retained Banking Other
Units Capital Reserves Earnings Reserves Reserves
Note ‘000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 5000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 January 2017 992,379 534,249 5,805,054 29,333,152 2,772,209 3,619,261 1,474,683 43,536,608
Profit for the year - - - 4,118,101 - - 655,999 4,772,100
Other comprehensive income for
the year - - 274,508 67,509 - (209,482) {20,769) 111,764
Tolal comprehensive income for
2017 - - 274,508 4,183,610 - {209,482) 635,230 4,883,864
Transactions with owners:
Sale of treasury shares 17 (@) 122 5,027 - - - - - 5,027
Purchase of lreasury shares 17 (a) (736) (29,592) - - - - - {29,592)
Share-based payments:
Value of services received 170 - - - - - 56,337 623 58,960
Transfer of treasury shares to
employees 17 (a) 889 31,287 6,400 - - {37.667) - -
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to
non-controlling interests 21 - - - - - - (321,235) {321,235)
Dividends paid 29 - - - {1,121,519) - - - {1,121,519)
Tolal lransactions with owners 275 6,702 6,400  (1.121,519) - 18,670 (320,612}  (1,410,359)
Transfers between reserves:
To capital reserves - - 3,285 {3,285) - - - -
To banking reserves - - - (271,902) 271,902 - - -
Balance at 31 Dacember 2017
as originally presented 092,654 540,951 6,080,245 32,120,056 3,044,111 3,428,449 1,788,301 47,012,113
Effect of adopting new standards 40 - - (605,449) {349,191) - - (3,488) (958,128)
Restated balance at 1 January
2018 092,654 540,951 5,483,796 31,770,865 3,044,111 3,428,449 1,785,813 46,053,985
Profit for the year - - - 5,005,915 . - 637,662 5,643,577
Qlher comprehensive income for
the year - - 546,520  (2,740.,461) - {1,172,002) 4,335 {3,361,608)
Total comprehensive income for
2018 - - 546,520 2,265,454 - {1,172,002) 641,897 2,281,969
Transactions with owners:
Purchase of lreasury shares 17 {a) (950) {57.171) - - - - - {57,171)
Share-based payments:
Value of services received 17 () - - - - - 103,237 1,169 104,406
Transfer of treasury shares lo
employees 17 (a) 161 8,574 1,302 - - {7.876) - -
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to
non-controlling interesls 21 - - - - - - {354,014} {354,014)
Dividends paid 29 - - - {1,339,783) - - - {1,339,783)
Total transactions with owners (789) (50,597} 1,302 {1,339,783) - 05,361 (352,845)  (1,646,562)
Transfers between reserves:
To capital reserves - - 315,220 {315,220) - - - -
To banking reserves - - - (74,756) 74,756 - - -
Balance at 31 December 2018 991,865 490,354 6,346,838  32,306.560 3,118,867 2,351,808 2,074,965 46,689,392
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2018 2017
Note $'000 $'000
SOURCES/KUSES) OF CASH:
Operating Activities 3 9,444,736 {493,760)
Financing Activities
Loans received 7.612,456 5,284,480
Loans repaid {7.558.,098) (2,568,620)
Dividends paid by subsidiary to non-controlling interests 21 {354,014) (321,235)
Purchase of ireasury shares 17 {(57.171) (29,592)
Sale of treasury shares 17 - 5,027
Interest paid — non financial services {583,910) (674,091)
Dividends 29 (1,339,783) (1,121,519)
(2,280,520) 574,450
Investing Activitles
Additions to fixed asselts' 12 (3,118,484) (2,639,331)
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 112,479 65,518
Addilions to investments {B,775,656) (8,087,043)
Cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary K} - {641,970)
Cash outflow on purchase of interest in associates and joint ventures (971,505} -
Proceeds from sale of investments 8,377,691 10,265,348
Net proceeds from disposal of associated company - 55,506
Additions to intangibles 1" (350,751} {334,599)
Interest received — non financial services 422,630 378,809
(4,303,596} (936,762)
Increase/{decrease} in cash and cash equivalents 2,860,620 {856,072)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 9,402,295 10,310,801
Exchange and translation gains/{losses) on net foreign cash balances 15,283 (52,434)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 5 12,278,198 9,402,295

The principal non-cash transactions include:

9 Acquisition of fixed assets under finance lease of $23,140,000 (2017: $32,647,000), (Note 12).
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GraceKennedy Limited

Company Statement of Financiai Position

31 December 2018

{expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2018 2017
Note $'000 $'000
Assels
Cash and deposits 5 3,960,885 1,944 451
Investmen! securities 6 5,747,482 6,513,598
Receivables 7 1,954,015 1,434,445
Inventories 8 3,018,851 2,521,134
Loans receivable 9 1,434,966 3,359,306
Subsidiaries 34 1,867,140 1,063,372
Taxation recoverahle 256,752 231,869
Investments in associates 10 574,698 49,698
Investments in subsidiaries 17.544,008 15,756,643
Intangible assets 1 293,246 222,025
Fixed assels 12 296,473 299,359
Deferred tax assets 13 93,516 -
Pension plan asset 14 3,269,925 6,308,843
Total Assets 40,312,057 39,704,843
Liabllities
Bank and other loans 15 6,114,341 4,053,268
Payables 16 3,558,128 2,544 670
Subsidiaries 34 3,027,509 3,403,955
Deferred tax liabilities 13 - 882,998
Other post-employment obligations 14 2,900,502 2,443,443
Total Liabilities 15,600,481 13,328,334
Equity
Share capital 17 490,354 540,951
Capital and fair value reserves 18 177,510 404,977
Retained earnings 23,912,964 25,365,279
Other reserves 20 130,728 65,302
Total Equity 24,711,576 26,376,509
Total Equity and Liabilitles 40,312,057 39,704,843

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 1 March 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

W AV NS e,

Gordon Shirley /f Chaiman Donald Wehby / Group Ehief‘:‘xaculive Officer
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2018 2017
Note $'000 $'000
Revenue 23 18,957,924 17,623,999
Cost of goods sold {14,988,530) {13,746,257)
Gross Profit 3,969,394 3,877,742
Other income 25 5,599,297 4,618,770
Administration expenses (7.278,188) (7,098,335)
Net impairment [osses on financial assels {25.870) {17,588)
Profit from Operations 2,264,633 1,380,589
Interest income 504,893 541,547
Interest expense {333,757) (342,156)
Profit before Taxation 2,435,769 1,579,980
Taxation 27 11,048 154,744
NET PROFIT 28 2,446,817 1,734,724
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Company Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2018
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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2018 2m7
$°000 $'000
Profit for the year 2,446,817 1,734,724
Other comprehensive income:
fterns that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Gains on revaluation of land and buildings 4,799 -
Changes in fair value of equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (5.199) -
Remeasuraments of post-employment benefit obligations {2.516,081) 166,639
(2,516,481) 166,639
items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:
Changes in fair value of avallable-for-sale financial assels - 42,279
- 42,279
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax {2,516,481) 208,918
Total comprehensive income for the year {69,664) 1,943,642

items in the statement above are disclosed net of tax. The income tax refating to each component of other comprehensive income is disclosed in

Note 27.
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GraceKennedy Limited

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2018
{expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Number Capital and
of Stock Share  Fair Value Retained Other
Units Capital Reserves Earnings Reserves Total
Note ‘000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 January 2017 992,379 534,249 356,298 24,585,435 66,371 25,544,353
Profit for the year - - - 1,734,724 - 1,734,724
Other comprehensive income for the year . & 42,279 166,639 - 208,918
Total comprehensive income for 2017 - - 42,279 1,901,363 - 1,943,642
Transactions with owners:
Sale of treasury shares 17 (a) 122 5,027 - - - §,027
Purchase of freasury shares 17 (a) (736)  (29,592) - - - (29,592)
Share-based payments:
Value of services received 20 - - - - 34,598 34,598
Transfer of treasury shares to employees 17 {a) 889 31,267 6,400 - (37.667) -
Dividends paid 29 - - - (1,121,519) - {1,121,519)
Total transactions with owners 275 6,702 6,400 (1,121,519) {3,069) {1,111,486)
Transfers between reserves:
s:’;:::fada‘ SRR EC L IR S A G 092,654 540951 404,977 25365279 65302 26,376,509
Effect of adopting new standards 40 - - (228,369) (43,248) - (271,617)
Restated balance at 1 January 2018 992,654 540,951 176,608 25,322,031 65,302 26,104,892
Profit for the year - - - 2,446,817 - 2,446,817
Other comprehensive income for the year - - {400) (2,516,081) - {2,516,481)
Tolal comprehensive income for 2018 - - {400) (69,264) - (69,664)
Transaclions with owners:
Purchase of treasury shares 17 (a) (950) (57.171) - - - {57.171)
Share-based payments:
Value of services received 20 - - - - 73,302 73,302
Transfer of treasury shares to employees 17 {a) 161 6,574 1,302 - {7,876) -
Dividends paid 29 - - - {1,339,783) - (1,339,783)
Total lransactions wilh owners {789}  (50,597) 1,302 (1,339,783} 65,426  (1,323,652)

Balance at 31 December 2018 951,865 490,354 177,510 23,912,984 130,728 24,711,576




GraceKennedy Limited
Company Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2018

{expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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2018 2017
Note $'000 $'000
SOURCES/(USES) OF CASH:
Operating Activities K] 1,410,227 1,979,304
Financing Activities
Loans received 3,061,883 1,805,086
Loans repaid (2,629,854) (1,108,119)
Purchase of treasury shares 17 (57.171) (29,592}
Sale of treasury shares 17 - 5,027
Interest paid (322,047) (348,989)
Dividends 29 (1,339,783) {1,121,519)
{1.286,972) {798,106)
tnvesting Activities
Additions to fixed assets 12 {64,806) (90,808)
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assels 5,051 20,630
Additions to investments {1,257,860) (1,138,110)
Loans receivable, net 1,924,340 (184,123)
Proceeds from sale of investments 1,749,106 1,305,128
Investment in subsidiary (1,787,365) (1,108,170)
Investment in associated company (525,000) -
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary - 10,597
Additions lo intangibles 11 (141,539) (155,400)
Interest received 500,021 543,143
401,947 {797.113)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 525,202 384,085
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,913,626 1,546,002
Exchange and translalion gains/{losses) on net foreign cash balances 766 (16,4861)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 5 2,439,594 1,013,626
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GraceKennedy Limited

Notes fo the Financial Statements

31 December 2018

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1.

ldentification

GraceKennedy Limited (the company) is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica. The registered office of the
company is located at 73 Harbour Street, Kingston, Jamaica.

The company is a publicly listed company having its primary listing on the Jamaica Stock Exchange, with further listing on the Trinidad and
Tobago Stock Exchange.

The Group is organised into two divisions namely, GK Foods and GK Financial Group. The GK Foods division comprises all the food related
companies while the GK Financial Group division comprises all the financial services companies in the Group. For the purpose of segment
reporting the Group reports its results under the four segments described below.

‘The principal activities of lne company, its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures (the Group} are as follows:

Food Trading -
Merchandising of general goods and food products, both locally and inlemationally; processing and distrbution of food products; and

the operalion of a chain of supemmarkets.

Banking and Investments -
Commercial banking; stock brokerage; corporate finance; advisory services; and lease financing.

Insurance -
General insurance and insurance brokerage.

Money Services -
Operation of money lransfer services, cambio operations and bill payment services.

Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied for all the years presented, uniess otherwise slated.

(3) Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and
have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of certain fixed and financial assets, investment

properties and financial liabilities.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of cerlain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounling policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimales are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note
4,

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in the current year

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that became effective during the
current financial year. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new standards, amendments and inlerpretations and has put
into effect the following, which are immediately relevant io ils operalions.

+ IFRS 8, ‘Financial instruments’ {effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). This standard replaces the
guidance in |AS 39. It includes requirements on the classificalion and measurement of financial assets and liabililies; it also includes
an expected credit losses model that replaces the current incurred loss impairment model.

IFRS @ has three classification categories for debt instruments: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income
('FVOCI') and fair value through prolit or loss ("FVPL"). Classification under IFRS 9 for debt instruments is based on the enlity's
business model for managing the financial assets and whether the centractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest {'SPPI"). An enlity’s business model is how an entity manages ils financial assets in order to generate cash flows and
creale value for the enlity. That Is, an enfity's business model determines whether the cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both.

If a debt instrument is held to collect contractual cash flows, itis classified as amortised cost if it also meets the SPPI requirement. Debt
instruments that meet the SPP! requirement that are held both to collect assets' contractual cash flows and to sell the assets are
classified as FVOCI. Under the new model, FVPL is |he residual category -financial assels should therefore be classified as FVPL if
they do not meel the aiteria of FVOC! or amortised cost.
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GraceKennedy Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2018
{expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2,

Significant Accounting Policles (Centinued)

(a)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in the current year (continued)

IFRS 9 (continued)

IFRS 9introduces a new madel for the recognition of impairment losses - the expected credit losses (ECL) model. The ECL mode!
constitutes a change from the guidance in IAS 39 and seeks to address the crilicisms of the incurred loss model which arose during
the economic crisis. In practice, the new rules mean Ihat enfilies will have to record a day 1 loss equal to the 12-month ECL on
initial recognition of financial assets that are not credit impaired (or lifetime ECL for lrade receivables). IFRS 9 contains a 'three
stage’ approach which is based on the change in credit quality of financial assets since initial recognition. Assets move through the
three stages as credit quality changes and the stages diclate how an enlity measures impairment losses and applies the effective
interest rate method. Where there has been a significant increase in credit risk, impaiment is measured using lifetime ECL rather
than 12-month ECL. The model includes operational simplifications for lease and trade receivables.

The adoplion of IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018 resulted in changss in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised
in the finandial statements. In accordance with the transitional provisions in IFRS 9 [7.2.15], comparative figures have nol been
restated. Detalls of the new accounting policy in relation to IFRS 9 are outlined in Note 2 (h) and the impact on the financial
statements on adoption of the new standard is disclosed in Note 40.

IFRS 15, ‘Ravenue from contracts with customers' {effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The standard
replaces IAS 18 'Revenue’ and IAS 11 ‘Construclion contracts’ and related interpretations. IFRS 15 deals with revenue recognition
and establishes principles for reporiing useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity's contracts with customers. Revenue Is recognised when a customer
oblains conlrol of a good or service and thus has the ability to direct the use and abtain the benefits from the good or service; so
the notion of control replaces the existing notion of risks and rewards.

A key change to cumrent praclice is the point at which revenue is able to be recagnised, which may shift so that some revenue that
is currently recognised at a point in lime at the end of a cantract may have lo be recognised over the contracl term and vice versa.
Other effects of the new standard include variable consideration that involve contracts with customers which provide a right of
return, trade discounts or valume rebates which in some cases result in more revenue being deferred. The lreatment of customer
loyalty programmes is also affected.

The adoption of IFRS15 from 1 January 2018 resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjusiments to the amounis recagnised
in the financial statements. In accordance with the transitional provisions in IFRS 15 [C3(b)), comparative figures have not been
restated. Details of the new accounting policy in relation to IFRS 15 are outlined in Note 2 (2) and the impact on the financial
statements on adoption of the new standard is disclosed in Note 40.

Amendments ta IFRS 2, ‘Share-based Paymenl’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The
amendment addresses the accounting for cash-settled, share-based paymenis and equity-settled awards that include a ‘net
settlement’ faature in respect of withholding taxes. The amendment darifies the measurement basis for cash-settled, share-based
payments and the accounting for modifications that change an award from cash-settled to equity-settled. It also introduces an
exceplion to the principles in IFRS 2 that will require an award to be treated as if it was whally equity-setiled, where an employer is
obliged to withhold an amount for the employee's tax obligation associated with a share-based payment and pay that amount to
the tax authority. The Group has adopted this treatment for its equity compensation employee benefits.

Amendment to IAS 40, ‘Investment property’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). These
amendments clarify thal to transfer to, or from investment properties, there must be a change in use. To conclude if a property has
changed use there should be an assessment of whether the property meets the definition. This change must be supporied by
evidence,

IFRIC 22, 'Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration’ {effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018). This IFRIC addresses foreign currency transactions or paris of transactions where there is consideration thatis denominated
or priced in a foreign currency. The inlerprelation provides guidance for when a single payment/receipl is made as well as for
situations where multiple payments/receipts are made. There was no impact from the adoption of this amendment.

Amendments to IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). This amendment
addresses the concemns of insurance companies about the different effective dates of IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments', and the
forthcoming new insurance contracts standard. The amendment to IFRS 4 provides two different solutions for insurance companies:
a temporary exemption from IFRS 9 for enlities that meet specific requirements (applied at the reporting entity level), and the
‘ovarlay approach’. Both approaches are optional. IFRS 4 (including the amendments that have now been issued) will be
superseded by the forthcoming new insurance contracts standard. Accordingly, both the temporary exemption and the ‘overlay
approach’ are expecied {o cease to be applicable when the new insurance standard becomes effective. This amendment did nol
have an impact on the Group.
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2.

Significant Accounting Policies {Continued)

(@

Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in the current year (continued)

Annual improvements to IFRSs 2014 - 2016 cycles. The amendment io |AS 28,'Invesiments in associales and joint ventures’
{effeclive for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) clarifies that the election by venture capital organisations, mutual
funds, unit trusts and similar entities to measure investments in associates or joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss should
be made separately for each associate or joint venture at initial recognition. The Group will apply this amendment where applicable
to future transactions.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted
by the Group

At the date of authorisation of thase financial statements a number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for
annual periods beginning afler 1 January 2018, and have nol been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. None
of these is expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group, except the following set out
below:

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ (effeclive for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). This standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases. It replaces the guidance in 1AS 17, which made & distinction in
classification between leases that transfer substantiafly all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
(finance leases) and those thal do not {operating leases). For a lessee, finance leases were recognised as an asset that was
depreciated over the lease term and the amourt due to the lessor recognised as borrowings. While operaling leases were
recognised as a periodic rental payment that was treated as a current expense in the income statement.

IFRS 16 introduces a single lease accounting model for lessees. It requires lessees to recognise a lease liability reflecting future
lease payments and a “right-of-use asset” for virtually all lease contracts. The standard includes an optional exemption for certain
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same.

The Group has been in the process of reviawing alt of ils leasing arrangements over the last year. A commillee with representation
from a number of functional areas and led by the Group's Finance Unit was crealed to oversee the implementation project. The
project involves three main phases:

- Phase 1: Impact assessment to determine the key potential areas of impact and to develop a plan to address these poinls
throughout the project;

- Phase 2: Conversion assessment to focus on key areas of impact identified in the first phase and quantification of the required
changes to the financial stalements; and scenario modefling, which includes modelling the impact of IFRS 16 on the financial
statemenis of the Group including assessing the impact on ratios.

- Phase 3; Embedding - This includes integration of the new accounting standard info the existing reporting structure, including
medifications to processes and systems as required, staff training, converting and validating data, and drafting disclosures for the
financial statemenis.

The Group has subslantially completed Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the project. Based on these phases of the implementation project,
the main areas of impact include a significant increase in the overall value of assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of
financial position and affect related ratios, such as debt/equity ratios. Based on the size and number of Jease contracts previously
classified as operaling leases under IAS 17, the new approach will resull in a significant increase in debt on the statement of
financial position.

In addition, an interest expense on the lease liability and depreciation on the right-of-use asset will be presented in the income
statement. In comparison with operaling leases under IAS 17, this will change not only the allocation of expenses but also the total
amount of expenses recognised for each period of the lease term. The combination of a slraight line depreciation of the right-of
use asset and the effective interest rate method applied to the lease liability will result in a higher total charge to profit or loss in the
initial years of the lease, and decreasing expenses during the jatter part of the lease term.

The Group intends to apply the simplified transition approach that allows the measurement of the right-of-use assels at the amount
of the lease liability on adoption (adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease expenses), rather than full retrospective application. In
addition, as a practical expedient, the Group is not required to reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at the date of
initial application (that is, such contracts are ‘grandfathered’). As further provided under this approach, comparatives for 2018 will
not be restated.
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2

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(a)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations lo existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted
by the Group (continued)

*

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’ {effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021). This standard was issued as
replacement for IFRS 4 ‘Insurance contracls’ and requires a current measurement model where estimates are re-measured each
reporiing period. The standard allows a choice between recognising changes in discount rates either in the income slatement or
directly in other comprehensive income. An optional, simplified premium allocation approach is permilted for the liability for the
remaining coverage for short duration contracts. The Group is currenlly assessing the impact of this standard.

Amendment to IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments on prepayment features with negative compensation’ (effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019). This amendment confirms that when a financial liabitity measured at amortised cost is
modified without this resulting in de-recognition, a gain or loss should be recognised immediately in profit or loss. The gain or loss
is calculated as the difference between the original contractual cash flows and the modified cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate. The Group is currently assessing the impact of this amendment.

Amendments to IAS 28, 'Investments in associates and joint ventures’ {effective for annual periods beginning on ar after 1 January
2019). These amendments clarify that companies account for long term interests in an associate or joint venture to which the equity
method is not applied using IFRS 9. The Group currently applies the equity method fo its associates and joint ventures.

IFRIC 23,'Uncertainty over income tax treatmenis’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). This IFRIC
clarifies how the recognition and measurement requirements of IAS 12 ‘Income taxes’ are applied where there is uncertainty over
income tax treatments. An unceriain tax treatment is any tax treaiment applied by an entity where there is uncertainty over whether
the treatment will be accepted by the tax autharity. The Group is currently assessing the impact of this interpretation.

There are no other IFRS or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on the
Group.
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2,

Significant Accounting Policles (Continued)

(b)

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all enlities {including struclured entities) over which the Group has the power to govem the financial and operating
policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voling rights. The existence and effect of potential voling
rights that are currenlly exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another enlity. The
Group also assesses exislence of control where it does not have more than 50% of the voting power but is able to govern the financial
and operating policies by virtue of de-facto control. De-facto conlrol may arise in circumstances where the size of the Group's voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of other shareholders give the Group the power to govem the financial and operating
policies, ete.

Subsidiaries are fully consalidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition methad to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
considaration arangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an
acquisilion-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlliing interest's proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of acquiree’s idenlifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combinalion is achieved in stages, the acquisilion date carrying value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured (o fair value al the acquisition date through profit or loss. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the Group Is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideralion that
is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with 1AS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change lo other
comprehensive income. Conlingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and ils subsequent sellement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisilion-date fair value of any previous equity interest over the fair value of the nel idenlifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideralion is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the
difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on fransactions between group companies are eliminated. Profits and
losses resulting from inter-company transactions that are recognised in assets are also eliminaled. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions — that is, as
transactions with the owners in their capacily as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant
share acquired of the camrying value of nel assels of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals fo non-controlling
interests are alsc recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is re-measured lo its fair value at the dale when conlrol is
lost, with the change In carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value Is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial assel. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that enlity are accounted for as if the Group had direclly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previcusly recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss.



GraceKennedy Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2018

(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 16

2.  Significant Accounting Pcalicies (Continued)

(b} Basis of consalidation {continued)
Proportion Proportion
of ordinary of ordinary
shares Proportion shares
Country of held by the of ordinary held by
incorporation parent shares non-
and placa of company heldbythe controlling
Entity business Nature of business % Group % Interests %
Consumer Brands Limited Jamaica General goods 100 100 -
distributor
GK Investments Limited and its subsidiary - Jamaica Lease financing 100 100 -
Greenfield Media Productions Limited Jamaica Media rights holder - 55 45
GraceKennedy Financial Group Limited and its
subsidiaries — Jamaica Holding company 100 100 -
Allied Insurance Brokers Limited Jamaica Insurance brokerage - 100 -
GK General Insurance Company Limited Jamaica General Insurance - 100 -
GraceKennedy Money Services Caribbean SRL Barbados Holding company - 75 25
and its subsidiary —
GraceKennedy Remittance Services Limited and Jamaica Money services - 75 25
its subsidiaries —
Grace Kennedy Cumency Trading Services Jamaica Money services - 75 25
Limited
GraceKennedy Payment Services Limiled Jamaica Money services - 75 25
GraceKennedy Money Services (Anguilla) Anguilla Money services - 75 25
Limited
GraceKennedy Money Services (Antigua & Antigua & Money services - 75 25
Barbuda) Limited Barbuda
GraceKennedy Money Services (Bahamas) Bahamas Monay services - 75 25
Limited
GraceKennedy Money Services (Monisemat) Montserrat  Money services - 75 25
Limited
GraceKennedy Money Services (St. Kilts & St. Kitts & Money services - 75 25
Nevis) Limited Nevis
St. Vincent Money services - 75 25
GraceKennedy Money Services (St. Vincent and the
and the Grenadines) Limited Grenadines
GraceKennedy Money Services (BVI) Limited British Virgin  Money services - 75 25
Isfands
GraceKennedy Money Services (Cayman) Cayman Money services - 75 25
Limited Islands
Turks & Money services - 75 25
GraceKennedy Money Services (Turks & Caicos
Caicos Islands) Limited Islands
Grace, Kennedy Remiltance Services (Guyana) Guyana Money services - 75 25
Limited
GraceKennedy (Trinidad & Tobago) Limited Trinidad and  Money services - 75 25
Tobago
GK Insurance (Eastern Caribbean) Limited
{formery EC Global Insurance Company Limited) St. Lucia General Insurance - 893 10.7
GK Insurance Brokers Limited Turks & Caicos  Insurance brokerage - 100 -
Knutsford Re Turks & Caicos  Insurance - 100 -
First Global Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries — Jamaica Holding company 25 100 -
First Global Bank Limited Jamaica Banking - 100 -
GK Capital Management Limiled Jamaica Invesiment manager - 100 -
GraceKennedy Properties Limited Jamaica Property rental - 100 -
Grace Foods International Limited Jamaica Domant 100 100 -
GK Foods & Services Limited Jamaica Food trading 100 100 -
International Communications Limited Jamaica Dormant 100 100 -
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Significant Accounting Policles (Continued)

(b} Basis of consolidation (continued)

Proportien Proportion
of ordinary of ordinary
shares Proportion shares
Country of held by the  of ordinary held by
incorporation parent shares non-
and place of company held bythe controlling
Entity business Nature of business % Group % interests %
Grace Foods Limited St. Lucia Brand owner 100 100 -
GraceKennedy (Belize} Limited Belize Food trading 100 100 -
Grace Foods Canada Inc. (formerly GraceKennedy

(Ontario) Inc.} Canada Food trading 100 100 -
Grace Kennedy (Guyana) Limited Guyana Dormant 100 100 -
Grace Kennedy (USA) Inc. and its subsidiary — USA Food trading 100 100 -
Grace Foods (USA) Inc. and its subsidiary — USA Foed trading - 100 -
GraceKennedy Foods (USA) LLC USA Food trading - 100 -
GraceKennedy (St. Lucia) Limited and its subsidiary St Lucia Holding company 100 100 -
United Food trading - 100 -

GK Foods (UK) Limited and its subsidiaries — Kingdom (UK)
Grace Foods UK Limited UK Food trading - 100 -
Enco Products Limited UK Food trading - 100 -
Funnybones Foodservice Limited UK Food trading - 100 -
Chadha Oriental Foods Limited UK Food trading - 100 -
GraceKennedy Ghana Limited Ghana Food frading - 100 -
GK Foods Limited Nigerfa Food trading - 100 -

The special purpose entity consolidated is the company's employee investment trust,

During the year GraceKennedy Money Services (Bahamas) Limited was capitalised. In the prior year, the Group acquired 100% of the

share capital of Consumer Brands Limited (Note 38).

The Group liquidated Graken Holdings Limited during the year and in the prior year il liquidated Grace, Kennedy Remittance Services
(Trinidad & Tobago) Limited and Horizon Shipping Limited. This resulled in a gain being realised on liquidation which is included in Other
Income within gain on disposal of investmenis (Note 25).
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Significant Accounting Policles (Continued)

(<)

{d)

{e)

Associates and Joint Venture

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Joint ventures are entities over which the Group has joint control and has rights to the net
assetls of the investment. Invastments in associales and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and
are initially recognised at cost. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost, and the camrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group's investment in associales and joint ventures
includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumutated impairment loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate or joint venture is reduced but significant influence or joint control is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.

The Graup's share of its associates’ and joint ventures’ post-acquisition profils or losses is recognised in the income statement, and
its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
againsl the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share of losses in an associate or joint veniure equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the entity.

The Group delermines at each reporting dale whether there is any objeclive evidence thal the investment in the assaciate or joint
venlure is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculales the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable
amount of the entity and its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent te 'share of rasults of associates and joint ventures’ in
the income statement.

Unrealised gains on lransactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates and joint ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure consisiency with the
palicies adopled by the Group. Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates and joint venlures are recognised in the
income statement.

In the company's statement of financial position, investment in associales and joint ventures is shown at cost.

The Group's associates and joint ventures are as follows:

Financial Nature of Nature of Group's
Reporting Country of Business Relationship Percentage
Entity Year-end Incorporation Interest
2018 2017
Catherine’s Peak Bottling Company Limiled 31 March Jamaica Food trading Associate 35.0 -
CSGK Finance Holdings Limited 31 December Barbados Banking Associate 40.0 40.0
Dairy Industries (Jamaica) Limited 31 December Jamaica Food trading Associate 50.0 50.0
GKMusson Limited 31 December Jamaica Financial Joint Venlure 50.0 -
Gray's Pepper Products Limited 31 December Jamaica Food trading Associate 333 -
Majesty Foods LIL.C 31 December USA Food trading Associate 49.0 -
Tetecommunications Alliance Limited 31 December Jamaica Dormant Associate 49.0 49.0

The results of associates and joint ventures with financial reporting year-ends that are different from the Group are determined by
prorating the results for the audiled period as well as the period covered by management accounts to ensure that a year's resuit is
accounted for where applicable.

Duting the year, the Group acquired an interest in Catherine’s Peak Botiling Company Limited, GKMusson Limited, Gray's Pepper
Products Limited and Majesty Foods LLC (Note 10).

The Group disposed of its 30% interest in Trident Insurance Company Limited in the prior year {Note 10).

Segment reporting

Operating segmenls are reported in 2 manner consislent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operaling segments,
has been identified as the Executive Committee that makes siralegic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Itemns included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the enlity operales ('the functional currency’). The consolidated financial stalements are presented in Jamaican
dollars, which ts the company's funclional and presentation currency.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued}

Transactions and balances

Foreign cumrency transaclions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in other
comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investiment hedges. Foreign exchange gains and losses that
relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the income statement in other income.

Foreign exchange gains and Josses are presented in the income statement within ‘other income’,

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available for sale are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the
security. Translation differences related to changes in the amortised cosl are recognised in the income statement, and other changes in
the carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assels and liabililies such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the
income statement as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-menetary financial assels such as equities
classified as available for sale are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group's entities {none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary econamy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(a) assels and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the dale of that statement
of financial position;

(b) income and expenses for each income statement are franslaled at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dales, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rale on the dates of the transactions); and

(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

When a foreign operalion is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in the income
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Fixed assets

All fixed assets are initially recorded at cost. Freehold land and buildings are subsequently shown at market valuation based on biennial
valuations by extemal independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation of buildings. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross camrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount. All other
fixed assets are camied at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Subsequent costs are included in the assel's camying amount or recognised as a separale assel, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The camying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Increases in carrying amounts arising on revaluation are credited to other comprehensive income and shown in capital reserves in
shareholders’ equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged in other comprehensive income and debited
against capital reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to the income statement.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis {o aflocate assets’ cosl or revalued amounts to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Freehold buildings and leasehold buildings and improvements 10 - 60 years
Plant, machinery, equipment, fumiture and fixtures 3- 10 years
Vehicles 3-5years

Land is not depreciated.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of financial position date.
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U]

(9)

Fixed assets (continued)

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately o its recoverable
amount.

Gains and losses on disposal of fixed assels are determined by reference lo their canying amount and are taken into account in
determining profit, When revalued assels are sold, the amounts included in capital and fair value reserves are transferred to retained
eamings.

Repairs and maintenance are charged (o the income statement during the financial peried in which they are incurred. The cost of major
renovations is included in the cammying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits in excess of the originally
assessed standard of performance of the existing asset will flow to the Group. Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining
useful life of the related asset.

Borowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complele
and prepare the asset for its intended use. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill is recorded at cost and represents the excess of the value of consideration paid over the Group's interest in net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and camied at cost less accumulated impaimment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are
not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an enlity include the cammying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated lo cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made lo those cash-generating
units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose,
identified according to operating segment.

Computer software
Acquired computer software licences are capilalised on the basis of costs incurred to acquire and bring lo use the specific software.
These costs are amortised over the estimated useful life of the sofiware, which ranges from 3 to 5 years.

Distribution channel agreements
Distribution channe! agreements are recorded at cost and represent the value of the consideration paid to acquire rights to distribute
beverages in specified routes. These costs are amortised over the estimated useful life of the agreements, which is 10 years.

Policy contracts
Policy conlracts are amortised over their estimated useful life which is 15 years and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
The cost of policy coniracts comprises its purchase price and professional fees directly attributed to acquiring the asset.

Brands

Brands are recorded at cost and represent the value of the cansideration paid to acquire several well established and recognised
beverage and ethnic food brands. These costs are amoriised over the estimated useful life of the brands, which ranges from 5 to 20
years.

Customer relationships

Customer relalionships are recorded at cost and represent the value of the consideration paid to acquire customer contracts and the
related customer relationships with several oullet operators and insurance clients. These cosls are amortised over the aslimated useful
life of the relationships, which is between 5 to 15 years.

Supplier relationships

Supplier relationships are recorded at cost and represent the value of the consideration paid to acquire rights to distribute consumer
products in specified locations. These cosls are amortised over the estimated useful life of the relationships, which is between 10 to 12
years.
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Significant Accounting Policles {Continued)

(h}

Financial assets
Classification
From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

- those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income {OCI), or through profit or loss)
- those to be measured at amoriised cost.

The available for sale (AFS) category under 1AS 39 is no longer applicable.
The classification depends on the business model used for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assels measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investrment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Equity instruments held for trading are
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

The Group reclassifies debt investments only when its business model for managing those assels changes.
Measurement

Debt instruments
Measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. The Group classifies ils debt instruments into three measurement categories:

- Amortised cosl: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows, where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assels Is included in the income
statement using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss.
Impairment losses are presented as a separate line item in the income statement.

- FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assels’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interast, are measured at FVOCI. Changes in fair value are taken through OCI.
The recognition of interest income and impairment gains or losses are racognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. Interestincome
from these financial assets is included in the income statement using the effective interest rate method. Impaiment losses are
presented as a separate line item in the income statement.

- FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amoriised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debtinvestment
that is measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Equily instrumen!s

The Group measures all equily investments at fair value. Where the Group's management has elected to present fair value gains and
losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecagnition of the investment. Dividends from such investments conlinue to be recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to
receive payments is established. Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in the income statement,

Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses {ECL) associated with ils financiat
assets classified at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at FVOCI, lease receivables, loan commitments and certain financial
guarantee contracts.

Application of the General Modal

The Group has applied the 'general model’ as required under IFRS 9 for debt instruments other than trade receivables. Under this model,
the Group s required to assess on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with its debt instrument assets carried at amortised cost
and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The ECL will be recognised in profit
or loss before a loss event has occurred. The measurement of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined by evaluating a range of possible oulcomes. The probability-weighted outcome considers mullipte scenarios based on
reasonable and supportable forecasts. Under cument guidance, impairment amount represents the single best outcome; the time value of
money; and reasonable and supportable information thal is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

{n

Financial assets (continued)
ECL is calculated by multiplying the Probability of default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) and Exposure at Default (EAD).

‘The impaiment model uses a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since origination:

Stage 1 - 12-month ECL applies to all financial assets that have nat experienced a significant increase in credit risk since origination and
are nol credil impaired. The ECL will be computed using a 12-month PD that represents the probability of default cccuming over the next
12 months.

Stage 2 - When a financial asset experiences a significant increase in credit risk subsequent to origination but is not credit impaired, itis
considered lo be in Stage 2. This requires the computation of ECL based on lifetime PD that represents the probability of default occurring
over the remaining estimated life of the financial asset. Provisions are higher in this stage because of an increase in risk and the impact of
a longer time horizon being considered compared to 12 months in Stage 1.

Stage 3 - Financial assets that have an objective evidence of impairment will be included in this slage. Similar to Stage 2, the allowance
for credit losses will continue lo capture the lifetime ECL.

The Group uses judgement when considering the following factors that affect the determination of impaimment:

Assessment of Significant Increase in Credil Risk

The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is done on a relative basis. To assess whether the credil risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since origination, the Group compares the risk of default occuniing over the expected life of the financial asset
at the reporiing date to the comresponding risk of defaull at origination, using key risk indicators that are used in the Group’s existing risk
management procasses. Al each reporting date, the assessment of a change in credit risk will be individually assessed for those considered
individually significant and at the segment level for retail exposures. This assessment is symmetrical in nature, allowing credit risk of
financial assets to move back to Stage 1 if the increase in credit risk since origination has reduced and is no longer deemed to be significant.

Macroeconomic Factors, Forward Looking Information and Multiple Scenarios
The Group applies an unbiased and probability weighted estimate of credit losses by evaluating a range of possible outcomes that
incorporales forecasts of fulure economic conditions.

Macroeconomic factors and forward leoking information are incorporated into the measurement of ECL as well as the determination of
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination. Measurement of ECLs at each reporting period reflect
reasonable and supportable information at the reporting dale about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

The Group uses three scenarios that are probability weighted to determine ECL.

Expected Life

When measuring ECL, the Group considers the maximum contractual pesiod over which the Group is exposed to credit risk. All contractual
tenms are considered when determining the expected life, including prepayment oplions and extension and rollover options. For certain
revolving credil facilities that do not have a fixed malurity, the expected life is estimated based on the period over which the Group is
exposed lo credit risk and where the credit losses would not be mitigated by management actions.

Application of the Simplified Approach

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires that the impalment provision is
measured at initial recognition and throughout the life of the receivables using a lifeime ECL. As a practical expedient, a provisian matrix
is utilised in determining the lifetime ECLs for trade receivables.

The lifetime ECLs are determined by taking into consideration historical rates of default for sach segment of aged receivables as well
as the estimated impact of forward looking information.

Application of this policy until 31 December 2017

The Group applied IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 and has elected not to restate comparative information in accaordance with the transitional
provisions in IFRS 9 [7.2.15]. As a result, the comparative information provided continues to be accounted for in accordance with the
Group’s previous accounting policy.

Untit 31 December 2018, the Group classified its financial assets in the following calegories: at fair value through profit or loss, oans
and receivables, and available for sale. The accounling policy for trade and insurance receivables Is dealt with in Note 2 (o). The
classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of ils
financial assets at initial recognition. A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset in one entity and a
financial liability or equity of another entity.
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Financial assets {continued)
Financial assels af fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair valua through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short tenm. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges. Assels in this calegory are classified as current assets if expecied to be settled with 12 months, otherwise they
are classified as non-current.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivalive financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quolted in an active market.
Loans and receivables are classified as such in the statement of financial position.

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables either meet the definition of loans and receivables at the date of acquisition, or al
the date of reclassification from another category {fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale), under the provisions of IAS 39
{(Amendment). Financial assets which have been reclassified to this category, meet the definition of loans and receivables as a result
of the market for these securities becoming inactive during the financial year.

A provision for credit losses is established if there is objective evidence that a loan Is impaired. A loan is considered impaired when
management determines thatit is probable that the full amounts due will not be collected according to the original contraciual terms. When
a loan has been identified as impaired, the camrying amount of the loan is reduced, by recording specific provisions for credit losses, to ils
estimated recoverable amount, which is the present value of expected future cash flows including amounts recoverable from guarantees
and collateral, discounted at the original effective interest rate of the loan.

The provision for credit losses also covers situations where there is objective evidence that probable losses are present in components of
the loan portfolio at the statement of financial position date. These have been estimated based upon historical pattemns of losses in each
component, the credit ratings allocated to the borrowers and reflecting the current economic climate in which the bomowers operate.

For non-performing and impaired loans the accrual of interest income based on the original terms of the loan Is discontinued. The Bank of
Jamaica regulations require that interest an non-performing bank loans be taken into account on the cash basis. IFRS requires theincrease
in the present value of impaired loans due to the passage of time to be reported as interest income. The difference between the Jamaican
regulatory basis and IFRS was assessed to be immaterial.

Wite-offs are made when all or part of a loan is deemed uncollectible or in the case of debt forgiveness. Write-offs are charged against
previously established provisions for credit losses and reduce the principal amount of a loan. Recoveries in part or in full of amounts
previously written-off are credited to credit loss expense in the income statement.

Slatutory and other regulatory loan loss reserve requirements that exceed IFRS provisions which are charged to the income statement
are dealt with in a non-distributable loan loss reserve as an appropriation of retained earnings.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financlal assels are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in invesiment securities on the statement of financial position.

Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assels are recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the Group commits lo purchase
or sell the asset. Investments are inilially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assels carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs
are expensed in the income statement. Financial assels are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments
have expired or hava been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-
sale financial assets and financial assets al fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables
are carried at amortised cost using the effective inlerest method.
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Financial assets {continued)

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign cumency and classified as available-for-sale are analysed
between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the
security. The lranslation differences on monetary securities are recognised in profit or loss; translation differences on non-monetary
securities are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monelary securities classified as avallable for sale are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When securilies classified as available for sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are included in the income statement as gains and losses from investment securities.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in the income statement as part of
revenue, other income and finance income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the income statement
as part of other income when the Group's right to receive payments is eslablished.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on cumrent bid prices. If the market for a financial asset Is not active (and for unlisted
securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and oplion pricing models, making
maximum use of market inputs and relying as litlle as possible on enlity-specific inputs.

The Group assesses at each stalement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assels is impaired. In the case of equity securilies classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of a security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the security is impaired. If any such evidenca exists for available-
for-sale financial assels, the cumulalive loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less
any impaimment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss — is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income stalement on equity instruments are not reversed
through the income statement.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from the price of the underlying items such as equities, bonds, interest
rates, foreign exchange, credit spreads, commadities or other indices. Derivatives enable users to increase, reduce or aller exposure
to credit or market risk. The Group transacts derivalives to manage its own exposure to foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivalive contract Is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at
their fair value at each statement of financial position dale. Fair values are oblained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow
models and option pricing models as appropriate. Derivalives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when
fair value is negative. Assels and liabilities are sel off where the contracts are with the sama counterparty, a legal right of set off exists
and the cash flows are intended to be setiled on a net basis.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative,
their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the contracts are not measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

Gains and losses from the changes in the fair value of derivalives are included in the income statement.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Fixed assets and other assets, excluding goodwill, are reviewed for impairment losses whenaver events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds ils recoverable amount, which is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assels are grouped al the lowest levels for which there are separately idenlifiable cash flows.

Income taxes
Taxalion expense in the income stalement comprises current and deferred tax charges.

Current tax charges are based on taxable profit for the year, which differs from the profit before tax reported because it excludes items
that are taxable or deductible in other years, and items thal are never laxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated at tax rates that have been enacled or substanlively enacted at statement of financial position date in the countries where
the company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax
relurns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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U]

(m)

Income taxes {continued)

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be paid or recovered on differences between the camying amounts of assels and labilities and the
corresponding tax bases. Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounis in the financial statements. Currently enacted or substantively enacted
tax rates are used in the determination of deferred income tax.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Investment tax credits are benefits received for investments in specific qualifying assets related to capitalised expenditure. Any portion
of these tax credits which are received but not fully ulilised in the same year are camied forward for offset against future taxes and are
recognised similarly to unused tax credits as a deferred tax assel.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except where it relates to items charged or credited to other comprehensive
income or equity, in which case, deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity.

Employee benefits

Pension obligations

The Group participates in a defined contribution plan whereby it pays contributions to a privately administered fund. Once the
contributions have been paid, the Group has no further payment obligations. The regular contributions constitute net periodic costs for
the year in which they are due and are included in staff costs.

Pension plan assets

The Group also operales a defined benefit plan. The scheme is generally funded through payments to a trustee-administered fund as
determined by periodic actuarial calculations. A defined benefit pian is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit to be
provided, usually as a function of one or more factors such as age, years of service or compensation.

The asset or lability in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the difference between the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the stalement of financial position date and the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated
annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit methed, The present value of the defined benefit obligation is
determined by the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of Govemment securities which have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related liability.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments, changes in actuarial assumptions and amendments (o pension plans
are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

Past-service costs are recognrised immediately in income.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays confributfons to privately administered pension plans on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligalions once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or
a reductlion in the future payments is available.

Cther post-employment obligations

Some Group companies provide post-employment health care benefits, group life, gratuity and supplementary plans for their retirees.
The entitlement to these benefits is usually based on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a
minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment, using an accounting
methodology simitar to that for defined benefit pension plans. Acluarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and
changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.
These obligations are valued annually by independent qualified actuaries.

Equity compensation benefits

The Group operales equity-seitled, share-based compensalion plans. Directors, senior execulives, management and key employees
are awarded stock oplions and/or restricted stock grants. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant
of the options or restricted units is recognised as an expense. The total amount expensed over the vesling period is determined by
reference lo the fair value of the options or restricted units granted, excluding the impact of non-market vesting condilions. When
oplions are exercised or restricted units are vested, the proceeds received net of any transaction costs or the value transferred are
credited to share capital.
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(m)

(m

{o)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Employee benefits {continued)

Termination benefits

Termination benefils are payable whenever an employee’s employment is lerminated before the normal retirement date or whenever
an employee accepis voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is
demonstrably committed to either lerminale the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility
of withdrawal or 1o provide termination benefils as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falfing due
more than 12 months after statement of financial position date are discounted to present value.

Incentive plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that takes inlo consideration the profit attributable to
the company's owners after certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the fower of average cost and nel realisable value. In the case of the company, cost represents invoiced cost
plus direct inventory-related expenses. For the subsidiaries, costs are determined by methods and bases appropriate to their
operalions. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direcl cosls and related
production overheads. Net realisable value is the estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of
completion and selling expenses.

Trade and insurance receivables

Trade and insurance receivables are carried at original invoice amount (which represents fair value) fess provision made for impairment
of these receivables. A provision for impairment of these receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original lerms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor,
probability that the deblor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered
indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the assel's carrying amount and
the present value of estimaled future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the assel is
reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statemenl. When a trade
receivable is uncollectible, il is wrillen off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against selling and marketing costs in the income slatement. Impairment testing of trade receivables
is described in Note 3.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are camied on the stalement of financial position at cost. For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposils held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
malurilies of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafis are included within bank and other loans an the statement of
financial position.

Payables
Payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost.

Insurance business provisions

Claims outstanding

Provision is made to cover the estimated cost of seltling claims arising out of events which have occurred by the statement of financial
position date, including claims incurred but not reported, less amounts already paid in respect of these claims. Provision for reporied
claims is based on individua!l case estimates,

Insurance reserves

Provision is made for that proportion of premiums written in respect of risks to be bome subsequent to the year-end under contracts of
insurance enlered inlo on or befora the statement of financial position date. Provision is also made to cover the estimated amounts in
excess of uneamed premiums required to meet future claims and expenses on business in force.

Reinsurance ceded

The insurance subsidiary cedes insurance premiums and risk in the normal course of business in order to limit the potential for losses
arising from longer exposures. Reinsurance does not relieve the originating insurer of its liability. Reinsurance assels include the
batancas due from both insurance and reinsurance companies for paid and unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses and ceded
unearned premiums. Amounis recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim liability associated with
the reinsured policy. Reinsurance is recorded grass in the statement of financial position unless the right of offsel exists.

Deferred policy acquisition costs

The costs of acquiring and renewing insurance contracts, including commissions, underwriting and policy issue expenses, which vary
with and are directly related to the contracts, are deferred over the unexpired period of risk carried, Deferred policy acquisition costs
are subject to recoverability testing at the time of policy issue and at the end of each accounting period.
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{u)

v

{w)

{x)

v

Pravisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or construclive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required lo setlle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the Group
expecis a provision to be reimbursed; for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset
but only when tha reimbursement is virtually certain.

Deposits
Deposits are recognised initially at the nominal amount when funds are received. Deposils are subsequently stated at amortised cost

using the effective yield method.

Securities purchased/sold under resalefrepurchase agreements
The purchase and sale of securities under resale and repurchase agreemenls are realed as collateralised lending and borrowing
transactions. The related interest income and expense are recorded on the accrual basis.

Borrowings

Bank loans and overdrafis are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, Borrowings are subsequently caried
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (nel of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaclion costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
avidence that itis probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Preference shares, which are mandatorily redeemable on a specific date, are classified as liabiliies. The dividends on these preference
shares are recognised in the income stalement as interest expense.

Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assels that necessarily take a substantial period of time to gel ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assels, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income eamed on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assels is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Leases

As lessee

Leases of fixed assels where the Group assumes substantially all the benefils and risks of ownership are classified as finance leases,
Finance leases are capilalised at the astimated present value of the underying lease paymenls. Each lease paymenl is allocated
between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corespanding rental
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in finance lease obligations. The interest element of the finance charge is charged to
the income statement over the lease period. The fixed assel acquired under finance leasing contracts is depreciated over the useful
life of the asset.

Leases of assets under which all the risks and benefils of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operaling leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease.

When an operating lease is lerminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of
penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

As lessar

When assets are sold under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is recognised as a receivable. The difference
between the gross receivable and the present value of the receivable is recognised as uneamed income. Lease income is recognised
over the lerm of the lease so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of retum.

Share capital
Crdinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any Group company purchases the company's equity share capital (freasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from equity atiributable to the company’s owners until the shares are
cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequenily reissued, any consideration received {net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects) is included in equity attributable to the company’s owners.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary course
of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of General Consumption Tax or applicable sales tax, retumns, rebates and discounts
and after eliminaling sales within the Group.

From 1 January 2018, the Group adopted IFRS 15 which resulted in adjustments to the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
In accordance wilh the transitional provisions in IFRS 15 [C3(b)], comparative figures have not been restated. As such, the modified
retrospective transition approach has been ulilised.

Sales of qoods and services

Revenue is recognised as performance obligations are salisfied, that is, over time or at a point in time. Where a customer contracl
contains multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is altocated to each distinct performance obligation based on the
relative stand-alone selling prices of the goods or services being provided to the customer

Certain contracls with cuslomers provide a right of retum, free goods, volume discounts, rebates and other incentives. Accumulated
experience is used to estimale and provide for customer retums and sales incentives using the expected value method, and revenue
is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will nol occur. A contract liability, representing
amounts payable to customers, is recognised for expected retums and sales incentives. Where customer contracts entitle customers
to free goods, revenue is allocated to each performance obligation, including free goods, and recognised as the perfonrmance obligations
are salisfied. Contract liabilities are included in ‘payables’ on the statement of financial position.

Sale of goods and services — customer ioyalty programme

The Group cperates loyalty programmes where customers accumulate points for purchases made which entitle them to goods or
services in the future. The consideration received from the sale of goods and services is allocated to the loyalty poinis and refated
goods and services using the residual value methqd. In its capacity as an agent, the Group recognises commission income, being the
net of the consideration allocated to the loyalty points and the amounts payable to third parties with primary respensibility for salisfying
the performance obligations in respect of awards. A financial liability is recognised in respect of amounis payable to third parties and
no breakage is considered. The financial liabllity is included in ‘payables’ in the statement of financial position.

ltems (1), (ii) and (it} below have been modified in the current year for the policy changes applied above, while items (iv) and (v} below
remain unchanged.

Application of this policy until 31 December 2017

The Group applied IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 and has elecled not lo restale comparative information in accordance with the
transitional provisions. As a resull, the comparative information provided continues to be accounted for in accordance with the Group’s
previous accounting policy.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will
flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's activilies as described below. The Group bases its
estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each
arangement.

(iy Sales of goods — wholesale

The Group manufactures and sells a range of general and food items in the wholesale market. Sales of goods are recognised
when a Group entity has delivered producls o the wholesaler, the wholesaler has full discretion over the channel and price to sell
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the wholesaler's acceptance of the products. Delivery does not
occur until the products have been shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the wholesaler, and either the wholesaler has accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceplance
provisions have lapsed or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been salisfied. The general and
food items are often sold with volume discounts; customers have a right to retumn faulty products in the wholesale market. Sales
are recorded based on the price specified in the sales contracts, net of the estimated volume discounts and retums at the time of
sale. Accumulated experience Is used to estimate and provide for the discounts and retumns. The volume discounts are assessed
based on anticipated annual purchases. N¢ element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term of
up lo 90 days, which is consistent with the market practice.
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(ab)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(i) Sales of goods — retail

The Group operales a chain of retail outlels for selling general and food ilems. Sales of goods are recognised when a Group entity
sells a product to the customer, Retail sales are usually in cash or by credit. It is the Group’s policy to sell ils products to the retail
customer with a right lo return within 30 days. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for such retums al the
time of sale. The Group operales a loyalty programme in which the parent company has contracted certain subsidiaries to
participate in the programme in the capacily of an issuer and/or redeemer of loyalty points. Under this programme, customers
accumulate points for purchases made at certain subsidiaries within the Group, which entitle them to goods and services al
redeeming subsidiaries and/or third party suppliers. Commission is recognised by the participaling subsidiaries in their capacity
as agenls al the point the parent company is obligated to supply the awards and is entilled to receive consideration for doing so,
that is, when poinls are issued. Revenue is recognised on a gross basis by the parent company in the capacity of principal at the
point at which the company has fulfilled its obligations in respect of the awards, that is when points are issued. Amounts payable
to parlicipating subsidiaries and third parties for acting as suppliers in the programme are recognised by the parent company as
an expense. One of the Group's subsidiaries operates a loyalty programme under simifar arrangements to that of the parent
company.

(i) Sales of services

The Group sells insurance and financial services to the general public. These services are provided on a time and fixed-price
contract, with contract terms generally ranging from less than one year to three years. Revenue is generally recognised at the
contractual rates. Revenue is generally recognised based on the services performed to date as a percenlage of the lotal services
to be performed. If circumstances arise that may change the original estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward
completion, estimates are revised. These revisions may result in increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs and are
reflected in income in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by management. Fees
and commission income are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. Loan origination fees
for loans which are likely to be drawn down are defemed, together with related direct costs, and recognised as an adjustment to
the effective interest on the loan. Fees and commissions arising from negatiating or participaling in the negofiation of a transaction
for a third party are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other management advisory and service
fees are recognised based on the applicable service contracts, usually on a time-apportionale basis. Assel management fees
related o investment funds are recognised rateably over the period in which the service is provided. Performance linked fees or
fee components are recognised when the performance criteria are fulfilted.

(iv) Interestincome

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a loan and receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate
of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. [nterest income on impaired loan and receivables is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

{v) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

Dividends
Dividends are recorded as a deduction from equity in the period in which they are approved.

Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising land and buildings, are held for long-term rental yields and capital appreciation and are
treated as long-term investments. They are measured initially at cost, including related transaction costs and are subsequently carried
at fair value.

Fair value is based on aclive market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific
asset. The fair value of investment property reflects, among other things, renial income from current leases and assumptions about
rental income from fulure leases in light of current market conditions. The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outilows
that could be expected in respect of the property.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the assel's carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
charged to income during the financial period in which they are incurred.  Fair value gains or losses are recorded in income.
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(ac)

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assels (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a
sale fransaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of their
carrying amount and fair value less costs lo sell, except for assets such as deferred lax assets, assels arising from employee benefils,
financial assels and investmenl property that are camied at fair value and contractual rights under insurance contracts, which are
specifically exempt from this requirement.

An impairment loss is recognised for any inilial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less costs to
sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to selt of an assel {or disposal group), but not in excess
of any cumulative impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-
current asset {or disposal group) is recognised al the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets {including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held
for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the iiabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be
recognised.

Non-current assels classified as held for sale and the assels of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately
from the other assets in the statement of financial position. The liabilities of a dispasal group classified as held for sale are presented
separalely from other liabilities in the statement of financial position.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that represents a
separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of such a line of
business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view lo resale. The results of discontinued operalions are
presented separately in the income statement.
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Insurance and Financial Risk Management

The Group’s aclivities expose it to a variety of insurance and financial risks and those aclivities involve the analysis, evalualion, acceptance
and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an
inevitable consequence of being in business. The Group's aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate batance between risk and retum and
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

The Group's risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, lo set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to
monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-lo-date infoormation systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk
management policies and systems to reflect changes in markels, products and emerging best practice.

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework. |t provides
policies for overall risk management, as well as principles and procedures covering the specific areas of risk, The Board has established
committees/departments for managing and monitoring risks, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk, as
follows:

(i) Audit Committee

The Audit Commiliee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group's risk management policies and procedures and
reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit Commillee is assisted
in its oversight rote by Group Risk Management and Intemal Audit. Group Risk Management establishes a framework within which the
opportunities and risks affecting the Group may be measured, assessed, and effectively confrolled. Intemal Audit undertakes bath
reguiar and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which ara reported to the Audit Committee.

(i) Corporate Governance Commiliee

The Corporale Govemance Commitlee assists the Board in enhancing the Graup's system of corporate govemance by establishing,
moniloring and reviewing the principles of good govemance with which the Group and its directors will comply. The Committee promotes
high standards of corporale govemance based on the principles of openness, integrity and accountability taking into account the
Group's existing legal and regulatory requirements. |t establishes such procedures, policies and codes of conduct to meet these aims
as it considers appropriate. Qualified individuals are identified and recommended by the Board to become members. It also leads the
Board of Direclors in its annual review of the Board's performance.

(i)  Asset and Liability Committees/investment Commitlees

The Asset and Liability Committeas (ALCOs} and Investment Commiliees are management committees responsible for monitoring and
formulating investment portfolios and investment strategies within the Insurance, Banking and Investment, and Corporate divisions.
The ALCOs are also responsible for monitoring adherence to trading limils, polictes and procedures thal are established to ensure that
there is adequate liquidity as weli as monitoring and measuring capital adequacy for regulatory and business requirements. To
discharge these responsibilities, the ALCOs establish asset and liability pricing policies to prolect the liquidity structure as well as
assesses the probability of various liquidity shacks and interest rate scenarios. They also establish and monitor relevant liquidity ratios
and statement of financial position targets. Overall, the Commiltees ensure compliance with the policies refated (o the management of
liquidity risk, interest rate risk, and foreign exchange risk.

{iv} Corporate Finance Department
The Corporate Finance Department is responsible for managing the Group's assets and labilities and the overall capital structure. It is
also primarily responsible for the funding and liquidity risks of the Group. Corporale Finance identifies, evaluates and manages financial
risks in close co-operation with the Group's operating business units.

The most important types of risk are insurance risk, reinsurance risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other operational risk. Markel risk
includes cumrency risk, interest rate and other price risk.
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Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a)

Insurance risk
The Group issues contracts that transfer insurance risk. This section summarises the risk and the way it is managed by the Group.

Insurance risk for the Group atiributable to policies sold by its general insurance underwriting subsidiaries, is bome by those subsidiaries.
The risk under any cne insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty of the amount of the resulting
claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random and therefore, unpredictable.

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theary of probability is applied to pricing and provistoning, the principal risk that the Group
faces urkler its insurance coniracls is that the actual claim payments exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could
occur because the frequency or severity of claims and benefits is greater than estimated. Insurance events are randem and the actual
number and amount of claims and benefits will vary from year 1o year fram the level established using statistical techniques.

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative variabilily about the expected outcome
will be. In addition, a more diversified portfofio is less likely lo be affected across the board by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The
Group has developed ils insurance underwriting strategy to diversify the type of insurance risks accepled and within each of these
categories to achieve a sufficiently large popufation of risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome.

Factors that increase insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type and amount of risk and geographical lacation.

Management maintains an appropriate batance between commercial and personal policies and type of policies based on guidelines set by
the Board of Directors. Insurance risk arising from the Group's insurance contracts is, however, concentrated within Jamaica.

The Group has the right to re-price the risk on renewal. 1t also has the ability lo impose deductibles and reject fraudulent claims. Where
applicable, contracts are underwritten by reference to the commercial replacement value of the properties or other assets and contents
insured. Claims payment limits are always included lo cap the amount payable on occurrence of the insured event. Cost of rebuilding
properties, of replacement or Indemnity for other assets and contents and time taken lo reslart operations for business interruption are
the key faclors that influence the leve) of claims under these policies.

Management sels policy and retention limits based on guidelines set by the Board of Directors of the subsidiaries. The policy limit and
maximum net retention of any one risk for each class of insurance per customer for the year are as follows:

2018 2017

Policy Maximum Policy Maximum
Limit Net Retention Limit Net Retention
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Commercial property:
Fire and consequential loss 1,287,320 10,209 1,243,041 9,944
Boiler and machinery 643,660 7,241 615,305 6,992
Engineering 643,660 7.241 615,305 6,992
Burglary, money and goods in transit 32,183 32,183 31,076 31,076
Glass and other 32,183 32,183 31.076 31,076
Liability 386,196 38,620 383,817 38,382
Marine, aviation and transport 77.239 3,862 74,582 1,865
Motor 31,000 16,000 31,000 16,000

Pecuniary loss:

Fidelity 32,183 32,183 31,076 31,076
Surety/Bonds 148,042 29,608 142,950 28,590
Personal accident 32,183 32,183 31,076 31,076

Personal property 1,287,320 10,299 1,243,041 9,944
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3. Insurance and Financiai Risk Management {Continued)

{a)

Insurance risk {continued}
Sensitivity Analysis of Actuarial Liabiiities

The determination of actuarial liabilities is sensilive to a number of assumptions, and changes in those assumplions could have a
significant effect on the valuation results. These factors are discussed below.

Actuarial Assumptions
{i} In applying the noted methodologies, the following assumptions were made:

¢ Claims inflation has remained relatively constant and there have been no material legislative changes in the Jamaican civil justice
system that would cause claim inflation to increase dramatically.

+ There is no fatent environmental or asbestos exposure embedded in the loss history.
+ The case reserving and claim payments rates have and will remain relatively constant.

« The overall development of claims costs gross of reinsurance is not materially different from the development of claims costs nel
of reinsurance. This assumption is supported by:

- The majority of the reinsurance program consists of proportional reinsurance agreements.
- The non-proportional reinsurance agreements consist primarily of high attachment points.

» Claims are expressed at their estimated ulimate undiscounted value, in accordance with the requirement of the insurance
regulations.

(i) Provision for adverse deviation assumptions

The basic assumplions made in establishing insurance reserves are best estimales for a range of possible outcomes. To recognise
the uncertainty in establishing these best estimales, to allow for possible deterioration in experience and to provide greater comfort
that the reserves are adequate to pay future benefits, the appointed actuary is required lo include a margin for adverse deviation
in each assumption.

Reserves have been calculated on an undiscounted basis as well as on a discounted basis with a risk load added in. Where the
undiscounted reserve was larger than the discounted reserve including the calculated provision for adverse deviation, the
undiscounied amount was chosen. This assumes that holding reserves at an undiscounted amount includes an implicit risk load.

(iii) Scenario testing

The two major assumptions that determine reserve levels are:
o The selection of a-priori loss ratios within the Bomhuetter-Ferguson methods (Note 4).

» The selection of loss development factors.

These factors have been stochatistically modelled using various confidence intervals to determmine the impact on the net reserves.
The net reserves of $3,216,436,000 were determined at the 50% confidence interval. Had the confidence interval
increased/(decreased} by 10%, the net reserves would increase/(decrease) by $117,473,000/($117,730,000).

Development Claim Liabilities

In addition to sensitivity analysis, the development of insurance liabilities provides a measure of the Group’s ability to estimate the
ulimate value of claims. The table below illustrates how the Group's estimate of the ultimate claims liability for accident years 2009 -
2017 has changed at successive year-ends, up to 2018. Updated unpaid claims and adjustment expensaes (UCAE) and claims incurred
but not reported (IBNR} estimates in each successive year, as well as amounts paid to date are used lo derive the revised amounts
for the ultimate claims liability for each accident year, used in the development calculations.
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3. Insurance and Financial Risk Management {Continued)
{b} Reinsurance risk

To limit its exposure lo potential loss on an insurance policy, the insurer may cede certain levels of risk to a reinsurer. The Group
selects reinsurers which have established capability to meet thelr contractual obligations and which generally have high credit ratings.
The credit ratings of reinsurers are monitored.

Relention limits represent the level of risk retained by the insurer. Coverage in excess of these limits is ceded to reinsurers up to the
treaty limit. The retention programmes used by the Group are summarised betow:

a) The retention limit or maximum exposure on insurance policies under the reinsurance treaties range between $3,862,000 and
$38,620,000 {2017: $1,865,000 and $38,382,000).

b) The Group utilises retnsurance treaties to reduce its net retained risk. The risk is spread over several reinsurers all of whom are AM
Best or S&P rated at A or better.

¢) Excess of loss reinsurance is also purchased to cover the retained risk in the event of a calastrophe as well as for large motor losses.
d) The amount of reinsurance recoveries recognised during the period is as follows:

Group

2018 2017

$'000 $'000

Property 324,790 1,936,168
Motor 23,137 41,163
Marine 1,735 997
Liability 830 (1,293)
Pecuniary loss 962 (1,219)
Accident 43 (1.857)
351,497 1,973,959

(e}  Financial risk

The Group is exposed to financial risk through its financia! assets, reinsurance assels and insurance liabilities. The most important
compoenents of this financtal risk are credit risk, cash flow risk and market risk (inlerest rate risk and currency risk).

These risks arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific
market movements. The risks that the Group primarily faces due fo the nature of ils investments and liabilities are interest rate risk and
currency risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effecls on the Group's financial performance.

(i} Credit risk

The Group takes on exposure to credil risk, which is the risk that its customers, clients or counterparties will cause a financial loss
for the Group by falling to discharge (heir contractual obligations. Credit exposures arise principally from the Group’s receivables
from customers, principals, agents, the amounts due from reinsurers, amounts due from insurance contract holders and insurance
brokers, invastments, lending activities and loan commitments arising from such lending activities. There is also credit risk in off-
statement of financial posilion financial instruments, such as loan commitments. The Group structures the levels of credil risk it
undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to a single counterparty or groups of related counlerparties
and to geographical and industry segments.

Credit-related commitment risks arise from guaranlees which may require payment on behalf of customers. Such payments are
collected from customers based on the terms of the letters of credil. They expose the Group to similar risks to loans and these
are mitigated by the same control policies and processes.

Credit risk arising from derivalive financial instruments is, at any time, limited to those with positive fair values, as recorded in the
statement of financial position.
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

{c)

Financial risk {continued)

{i) Credit risk (continued)

Credit review process

The Group has established a credit quality review process and has credit policies and procedures which require regular analysis
of the ability of borrowers and other counterparties to meet interest, capital and other repayment obligations.

(@

{b)

Trade and other receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characterislics of each customer. The credit policy
states that each customer must be analysed individually for creditworthiness prior to the Group offering them a credit facility.
Customers may be required to provide a banker's guarantee and credit limits are assigned to each customer. These limiis
are reviewed at least iwice per year. The Group has procedures in place to restrict customer orders if the order will exceed
their credit limits. Customers that fail o meet the Group's benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Group on a
prepayment basis.

Customer credit risks are monitored according lo credit characleristics such as whether it is an individual or company,
geographic location, industry, ageing profile, and previous financial difficulties. Special negoliated arrangements may extend
the credit period to a maximum of 3 months. Trade and other receivables relate mainly to the Group's retail and direct
customers. The Group's average credit period for the sale of goods is 1 month.

Loans and leases receivable
The Group assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using inlemal ratings. Customers of the Group are
segmenled into four rating classes. The Group's rating scale, which is shown below, reflects the range of default probabilities
defined for each raling class.

Group's intemal rating scale:

Group's rating Description of the
grade
1 Low risk — Excellent credit history
2 Standard risk — Generally abides by credit terms
3 Past due — Late paying with increased credit risk
4 Credit impaired — Default

Exposure to credil risk is managed in part by obtaining collateral and corporate and personal guarantees. Counterparty limits
are established by the use of a credil classification system, which assigns each counterparty a risk raling. Risk ratings are
subject to regular revision. The credit quality review process allows the Group to assess the potential loss as a result of the
risk to which it is exposed and take corrective action.
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management {Continued)

()

Financial risk {continued)

"

Credit risk (continued)
{c¢} Reinsurance

Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk. This does not, however, discharge the Group's liability as primary insurer. If
a reinsurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, the Group remains liable for the payment to the policyholder. The
creditworthiness of reinsurers is considered on an annual basis by reviewing their financial strength prior to finalisation of any
contract. The insurance subsidiaries’ Risk and Reinsurance Department assesses the creditworthiness of all reinsurers and
intermediaries by reviewing credil grades provided by raling agencies and other publicly available financial information,

{d) Premium and other receivables

The respeclive credit committees within the Group examine the payment history of significant contract holders with whom
they conduct regular business. Management information reported to the Group includes details of provisions for impaimment
on loans and receivables and subsequent write-offs. Internal Audit makes regular reviews to assess the degree of compliance
with the Group procedures on credil. Exposures to individual pelicyholders and groups of policyholders are collected within
the on-going monitoring of the controls associated with regulatory solvency. Where there exists significant exposure to
individual policyholders, or homogenous groups of policyholders, a financial analysis is carried out by the insurance
subsidiaries’ Risk and Reinsurance Department.

(e) Investments

Extemal rating agency credit grades are used to assess credit quality. These published grades are continuously menitored
and updated. Default probabilities and recovery rales are assigned as published by the rating agency.

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk arising from investments by adhering to the investment counterparty limits as
approved by the ALCOs. Counterparty limits are reviewed and updated periodically.

impairment of Financial Assets

The Group has four types of financial assels that are subject to the expected credit loss model:
« Trade and premium receivables
= Loans and leases receivable
+ Debt investments camied at amortised cost, and
¢ Debt investments carmried at FVOCI.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, all bank balances are assessed to
have low credit risk at each reporting date as they are held with reputable banking institutions and the identified impairment loss
was immaterial.

Trade and premium receivables
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expecled credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss

allowance for these assets.

To measure the expecled credil losses, irade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 months and the comresponding historical
credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecling the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has identified the GDP and
the unemployment rate of the countries in which it sells its goods and services {o be the most relevant factors, and accordingly
adjusis the hislorical loss rates based on expected changes in these faclors.
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3. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk {continued)

{i) Credit risk (continued)

Trade and premium receivables {continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial instruments for which an ECL allowance is
recognised. The gross cammying amount of financial assets below also represents the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk on

these assels.
Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'000 5’000 $'000 $'000
Low risk 18,595 6,712 - -
Standard risk 8,726,918 10,602,914 1,240,434 1,076,896
Past due 3,132,208 3,038,645 160,363 184,264
Credit impaired 975,379 588,048 246,904 170,145
Gross carrying amount 12,853,100 14,236,319 1,647,701 1,431,305
Loss allowance (662,828) {446,689) (63,822) {70,672}
Carrying amount 12,190,272 13,789,630 1,583,879 1,360,633

Loss allowance

The loss allowance as al 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018 {(on adoplion of IFRS 9) was determined as follows for trade and

premium receivables:

Group
at 31 December 2018 at 1 January 2018
Gross Gross
carrying Loss Expected carrying Loss Expected
amount allowance loss rate amount allowance loss rate
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Less than 1 month 8,034,872 36,49 0.45% 10,024,348 40,799 0.41%
Within 1 to 3 months 3,223,816 36,47 1.13% 3,033,692 88,627 2.92%
Over 3 months 1.594,412 589,920 37.00% 1,178,279 392,523 A3 N%
12,853,100 662,828 14,236,319 521,949
Company
at 31 December 2018 at 1 January 2018
Gross Gross
carrying Loss Expected carrying Loss Expected
amount allowance loss rate amount allowance loss rate
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Less than 1 month 531,752 1,523 0.29% 470,562 346 0.07%
Within 1 to 3 months 1,017,071 1,992 0.20% 843,324 528 0.06%
Qver 3 months 08,878 60,307 60.99% 17,419 79,041 67.32%
1,647,701 63,822 1,431,305 79,915
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3. Insurance and Financial Risk Management {Continued)
{c) Financial risk {continued)
(i) Credit Risk {(continued}
Trade and premium receivables (continued)

Loss allowance {continued)

The closing loss allowances for trade and premium receivables as at 31 December 2018 reconcile to the opening loss allowances

as follows:
Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At 31 December - calculated under IAS 39 446,689 413,566 70,672 100,448
Amounts restated through opening retained eamings 75,260 - 9.243 -
At 1 January 2018 — calculated under IFRS 9 521,949 413,566 79,9156 100,448
Movement on loss allowance recognised in income
statement during the year 321,280 181,900 24,487 13.710
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible (132,203) (115,197} (27,288) (28,439)
Unused amount reversed {48,198) {33,580) {13,292) (15,047)
At 31 December 662,828 446,689 63,822 70.672

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expeclation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, failure to
make contractual payments for a period greater than two years, and alternative methods of debt collection have been exhausted.

Impairmment losses on trade receivables are presented as net impairment losses within operaling profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited in other income.
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c)

Financial risk (continued)

(i} Credit risk {continued)

Loans and Leases (including loan commitments and guarantees)

The Group applies the ‘three stage’ madel under IFRS 9 in measuring the expected credit losses on loans and leases, and makes
eslimations about likelihood of defaults occurring, associated loss ratios, changes in market conditions, and expected fulure cash
flows. This is measured using the Probability of Default {PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Defaull (LGD) for a
portfolio of assets.

. Probability of Default - This represents the likelihood of a bomower defaulling on its financfal obligation either over the next 12
months (12 month PD}, or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the cbligation.

. Exposure at Default - This represents the expected balance at default, taking inlo account the repayment of principal and
interest from the statement of financial position date to the default event logether with any expected drawdowns of committed
faciliies.

. Loss Given Defaull — The LGD represents expected losses on the EAD given the event of defaull, taking into account the
mitigaling effect of collateral value at the time it is expected to be realised and also the time value of money.

The ‘three stage’ mode! is used to categorise financial assels according to credit quality as follows:
. Stage 1 —financial assets that are not credit impaired on initial recognition or are deemed to have low credit risk. These assets
generally abide by the contractual credil terms. The ECL is measured using a 12 month PD, which represents the probability
that the financial asset will default within the next 12 months.

. Stage 2 - financial assets with a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition, but are not credit impaired.
The ECL is measured using a lifetime PD.

. Stage 3 — credit impaired financial assets. The ECL is measured using a lifetime PD.

Transfer betwoen stages

Financial assels can be ransferred between lhe different calegories depending on their relative increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Financial instruments are transferred out of stage 2 if their credit risk is no longer considered to be significantly
increased since initial recognition. Financial instruments are transferred oul of stage 3 when they no longer exhibit any evidence
of credit impaimment. This assessment is done on a case-by-case basis.

The Group considers forward looking information in delemmining the PDs of financial assets. Forward looking information having
significant impact on the ECL Is described in further detail under that heading.

Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR})

The Group cansiders a financial asset lo have experienced a significant increase in credit risk when one or more of the following
qualitative or backstop criteria have been met:

Qualitative Criteria
. Deterioration in the Bommower's Risk Rating (BRR) below established threshold
. Material misrepresentation or inaccurate warranty
. Failure to comply with provisions of any statute under which the borrower conducts business
. Borrower enters into a scheme of arangement
. Actual or expected restructuring
. Previous arrears in excess of 60 days within the last six months
. Early signs of cash flowfliquidity problems
. Expected significant adverse change in operating results of the borrower

However, the assessment of significant increase in credit risk and the above criteria will differ for different types of lending
arrangements.

Loan commitments are assessed along with the category of loan the Group is committed to provide.

The assessment of SICR is performed for individual loans, taking inlo consideration the sector grouping of the individual exposures,
and incorporates forward-looking information. This assessment is performed on a quarterly basis.
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3. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(c} Financial risk (continued}
(i) Credit risk {continued)
Loans and Leases (continued)

Significant Increase in Credit Risk {continued}

Backstop

Irrespective of the above qualitative assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual paymenis are more than 30 days past due. The Group has moniloring
procedures in place to assess whether the crileria used lo identify SICR continues to be appropriate.

The Group utilised the low credit risk exemption for financial assets in the year ended 31 December 2018

Credit Impaired Assels
The Group defines a financial instrument as credit impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria:

Quartitative crileria
The borrower Is more than 90 days past due an its contractual payments,

Qualitative criteria
The borrower meels unlikeliness to pay criteria as oullined below, which indicates the borrower is in significant financial difficulty:

. Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (e.g. equity ratio, net income percentage of sales);
. Breach of loan covenants or conditions;

. Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings:

. Deterioration of the borrower's compelitive position; and

. Concessions have been made by the lender relating to the borrower's financial difficulty.

The crileria above have been applied to afl financial instruments held by the Group and are consistent with the definition of ‘credit
impaired’ used for intemal credit risk management purposes.

Measuring the ECL — Inputs, Assumptions and Estimation Techniques
The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD, and EAD, which are multiplied together and discounted back to the reporting

date. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective inlerest rate or an approximation thereof.

The 12 month PD is calculated by observing the rate of historical default within the first year of a portfolio of loans, and adjusted
for the expected impact of forward looking ecanomic information.

The lifelime PD is calculaled by cbserving the rate of historical default over the life of a portfolio of loans, and adjusted for the
impact of forward looking economic informalion.

The EAD for amortising and bullet repayment loans Is based on the contractual repayments over a 12 month or lifelime basis.

The EAD for revolving products, such as credit cards, revolving loans and overdrafis is estimated by taking the current drawn
balance and the expected drawdown of the remaining limit by the time of default. These assumptions vary by product type and
current limit utilization band, based on analysis of the Group's recent default data.

The 12-month and lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors which impact the recoveries made post default. These vary
by product type. Far secured products, this is primarily based on collateral type and projecled collateral values, historical discounts
to market/book values due to forced sales, time to repossession and recovery costs observed.

Forward looking economic information is also included in determining the 12-month and lifetime EAD and LGD.

Forward Looking Information
The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forward-looking information that is available without undue

cost or effort. The Group uses external information including econamic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and
the central bank. The information published however does not cover the Group's credit risk exposure peried and judgement was
applied when incorporating these forecasts into our models. The Group slarted with historical data of approximalely 3 years in
which a relationship between macro-economic indicators and default rates was developed. Judgement was applied in cases
where a strong relalionship between these key economic variables and expected credit losses was not identified based on the
historical data used.
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

{c)

Financial risk (continued)

{i) Credit risk {continued)

Loans and Leases (continued}

Forward Looking Information (continued

These ecaonomic variables and their associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary by financial assel. Forecasts of these
economic variables are reviewed on a quarlerly basis. The impact of these economic variables on the PD, EAD and LGD has
been determined by performing statislical regression analysis to understand the impact changes in these variables have had
historically on default rates and on the components of LGD and EAD.

In addition to the base economic scenario, the Group also assesses other possible scenarios along with scenario weightings. The
Group uses a total of three scenarios for each portfolio of ioans (base, upside, downside). The scenario weightings are determined
using judgment. The base case is the single most-likely expected outcome. The Group measures ECL as a probability weighted
ECL.

As with any economic forecasls, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject (o a high degree of inherent uncertainty
and therefore the aclual outcomes may be significantly different to those projected. The Group considers these forecasts to
represent ils best eslimate of the possible oulcomes and has analysed the non-linearities and asymmetries within the Group's
different portfolios to establish that the chosen scenarios are appropriately representative of the range of possible scenarios.

The most significant period end assumptions used in determining the ECL as at the reporting date are set out below.

Economic factor Scenarios Range

Gross Domestic Product (GDP) Base 0.5%-1.5%
Upside 1.5%-2.5%
Downside 0.0%

Unemployment Rale Base 12% - 14%
Upside 8% - 10%
Downside 13% - 15%

The underlying models and their calibration, including how they react to forward-looking economic conditions was based on how
the relationship of the Group's existing portfolio to these variables and remains subject to review and refinement as the Group
builds data

Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated within the above scenarios, such as the impact of any regulatory,
legislative or polilical changes, have also been considered, but are not deemed to have a material impact and therefore no
adjustment has been made to the ECL for such factors. This is reviewed and monitored for appropriateness on a quarlerly basis.

Sensitivity Analysis
Forward looking indicators having the most significant impact on the ECL are GDP growth and unemployment rale. Set out below

are the changes to the ECL as at 31 December 20118 that would result from reasonably possible changes in these parameters
from the actual assumplions used in the Group's economic variable assumptions.

Forward " Forward

Looking Change in  Effect on ECL Looking Changein Effect on ECL

Indicator basis points: $°000 Indicator basis points: $'000
GDP growih + 100bp 21,968 Unemployment rate + 100bp {13,419)

GDP growih - 100bp (21.968) Unemployment rate - 100bp 13,419
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c)

Financial risk {continued)
(i} Credit risk (continued)

Loans and Leases {continued)

Portfolic Segmentation
Expected credit loss provisions are modelled on a colleclive basis, by grouping exposures on the basis of shared risk

characlerislics, such that risk exposures within a group are homogeneous. In pefomming this grouping, there must be sufficient
information for the group to be stalistically credible. Where sufficient information is not available intemally, the Group has
considered benchmarking intemnal/external supplementary data to use for modelling purposes.

Exposures are grouped according lo product type (term loans, overdrafts, credil cards, revolvers, guarantees and loan
commitments) and industry (for example, manufacturing and distribution, tourism, personal loans).

The appropriateness of groupings is monitored and reviewed on a periodic basis by the Credit Risk team.

Stage 3 loans are assessed on an individual basis for impairment.

Maximum Exposure lo Credit Risk

The Group measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including extension options) over
which it is exposed to credit risk and not a longer period, even if contract extension or renewal is common business praclice.
Hawever, for financial assets such as credit cards, revolving credit facilities and overdraft facilities that include both a loan and an
undrawn commitment component, the Group’s contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does
not limil the Group's exposure to credit losses to the contraclual notice peried. For such financial assets the Group measures ECL
over the period that it s exposed to the credit risk and ECL would not be mitigated by credit risk management actions, even if that
peried extends beyond the maximum contractual period. These financial assels do not have a fixed term or repayment struclure
and have a short contractual cancellation period. However, the Group does not enforce in the normal day-to-day management the
confractual right to cancel these financial assets. This is because these financial assets are managed on a colleclive basis and
are canceled only when the Group becomes aware of an increase in credit risk al the facility level. This longer period is estimated
taking into account the credit risk management actions that the Group expects to take to mitigate ECL..

The grass camrying amount of financial assets below also represents the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk an these assets.
The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial instruments for which an ECL allowance is

recognised. The gross canying amount of finandial assets below also represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credil risk on
these assels.

Group
2018 2017
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Standard risk 19,885,182 2,809,851 - 22,695,033 23,052,496
Past due 1,230,385 2,226,823 - 3,457,208 3,550,834
Credit impaired - - 1,288,858 1,288,858 1,585,287
Gross carrying amount 21,115,567 5,036,674 1,288,858 27,441,099 28,188,617
Loss allowance (241,370) (272.963) (457,209) (971,542) {640,288)
Carrying amount 20,874,197 4,763,711 831,649 26,469,557 27,548,329

Collateral and other credit enhancements
The Group employs a range of policies and praclices to mitigate credit risk. The most common of these is accepting collateral for

funds advanced. The Group has internal policies on the acceptability of specific classas of collateral or credit risk mitigation.

The Group prepares a valuation of the collateral obtained as part of the loan origination process. This assessment is reviewed
periodically. The principal collateral types for loans and advances are:

. Mortgages over residential and commercial properties
. Charges over business assels such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable
. Charges and hypothecations over deposil balances and financial instruments such as debt securilies and equities
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management {Continued)

{c)

Financial risk (continued)

U]

Credit risk (continued)
Loans and Leases (continued)

Collateral and other credit enhancements {continued
The Group also oblains guarantees from parent companies for loans to their subsidiaries and from individual owners for loans to
their companies.

Caollateral held as security for financial assels other than loans and advances depends on the nature of the instrument. Debt
securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured, with the exception of reverse repurchase agreements which
are secured by portfolios of financial instruments.

The Group's paolicies regarding obtaining collateral have not significantly changed during the reporting period and there has been
no significant change in the overall quality of the collateral held by the Group since the prior period. Management monitors the
market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement, and monitors the market
value of collateral held during its annual reviews of individual credit facililies as well as during ils review of lhe adequacy of the
provision for credil losses.

As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of collateral held in respect of credit impaired financial assets is $1,949,028,000.

Loss Allowance
The loss allowance recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors. The following tables explain the changes in the
loss allowance between the beginning and the end of the annual period due to these factors:

Group
2018
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
$'000 £'000 $'000 $'000
At 1 January 243,727 306,305 531,939 1,081,971
Movements with income stalement impact:
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (13,470} 32,286 - 18,816
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (1,685) - 22,437 20,752
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 - (330} - (330)
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (2,398) 12,618 10,220
New financial assels originated 96,030 - - 96,030
Changes in PDs/ALGDs/EADs (26,012) 907 93,742 68,637
Financial assets derecognised during the period (61,881) (5,976} (44,034} {111,891}
Total net income statement charge (7.018) 24,489 84,763 102,234
Other movemenls:
Write-offs - - (212,663) {212,663)
At 31 December 236,709 330,794 404,039 971,542

Loans and leases are written off, in whole or in part, when the Group has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has concluded
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include ceasing
enforcement activity, and where the Group’s recovery method is foreclosing on collateral, and the value of the collateral is such
that there is no reasonable expeciation of recovering in full.

The Group may write off account balances that are still subject the enforcement activity, based on a reasonable expectation of
amounis recoverable. The outstanding conltractual amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 31 December 2018
was $212,663,000.
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3

Insurance and Financlal Risk Management (Continued)

()

Financial risk {continued)
{i} Credit risk (continued)

Loans and Leases, Premium and Trade receivables

The following table summarises the Group's and company's credit exposure for loans and leases, premium and irade receivables
at their carrying amounts, as categorised by the customer sector:

Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $000

Public sector 124,493 624,461 - -
Professional and other services 4,222 647 4,912,337 - -
Personal 10,874,645 10,142,129 98,161 120,978
Agriculture, fishing and mining 895,146 798,016 - -
Construction and real estate 720,660 1,416,054 15,614 25,005
Electricity, gas and water 1,563,480 1,578,671 - -
Distribution 3,390,521 3,347,061 1,129,085 2,976,332
Manufacturing 2,279,239 2,095,016 - -
Transportation 3,037,717 3,103,536 - -
Tourism and entertainment 2,104,036 1,938,084 228,611 196,306
Financial and other money services 911,044 1,448,080 191,349 191,389
Brokers and agents 1,606,196 1,691,442 - -
Reinsurers and coinsurers 791,486 1,830,415 - =
Supermarket chains 2,275,455 2,046,520 376,278 313,796
Wholesalers 1,738,376 1,506,222 344,298 372,972
Retail and direct customers 2,938,835 3,039,363 540,840 438,797
Other 692,578 695,067 154,058 108,723
40,174,554 42,212 474 3,078,294 4,744,298

Loss allowance (1,634,370)  (1,086,977) (63,822) (70,672)
38,540,184 41,125,497 3,014,472 4,673,626

Interest receivable 119,645 212,462 4,373 46,313
38,659,829 41,337,959 3,018,845 4,719,939
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management {Continued)

{c)

Financial risk {continued)
(i} Credit risk (continued}
Debt investments

The Group uses extemal credit ratings as published by established rafing agencies in its assessment of the probability of default
on debt invesiments. The PDs and LGDs for government and corporate bonds have been developed by the rating agencies based
on statistics on the default, loss and rating lransition experience of govemment and corporale bond issuers. The loss allowance
on debt investments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI is measured using lifetime PDs. The credit ratings and associated PDs
are reviewed and updated on quarterly basis.

Based on available credit ratings for sovereign and corporale debts, the debt securities were classified in stage 2 as lhey were
below investment grade as defined by reputable rating agencies.

Maximum exposure to credit risk
The following table summarises the Group's and company's credit exposure for debt invesiments at their carrying amounts, as
categorised by issuer:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'o0C
Government of Jamaica:
At amoriised cost 7,285,868 - 2,500,246 -
At fair value through other comprehensive income 5,589,468 - - -
Available-for-sale securities - 12,944,286 - 2,995,852
Corporate:
At amortised cost 12,131,707 - 1,664,825 -
Available-for-sale securities - 9,472,499 - 1,954,336
Other government:
At amortised cost 434,167 - - -
At fair value through other comprehensive income 430,355 - - -
Available-for-sale securities - 885,415 - -
Bank of Jamaica 9,108,105 9,912,692 - -
Other 2,166,838 2,954,634 1,540,506 1,514,573

37,146,608 36,169,526 5,705,577 6,464,761
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3. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)
{c) Financial risk (continued)
(i) Credit Risk {continued}
Debt Investments (continued)

Debt investments at amortised cost
The loss allowance for debt investments at amortised cost as at 31 December 2017 reconciles lo the opening loss allowance on
1 January 2018 and to the closing loss allowance as at 31 December 2018 as follows:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
:;r::g:rl's u;:?ﬁrtlzt?r?t ;I:;g::sgh opening retained eamings and 182,263 _ 48.421 _
At 1 January 2018 — calculated under IFRS 9 182,263 - 48,421 -
Loss allowance recognised in income statement 24,486 - 1,340 -
At 31 December 206,749 - 49,761 -

Debt investments at FVOCI
The loss allowance for debl investments at FVOCI is recognised in profit or loss and reduces the fair value loss otherwise
recognised in OCI,

The loss allowance for debt investments at FVOCI as at 31 December 2017 reconciles to the opening loss allowance on 1 January
2018 and to the closing loss allowance as at 31 December 2018 as follows:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Amounis restaled through opening retained eamings 90,545 - - -
At 1 January 2018 — calculated under IFRS 9 90,545 - - -
Loss allowance recognised in income statement 16,035 - - -
Unused amounts reversed (19,474) - - -

At 31 Dacember 87,106 5 - .
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

{c)

Financial risk (continued)

(ii} Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group s unable to meet its payment obligalions associated with its financial liabilities when they
fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequence may be the failure to meet obligations to repay deposilors
and fulfil commitments to lend.

Liquidity risk management process

The Group's liquidity management process, as carried out within the Group threugh the ALCOs and treasury departments,
includes:

(i) Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows and the
availability of high grade callateral which could be used to secure funding if required.

{i) Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assels that can easlily be liquidated as protection against any
unforeseen interruption to cash flow;

{iii) Maintaining committed lines of credit;
(iv) Optimising cash returns on investment;

(v) Monitoring statement of financial position liquidity ratios against intemal and regulatory requirements. The most important of
these is to maintain limils on the ratio of nel liquid assets to customer liabilities;

(vi) Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next day, week and month, respeclively,
as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for those projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity
of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the financial assets.

The matching and controlled mismatching of the malurities and interest rates of assets and liabilities are fundamental (o the
management of the Group. It is unusual for companies ever to be completely matched since business transacted is often of
uncertain tenm and of different types. An unmalched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of
loss.

The maturiies of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceplable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as they mature,
are important faclors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c)

Financial risk {continued}

{ii) Liquidity risk (continued)

Financial liabilities cash flows

The table below presents the undiscounted cash flows payable (both interest and principal cash flows) of the Group’s and
company's financial liabilities based on contractual repayment obligations. The Group expects that many customers will nol request
repayment on the earliest date the Group could be required {o pay.

Group
1t03 3to12 1to5 Over Total
Months Months Years § Years
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
As at 31 December 2018:
Deposits 29,082,717 5,339,290 26,982 - 34,448,989
rse‘;‘;“r&"]:: bt 3427312 2,858,951 431,786 843803 7,561,882
Bank and other loans 6,063,238 4,118,811 7,009,534 1,692,650 18,884,293
Trade and other payables 19,863,994 121,256 - - 19,985,250
Total financial liabilities
{contractual dates) 58,437,261 12,438,398 7,468,302 2,536,453 80,880,414
Group
1to 3 3to12 1t 5 Over Total
Months Months Years 5 Years
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
As at 31 December 2017:
Deposilts 28,907,369 4,717,593 7.572 - 33,632,534
e s Rt b 2,767,417 - 1123018 - 3890435
Bank and other loans 6,441,014 4,559,816 5,828,619 733,385 17,562,834
Trade and other payables 17,762,670 1,603,825 - - 19,366,495
Total financial liabilities
{contractual dates) 55,878,470 10,881,234 6,959,209 733,385 74,452,298
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management {Continued)

{c)

Financial risk {continued)
(ii) Liquidity risk {continued}

Financial liabilities cash flows (continued)

Company
1to 3 3to12 1to5 Over Total
Months Months Years 5 Years
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
As at 31 December 2018:
Bank and other loans 2,407,024 2,372,237 1,458,056 213,180 6,450,497
Trade and other payables 3,558,129 - - - 3,558,129
Subsidiaries 3,027,509 - - - 3,027,509
Total financial liabilities
(contractual dates) 8,902,662 2,372,237 1,458,056 213,180 13,036,135
Company
fto3 Jto12 1to§ Over Total
Months Months Years 5 Years
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
As at 31 December 2017:
Bank and other loans 884,789 1,942,958 1,608,014 112,170 4,547,931
Trade and other payables 2,544,670 - - - 2,544,670
Subsidiaries 3,403,955 - - - 3,403,955
Total financial liabilities
{contractual dates} 6,833,414 1,942,958 1,608,014 112,170 10,496,556

The assels available to meet all of the liabilities and to cover outstanding loan commitments include: cash, Ceniral Bank balances,
items in the course of collection, investmenl securilies and other eligible bills, loans and advances to banks, and loans and
advances to customers. In the normal course of business, a proportion of customer loans contractually repayable within one year
will be extended. In addition, debt securities and treasury and other bills have been pledged to secure liabiiities. The Group is also
able to meet unexpected net cash outflows by selling securities and accessing additional funding sources from other financing
institutions. The Group and the company have the following undrawn commitied borrowing facilities:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Floating rate —
Expiring within one year 9,781,765 9,860,401 5,008,867 6,032,827

The facilities expiring within one year are annual facililies subject to review at various dates during the subsequent year. The
other facilities have bean arranged lo help finance the Group’s activities.
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management {Continued)

{c)

Financial risk (continued)
(ii} Liquidity risk (continued)

Off-statement of financial position items

‘The table below shows the contractual expiry periods of the Group’s contingent liabilities and commitments.

Group
No Later Than 1to5 Qver 5§

1 Year Years Years Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

As at 31 December 2018:
Loan commitmenis 539,114 - - 539,114
Guarantees, acceptances and other financial facililies 242,112 - - 242,112
Capital commitmenls 452,651 - - 452,651
Qperating lease commitments 1,366,102 3,314,111 1,517,061 6,197,274
2,599,879 3314111 1,517,081 7,431,151

As at 31 December 2017:
Loan commitments 1,443,956 - - 1,443,956
Guaranlees, acceplances and other financial facilities 267,678 - - 267,678
Capital commitments 2,126,181 - - 2,126,181
Operaling lease commitments 1,403,165 3,525,894 1,258,585 6,187,644
5,240,980 3,525,894 1,258,585 10,025,459

(iii} Market risk

The Group takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks mainly arise from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and
interest rates. Market risk is monilored by the research and treasury departments which carry out extensive research and monitar
{he price movement of financial assets on the local and international markets. Market risk exposures are measured using
sensilivity analysis.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk thal the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrumant will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates.

The Group operates intemationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the US dollar, the Canadian dollar, UK pound and the Euro.

Foreign exchange risk arises from fulure commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net invesiments in foreign
operations.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by ensuring that the net exposure in foreign assets and liabililies is kept to an
acceptable fevel by monitoring currency positions. The Group further manages this risk by maximising foreign currency eamings
and holding foreign currency balances.

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency transtation risk.
Currency exposure arising from the net assets of the Group's foreign operations is managed primarily through borrowings
denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management {Continued}

(c)

Financial risk (continued)
(iii) Market risk {continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Concentrations of currency risk

The table below summarises the Group and company exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 December.

Group
Jamaican$ uss GBP CANS EURO Other Total
J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000
As at 31 December 2018:
Financial Assets
Cash and deposits 9,507,403 3,648,943 435,992 120,079 56,317 1,056,065 14,824,799
Investment securities and
pledged assels 13,421,965 24,208,017 43,019 16,012 - 503,655 38,192,668
Trade and other receivables 4,880,376 3,974,430 1,859,742 443,619 83,755 948,350 12,190,272
Loans receivable 19,989,473 6,475,946 - 16 - 4,122 26,469,557
Total financial assets 47,799,217 38,307,336 2,338,753 579,726 140,072 2,512,192 91,677,296
Financial Liabllities
Deposits 17,333,678 16,629,359 281,049 85,570 41,370 - 34,371,026
Securities sold under
agreements to repurchase 2,407,114 4,801,223 - - - - 7.208,337
Bank and other loans 9,084,375 6,431,639 480,205 422,388 - 110,706 16,529,313
Trade and other payables 10,600,750 5,525,639 2,034,818 659,688 266,751 B97,604 19,985,250
Total financial liabilities 39,425,917 33,387,860 2,796,072 1,167,646 308,121 1,008,310 78,093,926
Net financial position 8,373.300 4,919,476 (457.319)  (587,920) (168,049) 1,503,882 13,583,370
Group
Jamaican$ uss GBP CANS EURO Other Total
J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000

As at 31 December 2017:
Financial Asseis
Cash and deposits 6,372,877 4,261,822 408,957 105,791 76,570 858,228 12,084,245
Investment securities and
pledged assets 12,327,152 23,904,163 44,731 12,369 - 491,926 36,780,341
Trade and olher receivables 4,842 197 5,061,631 1,667,148 479,965 223,030 1,515,658 13,789,630
Loans receivable 20,678,545 6,865,060 - - - 4,724 27,548,329
Total financial assets 44,220,771 40,092,676 2,120,837 598,125 299.600 2,870,536 90,202,545
Financial Liabilities
Deposits 16,352,761 16,762,672 276,535 85,567 52,988 - 33,530,523
Securities sold under
agreements to repurchase 1,746,757 2,045,963 - - - - 3,792,720
Bank and other loans 7,303,113 8,104,344 861,183 170,857 - 76,018 16,515,615
Trade and other payables 7,142,533 7,898,384 1,887,841 582,707 186,627 1,668,403 19,366,495
Total financial liabilities 32,545,164 34,811,363 3,025,558 839,231 239615 1,744,421 73,205,353
Net financial position 11,675,607 5,281,313 (904,722)  {241,106) 659,985 1,126,115 16,997,192




GraceKennedy Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2018
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 53

3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c)

Financial risk {continued)
(iil) Market risk (continued)

Currency risk {continued)

Concentrations of cumency risk (continued)

Company
Jamaican$ uss GBP CANS EURO Other Total
J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 Js'ooo J$'000 J$'000 J$'000
As at 31 December 2018:
Financial Assets
Cash and deposits 2,925,099 1,035,886 - - - - 3,960,985
Invastment securities 1,748,011 3,999,471 - - - - 5,747,482
Trade and other receivables 1,556,870 27,009 - - - - 1,583,879
Subsidiaries 1,282,464 579,417 3,659 1,600 - - 1,867,140
Loans receivable 1,434,966 - S - - - 1,434,966
Total financial assets 8,947,410 65,641,783 3,659 1,600 - - 14,594,452
Financial Liabilities
Bank and other loans 4,247,126 1,867,215 - - - - 6114341
Trade and other payables 2,643,013 911,372 344 479 2,921 - 3,558,129
Subsidiaries 2,945,449 80,982 1,078 s - - 3,027,509
Total financial liabilities 9,835,588 2,859,569 1.422 479 2,921 - 12,699,979
Net financial position (888,178) 2,782,214 2,237 1,121 (2.921) - 1,894,473
Company
Jamaican$ uss GBP CANS EURO Other Total
J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J§'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000
As at 31 December 2017:
Financial Assels
Cash and depaosits 1,434,333 504,851 = - - 5,267 1,944,451
Investment securities 2,578,496 3,935,102 - - - - 6,513,598
Trade and other receivables 1,336,610 24,023 - = - - 1,360,633
Subsidiaries 888,062 175,310 = - - - 1,063,372
Loans receivable 1,520,015 1,839,291 - - - - 3,359,306
Total financial assets 7,757,516 6,478,577 - - - 5267 14,241,360
Financial Liabilities
Bank and other loans 2,008,673 2,044,595 - - - - 4,053,268
Trade and other payables 1,778,631 765,674 365 - - - 2,544,670
Subsidiaries 2,577.600 817,557 2,211 3.003 3,584 - 3,403,955
Total financial liabilities 6,364,904 3,627,826 2,576 3.003 3,584 - 10,001,893
Net financial position 1,392,612 2,850,751 (2.576) (3,003) (3.584) 5,267 4,239,467
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c)

Financia! risk (continued)

(iii) Market risk (continued)
Currency risk {continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following lables indicate the cumrencies ta which the Group and company had significant exposure on its monetary assels and
liabilities and its forecast cash flows. The change in currency rates below represents management's assessment of the possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis represents the changes in camying amounts of outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 4% increase (2017: 4%) and a 2%
decrease (2017: 2%) In foreign currency rates to armive at the comresponding impact on profit.  The sensitivity analysis includes
cash and deposits, investment securities, recelvables, loans receivable, deposits, securities sold under agreements lo repurchase,
bank and other loans, and payables. The correlation of variables will have a significant effect in determining the ultimate impact
on markel risk, but to demonstrate the impact due lo changes in variables, variables had to be assessed on an individual basis.

Group

Effect on Effect on

% Change in  Profit before % Change in  Profit before

Currency Rate Taxation Currency Rate Taxation

2018 2017

2018 $£'000 2017 $'000

Currency:

usb +4% 196,700 +4% 199,229

GBP +4%: 602 +4% 934

CAN +4% 2,040 +4% 1,179

EURO +4% (43} +4% 64
usD -2% (98,350) 2% {99,614)
GBP 2% (301) -2% (467)
CAN 2% (1.020) -2% (590)
EURO 2% 22 -2% (32)

Company

Effect on Effect on

% Change in  Profit before % Change in  Profit before

Currency Rate Taxation Currency Rate Taxation

2018 2017

2018 $'000 2017 $'000

Currency:

uso +4% 113,512 +4% 115,662
GBP +4% 80 +4% {103)
CAN +4% a8 +4% {120)
EURO +4% (121} +4% {140)
usD -2% (56,756) 2% (57,831)

GBP 2% (40} 2% 51

CAN 2% {19} -2% 60

EURO -2% 61 -2% 70
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c)

Financial risk {continued)

(ili) Market risk {continued)

interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate becausa of changes in markel

interest rates.

Floating rate instruments expose the Group io cash flow inlerest risk, whereas fixed rate instruments expose the Group to fair

value interest risk.

The Group manages interest rale risk by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rale instruments and also manages
the maturities of interest bearing financial assets and fabilities. The respective boards within the Group set limits on the level of
mismaich of interest rate repricing that may be underiaken, which is monitored by the ALCOs and Investment Committees.

The following tables summarise the Group‘s and the company's exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the Group and company
financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of conlractual repricing or maturity dates.

Group
Within 1 1to3 3012 1to 5 QOver Non-rate
Month Months Months Years 5 Years Sensitive Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At 31 December 2018:
Assels
Cash and deposils 5,447,400 2,609,520 - - - 6,767,879 14,824,739
Investment securities
and pledged assets 3,837,060 1,768,998 5,613,528 10,549,389 10,250,316 6,173,377 38,192,668
Loans receivable 2,409,938 311,166 1,141,652 8,717,882 13,781,247 107,672 26,469,557
Trade and other
receivables - - - - - 12,190,272 12,190,272
Total financial assets 11,694,398 4,689,684 6,755,180 19,267,271  24.031,563 25,239,200 91,677,296
Liabilities
Deposits 24,404,588 4,654,285 5,285,838 26,315 - - 34,371,026
Securities sold under
agreements to
repurchase 3,332,317 93,081 2,767,632 397,826 617,481 - 7,208,337
Bank loans 3,729,014 2,850,925 4,838,263 3,748,017 1,363,094 - 16,529,313
Trade payables - - - - - 19985250 19,985,250
Total financial liabilites 31,465,919 7,698,291 12,891,733 4,172,158 1,980,575 19,985,250 78,093,926
Total interest
repricing gap (19,771,521)  (2,908,607) (6,136.553) 15,085,113 22,050,988 5,253,950 13,583,370
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3. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)
{c} Financial risk {continued)
{iil) Market risk (continued)

interest rate risk (continued)
Group
Within 1 1to 3 3to12 1to5 QOver Non-rate
Month Mconths Months Years 5 Years Sensitive Total
$'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At 31 December 2017:
Assets
Cash and deposils 4,593,987 1,060,369 - - - 6,429,888 12,084,245
{nvestment securities
and pledged assets 3,753,642 3,014,131 6,113,348 7,504,049 10,445,646 5,949,525 36,780,341
Loans receivable 230,696 2,956,959 1,992,321 8,769,984 13,468,069 130,300 27,548,329
Trade and other
receivables - - - - - 13,789,630 13,789.630
Total financial assets 8,578,325 7.031,459 8,105,669 16,274,033 23,913,715 26,209,344 90,202,545
Liabilities
Deposits 22,215,453 6,651,516 4,656,186 7,368 - - 33,530,523
Securities sold under
agreements lo
repurchase 2,627,377 135,503 - 1,029,840 - - 3,792,720
Bank loans 5,463,855 3,152,184 4,661,854 2,877,712 360,010 - 16,515,615
Trade payables - - - - - 19,366,495 19,366,495

Total financial liabililes __30,306.685 9,938,203 9,318,040 3,914,920 360,010 19,366,495 73,205,353

Total interest
repricing gap (21,728,360}  (2,907,744) {1,212,371) 12,359,113 23,553,705 6,932,849 16,997,192
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3. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(c} Financial risk {continued}
{iii) Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Company
Within 1 1to 3 3to 12 1to 5 Over Non-rate
Month Months Months Years 5 Years Sensitlve Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At 31 December 2018:
Assets
Cash and deposils 575,242 2,428,990 - - - 956,753 3,960,985
Investment securities - 568,000 1,236,062 1,946,188 1,955,328 41,904 5,747,482
Loans receivable - 495,722 825,469 15,614 - 98,161 1,434,966
Trade and other
receivables - - - - - 1,583,879 1,683,879
Subsidiaries - - - - - 1,867,140 1,867,140
Total financial assets 575,242 3,492,712 2,061,531 1,961,802 1,955,328 4,547,837 14,594,452
Liabilities
Bank loans 2,252,259 891,313 2,970,769 - - - 6,114,341
Trade payables - - - - - 3,558,129 3,558,129
Subsidiaries - - - - - 3,027,509 3,027,509
Tolal financial liabilities 2,252,259 891,313 2,970,769 - - 6,585,638 12,699,979
Total interest repricing
gap (1,677,017) 2,601,399 (909,238) 1,961,802 1,955,328  (2.037.801) 1,894,473
Company
Within 1 1to 3 3to12 1to5 Over Non-rate
Month Months Maonths Years 5 Years Sensitive Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At 31 December 2017:
Assets
Cash and deposits 202,184 766,901 - - - 975,366 1,944,451
Investment securities - 847,000 1,633,761 1,690,978 2,293,024 48,835 6,513,558
Loans receivable - 313,372 1,659,863 582,943 - 803,128 3,359,306
Trade and other
receivables - - - - - 1,360,633 1,360,633
Subsidiaries - - - - - 1,083,372 1,063,372
Total financial assets 202,184 1,927,273 3,293,624 2,273,921 2,293,024 4,251,334 14,241,360
Liabilities
Bank loans 759,275 1,128,910 2,165,083 - - - 4,053,268
‘Trade payables - - - - - 2,544,670 2,544 670
Subsidiaries - - - - - 3,403,955 3,403,955
Total financial liabilities 758,275 1,128,910 2,165,083 - - 5,948,625 10,001,893

Total interest repricing
gap (557,091) 798,363 1,128,541 2,273,921 2,293,024  {1.697,291) 4,239,467
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

{c)

Financial risk (continued)

(iiY) Market risk {continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity

The following table indicates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
on the Group's and company's income statement and equity.

The Group's interest rate risk arises from investment securities, loans receivable, customers’ deposils, securities sold under
repurchase agreemenis and borrowings. The sensitivity of the profil or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates
on net income based on floating rale financial assets and floating rale liabilities. The sensitivity of equity is calculated by revaluing
fixed rate available-for-sale financial assets for the effects of the assumed changes in interest rates combined with the effect on
net profit. The correlation of variables will have a significant effect in determining the ultimate impact on market risk, but to
demonstrate the impact, each variable has to be evaluated on an individual basis.

Group

Effect on Effect on

Effect on Other Effect on Other

Change in Profit before Components Change in Profit before Components

basis points: Taxation of Equity basis points: Taxation of Equity

2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017

JMD /USD $'000 $'000 JMD /USD $'000 $'000

-100 /-100 164,837 464,956 -100/-50 44,004 233,261
+100 / +100 {164,837) {384,777) +100 / +50 (44,004) {196,323)

Company

Effect on Effect on

Effect on Other Effect on Other

Change in Profit before Components Change in Profit before Components
basis points: Taxation of Equity basis points: Taxation of Equity

2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017

JMD /USD $'000 $'000 JMD / USD $'000 $'000

-100/-100 13,526 - -100/-50 3,929 53,842
+100 / +100 (13,526) - +100/ +50 (3,929) (51,943}

Price Risk

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in markel prices, whether those
changes are caused by factors specific lo the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the
market. The Group is exposed to equity price risk because of equity investments held and classified on the statement of financial
position as either available for sale or at fair value through profit or loss. The Group manages its price risk by trading these
instruments when appropriale to reduce the impact of any adverse price fluctuations.

The impact of a 10% (2017: 15%) change in the quoted prices for these equities would be an increase or decrease in the canrying
value of $46,321,000 (2017: $3,802,000) in income and $57,707,000 {(2017: $86,954,000} in cther comprehensive income.
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

{d)

Capital management

Insurance subsidiaries

The insurance subsidiaries’ objeclives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of the statement
of financial position, are:

(i) To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the insurance markels within which the companies operale;

(i) To safeguard their ability to continue as going concems so that they can continue to provide returns for stockholders and benefits
for other stakeholders; and

(i) To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of business.

Capital adequacy is managed and monitored at the insurance subsidiaries’ level by management, the Audit Commitiee and the Board
of Directors. In addition, the companies seek to maintain internal capital adequacy at levels higher than the minimurn level of regulatory
capital required.

The primary measure used lo assess capital adequacy for the Jamaican based general insurance subsidiary is the Minimum Capital
Test (MCT). This information is required to be filed with the Financial Services Commission (FSC) on an annual basis. The minimum
standard recommended by the regulators for companies is a MCT of 250% (2017: 250%).

The banking and invesiment subsidiaries

The banking and investment subsidiaries’ objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face
of the statement of financial position, are:

(i) To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulatars of the banking and investment markets where the entities within
the Group operate;

(i) To safeguard their ability to continue as going concems so that they can continue to provide returns for stockholders and
benefits for other stakeholders; and

(iiy  To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored monthly by management and the required information is filed monthly
with the Bank of Jamaica (80OJ) and the FSC.

The BOJ requires the banking entity to:

(i) Hold the minimum level of regulatory capital as a percentage of total assets of 8%; and
(i) Maintain a ratio of lotal regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets at or above 10%.

The F5C requires the investment services entity to:

(i) Hold the minimum level of regulatory capital as a percenlage of lotal assets of 6%; and
(i) Maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets at or above 10%.

The regulatory capital as managed by the subsidiaries’ ALCOs Is divided inlo two tiers:

(i) Tier 1 capital: share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained eamings. The book value of
goodwill and negative fair value reserves are deducted in arriving at Tier 1 capital; and

{i}  Tier 2 capital: general provisions for loan losses on assets limited to 1.25% of risk-weighled assets.

Risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of risk weights classified according to the nature of and reflecting an
estimale of credit, market and other risks associated with each asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or
guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for off-statement of financial position exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more
conlingent nature of the potential losses.

The Group complied with the regulatory capital requirements to which it is subjecled.
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3.

Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(d)

Capital management (continued)

Companies not requiring external regulatory capital requirements

The Group's objectives when managing capilal are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a geing concem in order {o provide
refurns for owners and benefils for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capilal structure to reduce the cost of capital. The
Board of Directors monitors the return on eguity, which the Group defines as net profit altributable to owners of the company divided
by total owners’ equity, excluding non-controlling interests. The Board of Directors also monilors the level of dividends to equity owners.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt to equity ratio. This ratio is calculaled as debt divided by owners' equily. Debt is
calculaled as lotal borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. Owners' equity is calculated as capital and

reserves attributable to the company's owners as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

During 2018, the Group's strategy, which was unchanged from 2017, was to maintain a debt to equity ratio not exceeding 100%. The

debt to equily ratios at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

Group
2018 2017
$°000 £'000
Tolal borrowings (Note 15) 16,529,313 16,515,615
Owners'’ equity 44,614,427 45,222,812
Gearing ratio 37.0% 36.5%

There were no changes lo the Group's approach to capital management during the year.

The parent company complied wilh all externally imposed capital requirements to which it is subjected.
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4.

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

Judgements and estimales are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are befieved to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions conceming the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the
related actual results. The eslimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the camying amounts of
assels and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

M

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy staled in
Note 2 (g). The assessment of goodwill impairment involves the determination of the value in use. Determination of value in use involves
the estimation of future cash flows from the business taking into consideration the growth rates, inflation rates and the discount rates. Any
changes in these vanables would impact the value in use calculations. A 1% increase in the discount rate would result in a reduction in
the value in use by $2,467,570,000, which would not result in an impaiment of goodwill.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant jJudgement is required in determining the worldwide provision
for income taxes. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipaled tax audit issues based on estimales of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounis that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. The Group has recognised deferred tax
assets on tax losses camied forward as it anticipates making future taxable income to offset thase losses.

Pension plan assets and post-employment obligations

The cost of these benefits and the present value of the pension and the other post-employment liabilities depend on a number of
factors that are determined on an acluarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net periodic
cost (income) for pension and post-employment benefils include the expected long-term rate of retum on the relevant plan assets, the
discount rate and, in the case of the post-employment medical benefits, the expected rate of increase in medical costs. Any changes
in these assumptions will impact the net periodic cost {income} recorded for pension and post-employment benefits and may affect
planned funding of the pension plans. The expected retum on plan assets assumption is determined on a uniform basis, considering
long-term historical returns, asset allocation and fulure estimates of long-term investment retums. The appropriate discount rate is
determined at the end of each year, which represents the interest rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated
future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the pension and post-employment benefit obligations. In determining the
appropriate discount rate, the interest rate of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits
will be paid are considered, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. The expected rate
of increase of medical costs has been determined by comparing the historical relationship of the actual medical cost increases with
the rate of inflation in the respective economies. Other key assumptions for the pension and post-employment benefits cast and credits
ara based in part on current market conditions.

Liabilittes arising from claims made under insurance contracts

The detemination of the liabilities under insurance contracts represents the lability for future claims payable by the insurance
subsidiaries based on contracts for the insurance business in force at the statement of financial position date using several methods,
including the Paid Loss Development method, the Incured Loss Development method, the Bomhuetter-Ferguson Paid Loss method,
the Bomhuetter-Ferguson Incurred Loss method and the Frequency-Severity method. These liabilities reprasent the amount of future
premiums that will, in the opinion of the actuary, be sufficient to pay future claims refating to contracts of insurance in force, as well as
meet the other expenses incurred in connection with such contracts. A margin for risk or uncertainty (adverse deviations) in these
assumptions is added to the liability. The assumptions are examined each year in order to determine their validity in light of cumrent
best estimates or to reflect emerging trends in the insurance subsidiaries’ experience.

Claims are analysed separately between those arising from damage to insured property and cansequential losses. Claims arising from
damage to insured praperty can be estimated with greater reliability, and the insurance subsidiaries’ estimation processes reflect all
the factors that influence the amount and timing of cash flows from these contracts. The shorter setlement period for these claims
allows the insurance subsidiaries to achieve a higher degree of certainty about the estimated cost of claims, and relatively little IBNR
is held at year-end. However, the longer time needed lo assess the emergence of claims arising from consequential losses makes the
estimalion process more uncertain for these claims.
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4.

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the statement of financial position at market value. The Group uses independent qualified property
appraisers to value its investment properties annually, generally using the income approach. This approach takes inlo consideration
various assumplions and factors including; the level of current and future occupancy, the rate of annual rent increases, the rate of
inflation of direct expenses, the appropriate discount rale, and the cument condition of the properties together with an estimate of
future maintenance and capital expenditures. Reference is also made to recent comparable sales. A change in any of these
assumplions and factors could have a significant impact on the valuation of investment properties.

Land and buildings

Freshald land and buildings are camried in the statement of financial position at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised
in ‘capital and fair value reserve' thraugh other comprehensive income. The Group uses independent qualified property appraisers
to value its tand and buildings bi-annually. Those fair values were derived using:

e The sales comparison approach, which references market-based evidence, using comparable prices adjusted for specific market
factors such as nalure, location and condition of the property. The most significant input into this valuation approach is price per
square fool. Significant increases (decreases) in estimated price per square foot in isolation would result in a significantly higher
(lower) fair value.

s  The cost approach using observabie inpuls. The extermnal valuers have determined these inputs based on the size, age and
condition of the land and buildings and the state of the economy.

Fair value of financial instruments

In the absence of quoted market prices, the fair values of a significant portion of the Group’s financial instruments were detemined
using generally accepted alternalive methods. The values derived from applying these methods are significantly affecled by the
underlying assumptions used conceming both the amounls and timing of future cash flows and the discount rates. Considerable
judgement is required in interprating market data to amive at estimates of fair values. Consequently, the estimales arrived al may be
significantly different from the actual price of the instruments in an arm’s length transaction.

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amoriised cost and FVOCI requires the use
of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour such as the likelihood of
customers defaulting and the resulting losses.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

e  Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk

» Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL

»  Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios

»  Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purpose of measuring ECL

Further details about judgements and estimates made by the Group in the above areas is sel out in Notes 2 (h) and 3 (c) (i).

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The Group determines the identifiable assets and liabilities
using the Purchase Price Allocation method. Under this method, the Group makes estimates about future cash flows which are derived
based on factors such as revenue growth, fulure margins, attrition rates, and discount rates in determining the fair values of the
identifiable intangible assets. A similar approach to determine the identifiable assels and Habilities is used for associates and joint
ventures.
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5. Cash and Deposits

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cash at bank and in hand 10,650,785 9,761,362 1,531,995 1,177,550
Deposits 4,174,014 2,322,883 2,428,990 766,901

14,824,799 12,084,245 3,960,985 1,944,451

Included in deposits is interest receivable of $14,413,000 (2017: $7,124,000) and $12,919,000 (2017: $4,027,000) for the Group and company,
respectively. The weighted average effective inlerest rate on deposits was 2.46% (2017: 3.71%) and 4.17% (2017: 4.17%) for the Group and
company, respectively, and these deposits have an average maturity of under 3 months.

For the purpases of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cash at bank and in hand 10,650,785 9,761,362 1,531,995 1,177,550
Deposils 4,174,014 2,322,883 2,428,990 766,901
14,824,799 12,084,245 3,960,985 1,944,451
Bank overdrafis {Note 15) (2,546,601) (2.681,950) (1.521,391) (30,825}

12,278,198 9,402,295 2,439,594 1,913,626
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6. Investment Securities and Pledged Assets

{(a) Investment securities

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'00C
At amortised cost:
Bank of Jamaica 9,108,105 - - -
Govemment of Jamaica securities 7,285,868 - 2,500,246 -
Foreign government securities 434,167 - - -
Corporate bonds 12,131,707 - 1,664,825 -
Other debt securities 2,166,938 - 1,540,506 -
Other 5,355 - 335 -
31,132,140 - 5,705,912 -
At fair value through other comprehensive income:
Quoted equilies 577,070 - 41,570 -
Government of Jamaica securilies 5,589,468 - - -
Foreign government securities 430,355 - - S
Other 424 - - -
6,597,217 - 41,570 -
Previously classified as available-for-sale:
Quoted equities - 579,692 - 48,502
Bank of Jamaica - 9,912,692 - -
Government of Jamaica securities - 12,944,286 - 2,995,852
Foreign govemment securities - 885,415 - -
Corporale bonds - 9,472,499 - 1,954,336
Other debt securilies - 2,954,634 - 1,514,573
Cther - 5,779 - 335
- 36,754,997 - 6,513,598
Al fair value through profit or loss:
Quoted equities 463,211 25,344 - -
463,211 25,344 - -
Total 38,192,668 36,780,341 5,747,482 6,513,598
Less: Pledged assets {Note 6b}) (9,931,362) (4,927,305) - -
Investment securilies in the statement of financial position 28,261,206 31,853,036 5,747,482 6,513,598

The change in classification of invesiment securities between 2017 and 2018 is based on the adoption of IFRS 9 as disclosed in Note 40.

Included in investment securities is interest receivable of $496,680,000 (2017: $471,149,000) and $96,800,000 (2017: $92,605,000) for the
Group and the company respectively.

Included in Government of Jamaica securities are instruments which mature between 3 months and 12 months or which the Group intends to
realise within 12 months and have an effeclive interest rate of 4.73% (2017; 5,10%) and 2.25% (2017: 3.03%) for the Group and the company
respectively.

Included in Bank of Jamaica securities is $5,035,909,000 (2017: $5,338,710,000) held at the Bank of Jamaica under Seclion 14(1) of the
Banking Act, 1992, representing the required ratio of 12% (2017: 12%]} for Jamaican dollar cash reserves and 15% (2017 15%) for United
States dollar cash reserves of the banking subsidiary's prescribed liabilities. 1t is not available for investment, lending or other use by the
Group or the banking subsidiary.

Included in invesiment securities for the Group is $10,106,882,000 (2017: $10,570,440,000) and company $3,279,050,000 (2017:
$1,564,603,000) which malures within the next 12 months.
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Invesiment Securities and Pledged Assets (Continued)
{b) Pledged asssls

Assets are pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements with other financial institutions and for security relating to overdraft and other
facilities with ather financial inslitutions and the Bank of Jamaica.

Group
Asset Related Liability
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Total in the statement of financial position {(Note 6a) 9,931,362 4,927,305 9,595,774 4,772,630

There were no pledged assets in relation to the company.

Of the assets pledged as security, the following represents the total for those assets pledged for which the transferee has the right by contract
or custom to sell or repledge the collateral.

Group
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Pledged asseals with right to sell or repledge 9,931,362 4,927,305

{c} Investments in financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income

The Group has designated at FVOCI investments in a portfolio of equity securities issued by the following exchanges:
« Jamaica Stock Exchange
s  Trinidad & Tobago Stock Exchange

The Group chose this presentation alternalive because the investments were made for strategic purposes rather than with a view to profit on
a subsequent sale, and there are no plans to dispose of these investments in the short or medium term.

The fair value of these investments is $577,070,000 and $41,570,000 for the Group and company respectively as at 31 December 2018,
Dividends of $16,217,000 and $942,000 were recognised during the year for the Group and company respectively. There were no transfers
of the cumulative gain within equity during the year.

For debt investments at FVOCI, the Group recognised net gains of $166,199,000 in the income statement during the year, being reclassified
from other comprehensive income on sale.
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7. Receivables

Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Trade receivables, less provision for impairment 8,339,881 9,307,666 1,534,125 1,334,718
Insurance receivables, less provision for impairment 2,035,809 2,985,224 - -
Reinsurers' portion of uneamed premiums 1,340,082 1,153,637 - -
Deferred policy acquisition cosls 269,803 238,750 - -
Receivable from associates and joint ventures (Note 34e) 29,591 14,122 17.465 3,168
Prepaymenls 1,426,266 666,550 370,136 73,812
Other receivables 1,784,991 1,482,618 32,289 22,747
15,226,423 15,848,567 1,954,015 1,434,445

The fair values of trade and other receivables approximate camrying values. All receivable balances are due within the next 12 months.

8. Inventories
Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Raw materials and spares 814,284 661,089 - -
Finished goods 2,614,250 2,198,264 - -
Merchandise 7,335,388 6,907,589 1,842,839 1,951,038
Goods in transit 2,020,139 1,486,198 1,076,012 570,096
12,784,061 11,253,140 3,018,851 2,521,134

The inventory write-down recognised as an expense amounted lo $287,380,000 (2017: $319,178,000) and $157,115,000 (2017:

$144,799,000) for the Group and the company respectively.

9, Loans Receivable
(a) Loans receivable comprise:

Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'000 $'000 £'000 $'000

Finance leases, less deferred profit 104,085 301,425 - -
Loans and receivables:

Loans to subsidiaries (Note 34e) - - 1,336,805 3,238,328

Loans to others 26,365,472 27,246,904 98,161 120,978

26,469,557 27,548,329 1,434,966 3,359,306

Loans receivable are due within 10 years from the statement of financial position date.

Included in loans receivable is inlerest receivable of $119,645,000 (2017: $212,462,000) and $4,373,000 (2017: $46,313,000) for the Group

and company, respeclively.

Included in loans receivable is $3,829,627,000 (2017: $5,517,889,000) and $645,216,000 (2017: $908,872,000) which matures in the next

12 months for the Group and the company respectively,
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9, Loans Receivable (Continued)
{(b) Finance lease receivablas:

Group

2018 2017

$'000 $'000
Gross receivables from finance leases:
Not later than 1 year 94,333 195,317
Later than 1 year and nat later than 5 years 19,007 153,513

113,340 348,830

Uneamed future finance income on finance leases (9,255) (47,405)
Net investment in finance leases 104,085 301,425
The net invesiment in finance leases is analysed as follows:
Not later than 1 year 87,384 165,445
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 16,701 135,980

Total 104,085 301,425
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10.

Invesiments in Associates and Joint Ventures

Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Al beginning of year 1,798,220 1,743,984 49,698 49,698
Amounts restated through opening retained eamings {47,732) - - -
Amounts recognised in the income statement 490,873 484,972 - -
Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income 45,622 (19,467) - -
Dividends paid {293,647) (338,482) - -
Additions 971,505 - 525,000 -
Disposal - {72,787) - -
Amounts recognised in the statement of financial posilion 2,964,841 1,798,220 574,608 49,698

Group

2018 2017

$'000 $'000

Dairy Industries {Jamaica) Limited 1,050,390 933,140
CSGK Finance Holdings Limited 972,139 854,947
Catherine's Peak Bottling Company Limited 520,694 -
GKMusson Limited 197,397 -
Immaterial asscciated companies 216,221 10,133
Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position 2,964,841 1,798,220

On 8 May 2017, the Group disposed of ils 30.0% interest in Trident Insurance Company Limited, a general insurance underwriter, operating
in Barbados. The net proceeds amounted to $55,506,000 and the Group recorded a gain of $6,540,000 on the sale.

Dairy Industries (Jamaica) Limited (DIJL), CSGK Finance Holdings Limited (CSGK), Catherine's Peak Botlling Company Limited (CPBC), and
GKMusson Limited (GKM) in the opinion of the directors, are material to the Group.

DIJL has share capilal consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are partially owned by the Group and held direcily by the parent company.
The Group owns 50% of the share capilal in DIJL. DIJL is one of the main manufacturers of dairy products such as cheese and yogurl, within
Jamaica; and sells its products mainly through distributors including to companies within the Group.

CSGK has share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held indireclly by the parent company through a banking and
investment subsidiary. The Group owns 40% of the share capital in CSGK. CSGK is a finance company whose principal activities, through
its wholly owned subsidiary Signia Financial Group Inc., are the provision of tenn finance, motor vehicle leasing, acceptance of deposils,
foreign exchange dealing and stock broking.

CPBC has share capilal consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are partially owned by the Group and held directly by the parent company.
The Group owns 35% of the share capital in CPBC. CPBC is one of the main bottlers of spring water within Jamaica; and sells its producls
mainly through distributors including to companies within the Group.

GKM has share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held indirectly by the parent company through a banking and investment
subsidiary. The Group owns 50% of lhe share capital in GKM. GKM is a company formed to explore business opportunities in the financial
services sector.

DIJL, CSGK, CPBC and GKM are private companies and there is no quoted market price available for the shares.

There are no contingent liabilities relaling to the Group's interest in DIJL, CSGK, CPBC and GKM and the Group's other associates.
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10.

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures {Continued)

The summarised information for DIJL, CSGK, CPBC and GKM that was accounted for using the equity method for the years ended 31

December 2018 and 31 December 2017 is as follows:

Summarised statement of financial position

Dairy Industries {Jamaica) CSGK Finance Holdings
Limited Limited

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Current
Cash and cash equivaients 130,191 133,7:N 5,219,419 1,580,012
Other current assets {excluding cash) 1,794,370 1,662,842 441,474 156,403
Total current net assets 1,924,561 1,796,633 5,660,893 1,736,415
Financial liabifities {excluding trade payables) - - 24,550,623 11,643,601
Other current liabilities {including trade payables) 453,712 462,543 1,500,714 377.617
Total current labilities 453,712 462,543 26,051,337 12,021,308
Non-current
Assets 956,694 816,403 22,820,792 12,422,261
Non-financial liabilities 326,764 284,213 - -
Total non-current liabilities 326,764 284,213 - -
Net assets 2,100,779 1,866,280 2,430,348 2,137,368

Catl'g;i'::':. “l;eljl:mﬂt::jlllng GKMusson Limited

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Current
Cash and cash equivalents 79,203 - 222,349 -
Other current assets {excluding cash) 180,373 - 4,155 -
Total current net assets 259,576 - 226,504 -
Other current liabilities {(including trade payables) 246,796 - 47,882 -
Total current liabilities 246,796 - 47.882 -
Non-current
Assets 73,377 - 216,172 -
Net assets 86,157 - 394,794 -
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10.

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (Continued)

Summarised income statement

Dairy Industries {Jamaica) CSGK Finance Holdings
Limited Limited
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Revenue 4,094,669 3,750,013 1,598,085 1,289,117
Deprecialion {56,206) (48,401) {15,069) {13,537)
Interest income - non-financial services 17,195 24,945 - -
Interest expense - non-financial services {8,890) {8,336} - -
Profit before income tax 905,274 957,324 458,289 390,726
Taxation expense {231,058) {217,356) 21,001 (101,925)
Profit afier tax 674,216 739,968 479,380 288,801
Other comprehensive income 60,500 6,871 41,780 (58,195)
Total comprehensive income 734,716 746,839 521,160 230,606
Dividends received by the Group from associates 250,000 300,000 43,648 38,482
Ca"g!;:‘l::‘asnl;aal:n?tgg"ng GKMusson Limited
2018 2017 2018 2017
$°000 $'000 $'000 $£'000
Revenue 139,360 - - -
Depreciation (2,363) - - -
Interest income - non-financial services - - 1,340 -
Interest expense - non-financial services {563) - - -
Profit before income tax 14,072 - (105,206} -
Taxation expense (3,519) - - -
Profit after tax 10,553 - {105,206} -
Total comprehensive income 10,553 - {105,206} -
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10.

Investments in Assoclates and Joint Ventures (Continued)

Recanciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the camying amount of its interest in associates and joint ventures

Dairy Industries (Jamaica) CSGK Finance Holdings
Limited Limited

2018 2017 2018 2m7
Summarised financial information $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Opening net assets at 1 January 1,866,279 1,719.441 2,137,367 2,002,964
Amounts restated through opening retained eamings (216) - {119,061} -
Profit for the period 674,216 739,967 479,380 288,801
Other comprehensive income 60,500 6,871 41,780 (58,195)
Dividends paid {500,000} (600,000) (109,118) (96,203)
Closing net assets 2,100,779 1,866,279 2,430,348 2,137,367
Interest in associates (%) 50 50 40 40
Interest in associates (J$) 1,050,390 933,140 972,139 854,947
Camying value 1,050,390 933,140 972139 854,947

Catlg;I;;: ﬂ;e&l;iat::ling GKMusson Limited

2018 2017 2018 2017
Summarised financial information $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Net assets of entity on purchase of interest 75,604 - 500,000 -
Profit for the period 10,553 - (105,206) -
Closing net assets 86,157 - 394,794 -
Interest in associates and joint ventures (%) 35 - 50 -
Interest in associales and joint ventures (J$) 30,155 - 197,397 -
Intangible assets 498,539 - - -
Carrying value 528,694 - 197,397 -

Intangible assets related to lhe investment in Catherine’s Peak Bottling Company Limited include the entity's brand and customer relationships
wilh eslimated useful lives of 15 years and 10 years respectively, as well as goodwill.

The amounts recognised in total comprehensive income in respect of immaterial associates are as follows:

Group
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Profit/{loss) 10,922 (532)
Other comprehensive income (1,340) 375
Total comprehensive income 9,582 (157)
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11. Intangible Assets

Brands,
Customer
and Supplier Computer Pollcy
Relationships Goodwill Software Contracts Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'00C
Group
Cost
At 1 January 2017 2,773,264 1,717,499 2,949,645 580,088 8,029,496
Additions - - 334,509 - 334,599
Acquisition through business combination
{Note 38) 637,000 - - - 637,000
Relirement of asset - - (7.358) - (7,358)
Exchange differences (26,691) {2,525) {3.503) - (32,719}
At 31 December 2017 3,383,573 1,714,974 3,273,383 589,088 8,961,018
Additions - - 307,051 43,700 350,751
Retirement of asset - - (13,318) - (13,318)
Exchange differences 22,423 1,755 2,244 - 26,422
At 31 December 2018 3,405,996 1,716,729 3,569,360 632,788 9,324,873
Accumulated Amortisation
At 1 January 2017 1,217,863 308,490 2,046,874 431,997 4,005,224
Amortisation charge for the year 179,556 - 367,542 39,272 586,370
Relirement of asset - - (7,358) - (7,358)
Exchange differences (18.536) (1) {2.808) - {21,345)
At 31 December 2017 1,378,883 308,489 2,404,250 471,269 4,562,891
Amortisation charge for the year 219,137 - 373,661 41,822 634,620
Retirement of asset - - {13,318) - {13,318)
Exchange differences 11,142 - 1,495 - 12,637
At 31 December 2018 1,609,162 308,489 2,766,088 513,091 5,196,830
Net Book Amount
31 December 2018 1,796,834 1,408,240 803,272 119,697 4,128,043
31 December 2017 2,004,690 1,406,485 869,133 117,819 4,398,127
Impairment tests for goodwill

The Group detemmines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis or when events or changes In circumstances indicale that the
carrying value may be impaired. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash generaling unit (CGU) to which the goodwill is
allocated. The recoverable amount is usually delermined by reference fo the value in use. Estimaling the value in use requires the Group to make
an estimate of the expected fulure cash flows from the CGU and also to choose an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present

value of those future cash flows.
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11. Intangible Assets (Continued)

The allocation of goodwill to the Group's cash generating units {CGUs) identified according to segment is as follows:

2018 2017
$°000 $000

Food Trading
- Jamaica operations 16,854 16,854
- United Kingdom operations 443,142 460,089
- United Slates operations 948,244 929,542
1,408,240 1,406,485

For the year ended 31 December 2018, management tested the goodwill allocaled to all the CGUs for impairment.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated growih rates stated below. The growth rate does not exceed the long-temn average growth rate for the industry in which the CGU

operates.
Key assumplions used for value in use calculations:
Capital
Revenue EBITDAto Expenditure to Discount
Growth Rate Revenus Revenue Rate
Food Trading
- Jamaica cperations 6.66% 0.50% 0.24% 14.59%
- United Kingdom operations 7.69% 5.29% 1.24% 11.10%
- United States operations 9.19% 3.29% 0.18% 8.92%
Computer
Software
$'000
Company
Cost
At 1 January 2017 880.218
Additions 155,400
Retirement of asset (153}
At 31 December 2017 1,035,465
Additions 141,539
Retirement of asset (11.407)
At 31 December 2018 1,165,597
Accumutated Amortisation
At 1 January 2017 750,204
Amoriisation charge for the year 63,389
Retirement of asset {153)
At 31 December 2017 813,440
Amortisation charge for the year 70,318
Retirement of asset {11,407}
At 31 December 2018 872,351
Net Book Amount
31 December 2018 293,246
31 December 2017 222,025
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12,

Fixed Assets
Plant,

Freehold Leasehold Equipment, Capital

Landand  Buildings and Fixtures & Work in

Buildings Improvements Vehicles Progress Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Group

Cost
Al 1 January 2017 5,844,749 1,666,760 7,638,409 683,432 15,833,350
Addilions 20,562 403,946 693,013 1,554,457 2,671,978
Revaluation adjustment 2,500 - - - 2,500
Transfers 10,872 121,178 415,805 (547,855) -
Disposals - (16,632) (336,139) (16,540} {369,311)
Exchange differences (28,087) 8,810 24,835 (389) 5,169
At 31 December 2017 5,850,596 2,184,062 8,435,923 1,673,105 18,143,686
Additions 100,968 119,282 530,398 2,390,976 3,141,624
Revaluation adjusiment 700,322 - - - 700,322
Transfers 9,394 8,048 158,891 (176,333) -
Disposals - (11.819) (272.825) - {284,644)
Transfer to assets held for sale (Note 12 &) (263,332) - {35,691) - {299,023)
Exchange differences 19,298 (6.715) {20,542) 159 (7.800)
At 31 December 2018 6,417,246 2,292,858 8,796,154 3,887,907 21,394,165
Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 January 2017 - 898,289 4,823,390 - 5,721,679
Charge for the year 109,558 172,040 702,568 - 984,166
On disposals - (7,567} (288,026} - {295,593}
Exchange differences (296) 4519 13,550 - 17,773
Al 31 December 2017 109,262 1,067,281 5,251,482 - 6,428,025
Charge for the year 110,790 226,837 778,192 - 1,115,819
Revaluation adjustment {199,007) - - - (199,007}
On disposals - {11,808} {188,061} - (199,869}
Transfer to assets held for sale (Note 12 e) {21,088) - (6,727) - (27,815}
Exchange differences 43 (4,842} (19,158) - (23,957}
Al 31 December 2018 - 1,277,468 5,815,728 - 7.093,196
Net Book Amount
31 December 2018 6,417,246 1,015,390 2,980,426 3,887,907 14,300,969
31 December 2017 5,741,334 1,116,781 3,184,441 1,673,105 11,715,661
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12.

Fixed Assets (Continued)
Plant,

Freehold Leasehold Equipment, Capital

Land and  Buildings and Fixtures & Work in

Buildings Improvements Vehicles Progress Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Company

Cost
At 1 January 2017 74,000 106,056 952,606 210 1,132,872
Additions 14 8,487 81,143 1,164 90,808
Disposals - (10,234) {151,619) (210) (162,063)
At 31 December 2017 74,014 104,309 882,130 1,164 1,061,617
Additions 3,523 - 58,098 3,185 64,806
Revaluation adjustment 4,463 - - - 4,463
Disposals - - {57.439) - (57,439)
At 31 December 2018 82,000 104,309 882,789 4,349 1,073,447
Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 January 2017 - 78,881 754,707 - 833,588
Charge for lhe year 1,438 4,467 65,408 - 71,313
On disposals - (1.279) (141,364) - (142,643)
At 31 December 2017 1,438 82,069 678,751 - 762,258
Charge for the year 1.511 4,571 64,918 - 71,000
Revaluation adjustiment (2,949) - - - {2,949)
On disposals - - (53,335) - (53,335)
At 31 December 2018 - 86,640 690,334 - 776,974
Net Book Amount
31 December 2018 82,000 17,669 192,455 4,349 296,473
31 December 2017 72,576 22,240 203,379 1,164 299,359

(a) The tables above include carrying values of $87,514,000 (2017: $91,534,000) and $256,000 {2017: $384,000} for the Group and the
company, respectively, representing assets being acquired under finance leases. All amounts relaled to finance leases are shown in
the 'Plant, Equipment, Fixtures & Vehicles' category of fixed assets.
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12.

13.

Fixed Assets (Continued)

(b

(c}

(@)

(e)

Ifland and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cost 4,256,068 4,320,417 44 660 41,137
Accumulated depreciation 635,662 565,625 13,033 11,916
Net Book Amount 3,620,406 3,754,792 31,627 29,221

The Group's land and buildings were revalued during 2018 by independent valuers. The valuations were done on the basis of open
market value, wilh the exception of the Distribution Centre, for which recent market transactions are not available due to the specialised
nature of the assels. The revaluation surpluses, net of applicable deferred income taxes, were credited to the capital and fair value
reserves in equity {Nole 18).

Borrowing costs of $18,747,000 (2017: $7,819,000) arising on financing specifically entered into for the construction of a new corporate
head office were capilalised during the year and are included in ‘additions’ in capital work in progress.

A capitalisation rate of 6.15% (2017; 7.00%) was used, representing the bomowing cost of the loan used to finance the project.

Assels classified as held for sale

Group
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Land and building 242,244 -
Plant and equipment 28,964 -
Net Book Amount 271,208 -

In November 2018, the Group decided to sell a property, along with some equipment located on it, previously occupied by a part of the
food manufacturing business in the USA. The property has been adverlised and the sale is expected to be completed in 2019. The
assels ara presented within total assets of the Food Trading segment (Note 22).

Deferred Income Taxes

Defemred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using principal tax rates of 25% for unregulated
companies and 33 %% for regulated companies.

The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At beginning of year (532,817) (596,649) (882,998) {981,093)
Amounts restated through opening equity 303,790 - 90,539 -
Income statement credit (Note 27) 170,502 126,071 48,161 167,735
Tax credilf{charge) relating to components of other comprehensive
income (Note 27) 780,975 (63,798) 837,814 {69.640)
Exchange differences 561 1,559 - -

At end of year 723,011 (532,817) 93.516 {882,998)
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13. Deferred Income Taxes (Continued)

Deferred income tax assels ara recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through future
taxable profits is probable. Subject to agreement wilh the taxation administration in the relevant jurisdictions, the Group has recognised tax
losses of $1,633,717,000 (2017: $1,871,768,000) and recognised tax credits of $375,682,000 (2017: $224,740,000) lo camy forward
indefinitely against fulure taxable income. The Group also has unrecognised tax losses of $1,022,802,000 (2017: $683,830,000) in respect
of some subsidiaries.

Deferred income tax liabilities of $197,154,000 (2017: $183,754,000) have not been established for the withhelding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries, as such amounts are permanently reinvested; such unremitied earmings
totalled $788,617,000 (2017: $735,017,000).

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offseiting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction) during the period is as

follows:
Group
Unrealised
Foreign Pension
Fixed Fair Value Exchange Plan
Assets Gains Galns Assets Other Tatal
Deferred tax liabilities $°000 $'000 $'00C $'000 $'000 $'000
At 1 January 2017 426,511 326,120 14,455 1,535,521 592,147 2,894,754
Charged/{credited) to the income statement 5,299 9,593 - (43,255) 16,325 {12,038)
{Credited)/charged lo other comprehensive
income (20,527) 71.244 - 84,945 - 135,662
Exchange differences (377) - - - {2,168) (2,545)
At 31 December 2017 410,906 406,957 14,455 1,577,211 606,304 3,015,833
Amounts restated through opening equity - (82,479) - - (125,002) (207,481}
(Credited)/charged to the income stalement (57,425) - (8,937} (19,745) 138,879 52,772
Charged/{credited) o other comprehensive
income 214,691 11,992 - (739,985) - (513,302)
Exchange differences 257 c E s 1,501 1,758
At 31 December 2018 568,429 336,470 5,518 817,481 621,682 2,349,580
Unutilised Employee
Fixed Fair Value Tax Losses Benefit
Assels Losses and Credits Obligations Other Total
Deferred tax assets $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At 1 January 2017 185,231 - 755,475 1,198,871 158,528 2,298,105
Credited/{charged) to the incoma statement 41,002 - 1,013 129,254 {57,236) 114,033
Credited to other comprehensive income - - - 71,864 - 71,864
Exchange differences 1,401 - (2,131) - {256) {986)
At 31 December 2017 227,634 - 754,357 1,399,989 101,036 2,483,016
Amounts restated through opening equity - 422 - - 95,887 96,309
Credited/(charged) to the income statement 55,921 1 113.611 57,905 {4,164) 223,274
Credited to other comprehensive income - 81,887 - 185,786 - 267.673
Exchange differences {12) - 2,153 - 178 2,319

At 31 December 2018 283,543 82,310 870,121 1.643,680 192,937 3.072,591
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13.

Deferred Income Taxes (Continued)

Company
Unrealised
Foreign Pension
Fixed Fair Value Exchange Plan
Assets Gains Gains Assets Other Total
Deferred tax liabilities $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At 1 January 2017 8,318 61,609 - 1,535,521 8,466 1,613,914
Charged/(credited) lo the income statement 10,286 - - (43,255) 11,750 {21,219)
Charged to other comprehensive income g 14.093 e 84,944 s 99,037
At 31 December 2017 18,604 75,702 - 1,577,210 20,216 1,691,732
Amounts restated through opening equity - {75,701) - - - {75,701)
(Credited)/charged to the income statement (51) {1 2,259 {19,745} {10,363) {27.901)
Charged/(credited) to other comprehensive
income 2,612 - - (739,984} - {737,372)
At 31 December 2018 21,165 - 2,259 817,481 9,853 850,758
Unutllised Employee
Fixed FairValue Tax Losses Benefit
Assets Losses and Credits Obiligations Other Total
Deferred tax assets $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At 1 January 2017 34,928 - 35,438 540,819 21,636 632,821
Credited/(charged} to the income statement 22,676 - 86,129 40,645 {2,934) 146,516
Credited to other comprehensive income - - - 29,397 - 29,397
At 31 December 2017 57,604 - 121,567 610,861 18,702 808,734
Amounts restated through opening equity - 422 - - 14,416 14,838
Credited/{charged) to the income statement 12,200 1 (20,681) 15,555 13,185 20,260
Credited to other comprehensive income - 1,732 - 98,710 - 100,442
At 31 December 2018 69,804 2.155 100,886 725,126 46,303 944,274
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13.

14,

Deferred Income Taxes (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against cument tax
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The following amounts, determined after appropriate
offselling, are shown in the consolidated statement of financial position:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Deferred tax assels 1,410,080 836,477 93,516 -
Deferred tax liabilities (687,069) (1,369,294) - (682,998)
723,011 (532,817) 93,516 (862,998)
The gross amounts shown in the above tables include the following:
Deferred tax assels:
Deferred tax assels to be recovered after more than 12 months 2,797,344 2,381,980 895,816 790,032
Deferred lax assets la be recovered within 12 months 275,247 101,036 48,458 18,702
3,072,591 2,483,018 944,274 808,734
Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after more than 12 months (1,385,910) {1.988,117) {838,646} (1,595,814)
Deferred tax liabilities {o be setiled within 12 months (963,670) (1.027,716) {12,112} {95,918)
{2,349,580) (3.015,833) (850,758} (1.691,732)
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) net 723,011 (532.817) 93,516 {882,998)

Pensions and Other Post-Employment Obligations
The Group has both defined contribution pension schemes and a defined benefit pension scheme.

Defined contribution schemes

The defined contribution pension scheme is open to Jamaican based employees hired on or after 1 April 2010. Employees contribute 5% of
pensionable earnings with the option to contribute an additional voluntary contribution of 5%. The employer contributions are currenily set at
10%. The Group also has other defined conlribution schemes apen o employees of its foreign subsidiaries which are operaled in those
countries. The Group's and company's contributions for the year were $330,859,000 (2017: $293,859,000) and $65,683,000 (2017:
$60,073,000) respectively,

Defined benefit scheme

The Graup's defined benefit pension scheme, which commenced on 1 January 1975, is funded by employee contributions at 5% of salary
with the option to contribute an additional 5%, and employer contributions at 0.02%, as recommended by independent actuaries. The last
valuation was carried out at 31 December 2016. Pension at normal retirement age Is based on 2% per year of pensionable service of the
average of the highest threa years’ annual salary during the last ten years of service. This scheme was closed to new members as at 31
March 2010.

The Board of Trustees of the pension fund is comprised of representatives from both the employer and members of the plan. The Board of
Trustees of the pension fund is required by law o act in the interest of the fund and all relevant stakeholders. The Board of Trustees of the
fund is responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the fund. The funds are managed by Proven Fund Managers Limited.

In the event of a plan surplus the Group is able to take a conlribution holiday, while a funding deficiency will require the Group to make
additional contributions to adequately fund the plan.
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14, Pension and Other Post-Employment Obligations {Continued)

Pension benefits

The amounis recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows:

Group and Company

2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Present value of funded obligations
Fair value of plan assels

32,242,442 25,908,981
{35,512,367)  (32,217.824)

Asset in the statement of financial posilion

(3,269,925) (6,308,843)

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year Is as follows:

Group and Company

2018 2017

$'000 $'000

Beginning of year 25,908,981 22,330,364

Current service cost 755,812 696,188

Interest cost 2,051,123 2,005,634

Curtailment (251,901) -

2,555,034 2,701,822

Remeasurements -

Loss from change in financial assumptions 5,168,981 1,255,690

Experience {gains)losses (623,947) 100,728

4,545,034 1,356,418

Members’ contributions 223,619 230,209
Benefits paid (990,226) (709,832)

End of year

32,242,442 25,908,981
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14,

Pensions and Other Post-Employment Obligations (Continued)

Pension benefits {continued}

The movement in the fair value of plan assets for the year is as follows:

Group and Company

2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Beginning of year
Interest income on plan assels
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest income

32,217,824 28,472,442
2,564,060 2,557,525
1,585,095 1,696,197

Members' contributions 223,619 230,209
Employers’ contributions 527 986
Benefits paid {990,226) (708,832)
Administration costs (78,532) {29,703)
End of year 35,512,367 32,217,824

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

Group and Company

2018 2017

$'000 $'000
Current service cost 755,812 696,188
Interest income (net) (502,937} (551,891)
Curtailment (251,901} -
Administration costs 78,532 29,703
Tolal, included in staff costs (Note 26) 79,506 174,000

As at the last valuation date, the present value of the defined benefit obligation was comprised of approximately $16,280,837,000 (2017.
$14,815,707,000) relating to active employees, $4,967,155,000 (2017: $3,018,986,000) relating lo deferred members and $10,994,450,000

{2017: $8,074,288,000) relating to members in retirement.
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14, Pensions and Other Post-Employment Obligations {Centinued)
Pension benefits (continued)

The plan assets are comprised of:

Group and Company

2018 2017
$'000 % $'000 %
Equily 15,221,991 43% 12,203,592 8%
Debt 4,642,998 13% 4,575,658 14%
Real estate 3,061,500 9% 2,821,614 9%
Govemment securilies 11,023,873 IN% 10,681,437 33%
Other 1,562,005 4% 1,925,523 6%
35,512,367 100% 32,217,824 100%

The pension plan assets include the company's ordinary stock unils with a fair value of $2,852,560,000 (2017: $1,954,116,000) and buildings

occupied by Group companies with fair values of $1,228,701,000 (2017: $1,168,278,000).

The benefit that the company derives from the surplus of the pension plan is limited to the extent of the reduction in fulure contributions that

it will make to the pension scheme.

Expected conlributions by the Group 1o the past-employment scheme for the year ending 31 December 2019 are $476,000. The actual return

on plan assels was $4,139,155,000 (2017: $4,253,720,000).

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

2018 2017
Discount rate 7.0% 8.0%
Long term inflation rate 5.0% 5.0%
Future salary increases 6.0% 6.0%
Future pension increases 5.0% 5.0%
Assumptions regarding fulure mortality experience are set based on advice, published slalistics and experience.
The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retining at age 60 on the statement of financial position date is as follows:

2018 2017
Mate 27.38 27.31
Female 28.25 28.21
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14.

Pensions and Other Post-Employment Obligations {Continued}

Pension benefits (continued)

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the principal assumptions is:
Group and Company

impact on post-employment obligations

Change in
Assumption Increase in Assumption Decrease in Assumption
2018 2017 2018 2017
Discount rate 1% Decreaseby 16.3%  15.3% Increaseby  21.5%  20.0%
Future salary increases 1% Increase by 4.7% 4.9% Decrease by 4.2% 4.3%
Expected pension increase 1% Increaseby  15.0%  13.5% Decrease by 12.2% 11.1%
Group and Company
Impact on post-employment obligations
Increase in Assumption Decrease in Assumption
by One Year by One Year
2018 2017 2018 2017
Life expectancy Increase by 2.6% 2.3% Decrease by 2.6% 2.4%

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumplion while holding ali other assumptions constant. In practice, this is
unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation
to significant actuarial assumplions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit
method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised within the statement of
financial position.

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared lo the previous period.

Other post-employment obligations

The Group operales a number of post-employment benefit schemes, principally in Jamaica. The benefits covered under the schemes include
group life, insured and self-insured health care, graluity and other supplementary plans. Funds are not built up to cover the obligations under
these retirement benefit schemes. The method of accounting and the frequency of valuations are similar to those used for defined benefit
pension schemes.

In addition fo the assumptions used for the pension schemes, the main actuarial assumplion is a long term increase in health costs of 6.0% per
year {2017: 6.5% per year).
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14. Pensions and Other Post-Employment Obligations (Continued)

Other post-employment obligations {continued)

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial posilion were determined as follows:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Present value of unfunded obligations 6,083,687 5,125,990 2,800,502 2,443,443
Movement in the defined benefit obligation is as follows:
Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Beginning of year 5,129,990 4,406,015 2,443,443 2,163,271
Current service cost 309,267 237,71 100,815 80,940
Interest cost 402,696 388,653 190,038 189,206
Past service cost - vested benefits (14,757) {5,160) (23,678) 1,806
Curtailment (235,457) - (60,078) -
461,749 621,224 207,097 271,952
Remeasurements -
Loss from change in demographic assumptions 233,562 126,759 112,949 62,434
Loss from change in financial assumptions 657,172 197,855 291,287 93,623
Experience gains {190,265} (56,852) (9,400} (38,464)
700,469 267,762 394,836 117,593
Benefils paid {208,521} {165,011) {144,874) {109,373)
End of year 6,083,687 5,129,990 2,900,502 2,443,443
The amounis recagnised in the income statement were as follows:
Group Campany
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Current service cost 309,267 237,73 100,815 80,940
Interest cost 402,686 388,653 190,038 189,206
Pasl service cost (14,757} (5,160) {23,678) 1,808
Curtailment {235,457} - {60,078) -
Tolal included in staff costs {(Note 26) 461,749 621,224 207,097 271,952

The total charge was included in administralion expenses.
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14. Pensions and Other Post-Employment Obligations (Continued)

Other post-employment obligations {continued)

The composition of the liability recognised in relation to the other post-employment obligations in the statement of financial position is as

follows:
Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Gratuity Plan 803,497 773,590 431,416 405,006
Group Life Plan 1,277,791 890,425 645,385 415,250
Insured Group Health 2,091,008 1,530,524 758,426 567,775
Self Insured Mealth Plan 1,345,040 1,400,143 623,716 641,010
Supplementary Pension Plan 566,351 535,308 441,559 414,402
Liability in the statement of financial position 6,083,687 5,129,990 2,900,502 2,443,443

The sensitivity of the post-employment medical benefits to changes in the principal assumptions Is:

Group

Impact on post-employment obligations

Change In
Assumption Increase in Assumption Dacrease in Assumption
2018 2017 2018 2017
Discount rate 1% Decreaseby 16.7% 15.1% Increaseby 22.3%  19.4%
Medical inflation rate 1% Increaseby  22.3%  19.5% Decreaseby 17.0% 15.4%
Company
Impact on post-employment obligations
Change in
Assumption Increase In Assumption Decrease in Assumption
2018 2017 2018 2017
Discount rate 1% Decreaseby 14.9% 13.7% Increaseby 19.5% 17.4%
Medical inflation rate 1% Increaseby  19.5% 17.5% Decreaseby 15.2% 14.0%

Risks associated with pension plans and post-employment plans

Through its defined benefit pension plan and other post-employment benefits, the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant

of which are detailed below:

Assot volatility

The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to Government of Jamaica bond yields; if plan assets underperform

this yield, this will create a deficit.

As the plan matures, the Group intends to reduce the level of investment risk by investing more in assets that betier match the liabilities. This
process includes monitaring and rebalancing he asset classes and the maturity profile of assels within these classes. The Govermnment bonds

largely represent investments in Govemment of Jamaica securities.

However, the Group believes that due lo the long-termm nature of the plan liabilities, a level of continuing equity investment is an appropriate

element of the Group's long temm strategy fo manage the plan efficiently.
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14.

Penstons and Other Post-Employment Obligations (Continued)
Risks associated with pension plans and post-employment plans (continued)

Changes in bond yields

A decreasa in Government of Jamaica bond vields will increase plan liabilities, although this will be partially offset by an increase in the value
of the plans’ bond holdings.

Inflation risk

Higher inflation will lead to higher liabililies in the event that discretionary pension increases are granted. The majority of the plan’'s assels are
either unaffected by (fixed interest securities) or loosely comelated with {equities) inflation, meaning that an increase in inflation has the
polential lo reduce the surplus or create a deficit.

Life expectancy

The majority of the ptan's obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life expectancy will result in an increase
in the plan's liabilities. This is particularly significant, where inflationary increases resull in higher sensitivity to changes in life expectancy.

The Board of Trustees is ultimately responsible for the establishment and aversight of the plan’s risk management framework, including
maonitoring the overall risk management process, as well as approving policies covering specific areas, such as limits for specific asset classes,
foreign exchange risk, credit nisk and investment of excess liquidity. The Board is responsible for monitoring the investment portfolio and
investment strategies for the plan. A large porlion of assets in 2018 consists of money markel instruments, bonds and equilies.

Funding levels are manitored on an annual basis and the current agreed contribution rate by the Group is 0.02% of pensionable salaries. The
next triennial valuation is due lo be completed for the plan’s financial position as at 31 December 2019. The Group considers that the
contribution rates set at the last valuation date to be sufficient to prevent a deficit. Regular contributions, which are based on service cosls,
will be assessed following the upcoming valuation to determine if any increase is required.

The average duration of the post-employment obligations is as follows:

Plans Years
Gratuity Plan 9.6
Group Life Plan 24.7
Insured Group Health 233
Pension Plan 19.2
Self Insured Health Plan 14.3

Superannuation Plan 7.7




GraceKennedy Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2018

{expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 87

15. Bank and Other Loans

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 £000 $'000
Secured on assets 6,559,590 4,142,720 - -
Unsecured 9,969,723 12,372,895 6,114,341 4,053,268
16,529,313 16,915,615 6,114,341 4,053,268

{a) Unsecured loans of subsidiaries are supported by letters of comfort from the parent company. Interest rates on these loans range

between 2.5% - 9.6% (2017: 2.0% - 10.13%).

(b) Bank and other loans comprise:

Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Bank overdrafts (Note 5) 2,546,601 2,681,950 1,521,301 30,825
Bank hoirowings 9,427,774 10,841,034 3,819,287 3,244,452
Finance leases 77.687 86,904 - 2,632
Other loans 4,477,251 2,905,727 773,663 775,359
16,529,313 16,515,615 6,114,341 4,053,268

Total borrowings

Finance lease liabilities are effectively secured as the righls to the leased asset reverl to the lessor in the event of default. Cerlain bank
bomowings are secured on the assets of subsidiaries that have the loans. All other borrowings are unsecured. Included in bank bormowings
and other loans is interest payable of $49,736,000 (2017: $59,983,000) and $32,128,000 (2017: $20,905,000) for the Group and the

company, respectively.

Included in bank borrowings and other loans is $9,514,913,000 (2017: $11,189,404,000) and $4,626,906,000 (2017: $2,660,996,000) for
the Group and the company respectively, which matures in the next 12 months.

The fair value of current borrowings approximates their camrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant. The fair values
are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the borrowing rate of 5.54% (2017: 5.06%]) and are within level 2 of the fair

value hierarchy.

{c) Finance lease liabilities — minimum lease paymenis:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Mot later than 1 year 35,651 37,983 - 2,740
Later than 1 year and not later than § years 46,471 74,471 - -
82,122 112,454 - 2,740
Future finance charges on finance leases (4,435) (25,550) - (108)
Present value of finance lease liabilities 77.687 86,904 - 2,632
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15. Bank and Other Loans {Continued)
{c) Finance lease liabilities — minimum lease payments (continued):
The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Not later than 1 year 42,599 31,049 - 2,632
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 35,088 55,855 - -
77,687 86,904 - 2,632

16. Payables

Graup Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Trade payables 9,769,723 8,108,435 1,909,934 1,000,498
Payable to associates (Note 34 g) 429,556 246,867 201,742 143,778
Accruals 3,418,218 3,230,326 872,568 781,689
Claims outstanding 3,043.375 4,155,271 - -
Insurance reserves 3,216,436 2,844,404 - -
Customer loyalty programme 344,033 182,369 128,162 94,756
Contract liabilities 78,565 - 10,341 -
Other payables 2,901,780 3,443,227 435,382 523,949

23,201,686 22,210,809 3,558,129 2,544,670

All payables balances are due within the next 12 months.
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17. Share Capital

Group and Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
Units {"000}  Units {"000) $'000 $'000
Authorised -
Ordinary shares 1,200,000 1,200,000
Issued and fully paid -
Ordinary stock units 994,887 994,887 623,546 623,546
Treasury shares (3,022) {2,233) {133,192} {82,595)
Issued and outstanding 991,865 992,654 490,354 540,951

{a)

{b}

During the year, the company through its employee invastment trust sold Nil (2017: 122,000) units of its own shares at a fair value of
$Nil (2017; $5,027,000), purchased 950,000 (2017: 736,000} units at a fair value of $57,171,000 (2017: $29,592,000) and transfered
161,000 (2017: 889,000) units to employees at a fair value of $7,876,000 (2017: $37,667,000). The total number of treasury shares
held by the company at the end of the year was 3,022,000 (2017: 2,233,000} at a cost of $133,192,000 (2017: $82,585,000).

At the Annual General Meeting held on 29 May 2003, the stockholders passed a resclution for 30,000,000 of the authorised but unissued
shares to be set aside for allocalion and sale to the managers of the company. The allocalion and sale of these shares will be govermned
by the provisions of the 2003 Stock Option Plan for the Managers of GraceKennedy Limited.

On 6 January 2011, under the rules of the Stock Option Plan, the following allocation was made:

No. of Shares
Senior managers 8,796,024

The options were granted at a subscription price of $16.94, being the weighted average price of the company's shares on the Jamaica
Stock Exchange for the previous ten days prior to the grant date, and are exercisable over a period of six years, at the end of which time
unexercised options will expire. One-third of the total of the grant to each senior manager will vest on each anniversary of the grant. The
plan provides for equilable adjustment of the allocated number of shares by reason of stock splits, combinalions or exchanges of shares,
stock dividends, bonus issue, and reclassifications or similar corporate changes.

2018 2017
Movement on this option: 000 ‘000
At 1 January S 1,174
Exercised o (407)
Expired & (767)

At 31 December - -
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17. Share Capital (Continued)

(©

{d)

At the Annual General Meeting held on 27 May 2009, the stockholders passed a resolution for authorised but unissued sharesup to a
maximum of 7%:% of the total number of issued shares of no par value to be set aside for allocation and sale to the direclors, managers
and employees of the company. The allocation and sale of these shares will be governed by the provisions of the 2009 Stock Offer
Plan for the Directors, Managers and Employees of GraceKennedy Limited and the plan provides for equilable adjustment of the
allocated number of shares by reason of stack splits, combinations or exchanges of shares, stock dividends, bonus issue, and
reclassifications or simifar corporate changes.

On 3 January 2011, under the rules of the Stock Offer Plan, the following affocation was made:
No. of Shares
Directors 1,085,184

The options were granled at a subscription price of $16.75, being the weighted average price of the company’s shares on the Jamaica
Stock Exchange for the previous three days prior to the grant date, and are exercisable over a period of six years, at the end of which
lime unexercised options will expire. The total of the grant to each director will fully vest on the third anniversary of the grant.

2018 2017
Movement on this option: '000 '000
At 1 January 136 136
Exercised {136) g
At 31 December - 136

On 8 December 2011, under the rules of the Stock Offer Plan, the following allocation was made:
No. of Shares
Directors and senior execulives 3,408,480

The options were granted at a subscription price of $20.40, being the weighted average price of the company's shares on the Jamaica
Stock Exchange for the previous three days prior to the grant date, and are exercisable over a period of six years, at the end of which
time unexercised options will expire. The total of the grant to each director and senior executive will fully vest on the third anniversary
of the grant.

2018 2017
Movement on this option: ‘000 '000
At 1 January 98 1,334
Exercised (98) (1.238)
At 31 December - 98

In 2016, the company commenced operating a Long Term Incentive (LTI} Scheme administered by a committee of the Group’s Board of
Directors. The scheme is govemned by the provisions of the 2009 Stock Offer Plan and includes the offer of restricled stock granis and
stock options to executive directors and ather senior executives. Participating executives are efigible to receive awards of restricted stock
grants once certain predetermined Group performance objectives are met.  These awards are eamed annually following achievement of
the performance objectives and are subject to a two year holding period from the end of the performance year after which the stock grants
will vest and the execulive will be entitied to receive the stock units. The stock option portion of the LTI scheme is granted annually and
vesting is dependent on a time-based criterion.

The following allocation of stock oplions were made to executive directors and other senior executives:

10 May 2018 11 May 2017 12 May 2016
Number of shares 1,759,004 1,967,156 2,551,665
Subscription price $47.77 $42.09 $28.00

The subscription price that the options were granted at is the weighted average price of the company's shares on the Jamaica Stock
Exchange far the previous three days prior lo the grant date. The total of the grant to each executive director and other senior executive
will fully vest on the third anniversary of the grant. After vesting executives will have up o five years to exercise the stock oplions.
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17.

Share Capital (Continued)

(d)

(e)

"

Long term incentive plan {continued}

2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016
Offer Offer Offer Total Offer Offer Offer Total
2018 2017
Movement on this option: 000 '000 '000 000 000 000 000 *000
At 1 January - 1,948 2,513 4,461 - - 2,552 2,552
Granted 1,759 - - 1,759 - 1,967 - 1,967
Exercised - - - - - - (12) (12)
Forfeiled {8) (41) (45) (94) - {19} (27) (46)
At 31 December 1,751 1,907 2,468 6,126 - 1,848 2,513 4,461
Movements in the number of share oplions outstanding and their related weighted average exercise price are as follows:
2018 2017
Average Average
exercise price Options exercise price Cptions
Movement on this option: in § per share '000  in § per share 000
At 1 January 33.36 4,695 23.26 5,196
Granted 47.77 1,759 42.09 1,967
Exercised 18.28 {234) 33.83 {1,655)
Forfeited 35.88 (94) 19.60 (486)
Expired - - 16.94 (767)
At 31 December 38.04 6,126 33.38 4,695
Shares lotalling 2,503,000 (2017: 234,000) are exercisable at the statement of financial position date.
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry date and exercise prices:
2018 2017
Exercise
price in § per Options Options
share ‘000 ‘000
2018 20.40 - 234
2023 28.00 2,468 2,513
2024 42.09 1,907 1,948
2025 47.77 1,751 -
6,126 4,695

The fair value of optlions granted determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model was $216,851,000. The significant inputs into
the model were the weighled average share prices ranging from $17.00 to $47.77 at the grant dates, exercise prices ranging from
$16.94 to $47.77, slandard deviation of expecled share price retums ranging from 29.1% to 33.2%, option life of six and eight years
The volatility measured at the slandard deviation of expected share
price retums is based on statistical analysis of daily share prices over the term of the options. The fair value of potential restricted

and risk-free interest rates ranging between 2.98% to 7.48%.

stock grants to be eamned is $290,199,000 and the fair value of restricted stock grants eamed and vested is $53,429,000.

The expense recognised in the income statement for share-hased payments was $104,406,000 {2017: $56,960,000).
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18. Capital and Fair Value Reserves

_ Group
Capital Loan Loss Fair Value Capitai Loan Loss Fair Value
Reserve Reserve Reserves Total Reserve Reserve Reserves Total
2018 2017
$'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Realised gains on disposal of
assels 102,738 - - 102,738 102,738 - - 102,738
Capital distributions received 46,164 - - 46,164 46,164 - - 46,164
Realised gain on sale of
shares 116,809 - - 116,809 115,507 - - 115,507
Profits capitalised by Group
companies 2,149,885 - - 2,149,885 2,149,885 - - 2,149,885
Unrealised surplus on the
revaluation of fixed assets,
nel of deferred taxes - - 3,025097 3,025,097 - - 2,302,229 2,302,229
Fair value gains, net of
deferred laxes - - 302,656 302,656 - - 696,994 696,994
Loan loss reserve - 556,032 - 556,032 - 628,271 - 628,271
Catastrophe reserve 12,270 - - 12,270 12,270 - - 12,270
Other 35,187 - - 35.187 35,187 - - 35,187
2,463,053 556,032 3,327,753 6,346,838 2,461,751 628,271 2,999,223 6,089,245
_ Company
Capital Fair Value Capital Fair Value
Reserve Reserves Total Reserve Reserves Total
2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000
Capital distributions received 24,507 - 24,507 24,507 - 24,507
Unrealised surplus on the ravaluation of fixed assels,
net of deferred taxes - 42,028 42,028 - 37,229 37,229
Fair value gains, net of deferred taxes S 110,975 110,975 - 343,241 343,241
24,507 163,003 177,510 24,507 380,470 404,977
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19.

20.

21,

Banking Reserves
Banking reserves represent both those reserves required to be maintained by the banking subsidiary, First Global Bank Limited (FGB), in

compliance with the Jamaica Banking Services Act; as well as additional reserves that the Banking Services Act permits FGB to transfer from
net profit to constitute part of its capilal base for purposes of determining the maximum level of deposit liabilities and lending to customers.

Other Reserves

Group Company
Foreign

Currency Share-based Share-based

Translation Payments Total Payments

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At 1 January 2017 3,508,349 110,912 3,619,261 68,371

Equity holders' share of other comprehensive income (209,482) - (209,482) -

Share-based payment expense - 56,337 56,337 34,598
Transfer of treasury shares to employees - {37,667) (37,667) {37,667)

At 31 December 2017 3,298,867 129,582 3,428,449 65,302

Equity holders' share of olher comprehensive income (1,172,002} - {1.172,002) -

Share-based payment expense - 103,237 103,237 73,302
Transfer of treasury shares to employees - (7.876) (7,876) (7.876)

At 31 December 2018 2,126,865 224,943 2,351,808 130,728

(a) The reserve for foreign currency translation represents foreign exchange differences arising on translation of the Group’s foreign operations
fo the presentation currency, Jamaican dollars.

{b) The reserve for share-based paymenis represenis stock options and restricted stock units granted under the various equity compensation
plans as described in Note 17.

Non-Controlling Interests

2018 2017

s'00c $'000

Beginning of year 1,789,301 1,474,683

Amounts restated through opening equity (3,488) -

Share of lotal comprehensive income:

Share of net profit of subsidiaries 637,662 655,999
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit obligations (2,157) (6,189)
Other 6,492 (14,580)

641,997 635,230

Employee share option scheme: value of services received 1,169 623
Dividends paid {354,014) {321,235)

End of year 2,074,965 1,789,301
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21.

Non-Controlling Interests (Continued)

All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consalidation. The proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiary undertakings held directly by
the parent company do not differ from the proportion of ordinary shares held. The parent company further does not have any shareholdings
in the preference shares of subsidiary undertakings included in the Group.

The total non-controlling interest for the period is $2,074,965,000 of which $2,024,288,000 is for GraceKennedy Money Services Caribbean
SRL. The non-controlling interest in respect of other subsidiaries is not material.

Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests.
Set out below are the summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are material to the Group.
Summarised statement of financial position

GraceKennedy Money Services

Caribbean SRL

2018 2017

$'000 $'000
Current
Assets 8,055,233 7,887,532
Liabilities (2.025,849) (2,570,355)
Total current net assets 6,029,384 5,317,177
Non-current
Assets 3,933,974 2,180,296
Liabilities {1,866,208) (513,625)
Total non-current net assets 2,067,766 1,666,671

Net assels 8,097,150 6,983,848




GraceKennedy Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2018

{expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 95

21.

Non-Controlling Interests (Continued)

Summarised income statement

GraceKennedy Money Services

Caribbean SRI.
2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Revenue
Profit before income tax
Taxation expense

7,685,985 7,845,866
3,120,858 3,112,588
(598,654) {519,190}

Profit after tax 2,522,204 2,593,398
Other comprehensive income 13,606 (80,057)
Total comprehensive income 2,535,810 2,513,341
Total comprehensive income allocated to non-controlling interest 633,953 628,335
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest (354,014) {319,435)

Summarised cash flows

GraceKennedy Money Services

Caribbean SRL
2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid

Income tax paid

3,239,448 3,491,539
{(3,558) {1.398)
(700,333) (1,069,860)

Net cash generated from operating activities

2,535,557 2,420,281

Net cash used in investing aclivilies

(1,633,773) (1,380,408)

Net cash used in financing activities

(336,283) (940,234)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year
Exchange gains/{losses) on cash and cash equivalents

565,501 99,639
4,585,936 4,546,868
31,555 {60,571)

Cash andt cash equivalents al end of year

5,182,892 4,585,936

The information above represents amounts before intercompany eliminations.
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22, Segment Information

Management has determined the operaling segments based on the reporis reviewed by the Executive Commitiee that are used to make
stralegic decisions. The Group has four reportable segments which are based on the different types of products and services that it offers.
These products and services are described in its principal activities {(Note 1).  The reportable segmenis derive their revenue primarily from
food Irading and financial services. The accounting policies of the operaling segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies {Note 2). The Group evaluates performance on the basis of profit or loss before tax expense nat including
posi-employment benefits, share-based payments and net corporate central office costs which are shown in unallocated amounts. Segment
information also excludes discontinued operations.

The segment informalion provided to management for the reportable segments is as follows:

Operating segments
2018
Food Banking & Money Unallocated/
Trading Invesiments  Insurance Services Elimination Group
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

REVENUE
Extemal sales 77,106,135 5,772,300 6,980,311 7,685,985 - 975447
Inter-segment sales 186,524 55,071 357,117 - {598,712) -
Total Revenue 77,292,659 5,827,371 7,337,428 7,685,985 {598,712) 97.544,731
Operating results 1,630,855 558,498 702,059 3,014,103 27,072 5,932,587
Unallocated income - - = - 693,937 693,937
Profit from operations - - - - - 6,626,524
Finance income 21,433 37,402 18,441 36,801 313,424 427,501
Finance expense {383,413) (47,323) - {3.558) (147,579} (581,873)
Share of resulis of associales and
joint ventures 340,802 202,674 (52,603) - - 490,873
Profit before taxation 1,609,677 751,251 667,897 3,047,346 886,854 6,963,025
Taxation (1,319,448)
Net Profit 5,643,577
Operating assels 46,637,773 59,356,799 14,309,808 11,215366  (4,604,018) 126,825,728
Investment in associales and joint ventures 1,731,250 1,026,061 197,397 10,133 - 2,964,841
Unallocated assets - - - - 5,444,831 5,444,831
Total assets 48,369,023 60,382,860 14,507,205 11,225,499 750,813 135,235,400
Operating liabilities 24,390,214 49,798,838 8,467,661 3,310517 (4,656,868) 81,310,362
Unallocated liabilities - - - - 7,235,646 7,235,646
Total labilities 24,390,214 49,798,838 8,467,661 3,310,517 2,578,778 88,546,008
Other segment items
Additions to non-current assets ' 1,413,642 112,233 193,113 1,773,387 - 3,492,375
Depraciation (793,361) {167,793) (76,095) (78,570} - (1,115819)

Amoriisation (285,240) (150,793)  (104,925) {93,662) = (634,620)
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22, Segment Information {Continued)

Operating segments {continued)

_ 2017
Food Banking & Money Unallecated/
Trading Investments _ Insurance Services Elimination Group

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
REVENUE
Extermnal sales 72,609,349 5,979,211 6,041,226 7,845,866 - 92,475,652
Inter-segment sales 182,131 70,223 384,626 - {636,980} -
Total Revenue 72,791,480 6,049,434 6,425,852 7,845,866 (636,980) 92,475,652
Operating results 1,671,493 587,631 549,461 3,153,897 28,473 5,990,955
Unallocated expense - - - - {371,720) (371,720)
Profit from operations - - - - - 5,619,235
Finance income 19,048 53,834 18,431 22,136 263,763 ara.212
Finance expense (509,495) {81,615) (1,679) {1,397) (68,671) (662,857)
Share of results of associates and
joint venlures 369,984 115,520 (532) - - 484,972
Profit before taxation 1,551,030 675,370 566,681 3,174,636 (148,155) 5,819,562
Taxalion {1,047,462)
Net Profit 4,772,100
Operating assels 42,103,242 58,311,856 14,808,205 9,373,867 (4,440,850} 120,246,410
Investment in associates and joint ventures 933,140 854,947 - 10.133 - 1,798,220
Unallocated assels - - - - 7,844,010 7,944,010
Total assets 43,036,382 59,166,803 14,808,295 9,384,000 3,503,160 129,988,640
Operating liabilities 20,830,212 47,818,655 9,453,650 2,467,771 (4,520,531) 76,049,757
Unallocated liabilities - - - - 6,926,770 6,926,770
Total liabilities 20,830,212 47,818,655 9.453,650 2,467,771 2,406,239 82,976,527
Other segment items
Additions to non-current assets 1,089,445 264,036 381,754 1,271,242 - 3,008,577
Depreciation (723,982) (141,545) {46,146) (72,493) - (984,166)

Amortisation (236,727) (160,088} (98,296) (91,259) - (586,370)
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22,

Segment Information (Continued)

Oparating segments (continued)

The profit or loss, assets and liabilities for reportable segments are reconciled to the totals for profit or loss, assets and liabilities as follows:

Profit before Taxation Assets Liabilities

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 27

$'000 $£'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Total for reportable segments 6,076,171 5,967,717 134,484,587 126,485,480 85,967,230 80,570,288
Inter-segment eliminations - - {4,694,018)  (4,440,850) (4,656,868)  (4,520,531)
Unallocated amounts:
Carporate central office resulls 1,323,467 538,032 - - - -
Post-employment benefits {332,207) {629,227) - - - -
Share-based payments (104,406) (56,960) - - - -
Taxation recoverable - - 764,826 798,690 - S
Deferred tax assels - - 1,410,080 836,477 - -
Pension plan asset - - 3,269,925 6,308,843 - -
Taxation - - - - 464,890 427,486
Deferred tax liabilities - - - - 687,069 1,369,294
Other post-employment obligations - - - - 6,083,687 5,129,990
Total unallocated 886,854 (148,155) 5,444,831 7,944,010 7,235,646 6,926,770
Total per financial statemenis 6,963,025 5,819,562 135,235,400 129,988,640 88,546,008 82,976,527
Geographical information

Revenue Non-current Assets "
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Jamaica 51,777,307 47,656,940 16,708,997 12,994,276
United Kingdom 12,084,871 12,297,058 1,183,305 1,280,831
United States of America 18,674,249 18,123,196 3,040,011 2,961,132
Canada 6,126,392 5,889,908 54,918 61,414
Other Caribbean countries 6,940,647 6,672,710 1,305,830 1,232,355
Other Eurapean countries 1,752,896 1,565,325 - -
Africa 29,046 126,223 - -
Other countries 159,323 135,292 - -
Total 97,544,731 92,475,652 22,293,061 18,530,008

(s Revenue is atiributed to countries on the basis of the customer’s location.

o) For (he purposes of segmenl information, non-current assets exclude financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment
benefit assets and rights arising under insurance contracts, as well as discontinued operations.
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23. Revenues

Revenues can be disaggregated as follows:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Timing of revenue recognition —
Goods transferred at a point in time 77,106,135 72,609,349 18,957,924 17,623,999
Services transferred at a point in time 10,677,779 10,792,958 - -
Services transferred over time 132,795 132,544 - -
Revenue from insurance contracls 5,605,875 4,687,863 - -
Interest revenue —
Interest income on invesiments 1,018,298 1,198,332 - -
Interest income on loans receivable 3,003,849 3,054,606 - -

97,544,731 92,475,652 18,957,924 17,623,999

24, Expense by Nature

Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Auditors’ remuneration 209,721 179,413 21,223 19,368
Advertising and marketing 2,711,918 2,748,920 1,087,806 1,013,069
Amortisation of intangibles 634,620 586,370 70,318 63,389
Commissions and other money services costs 1,827,300 1,772,862 - -
Cost of inventory recognised as expense 54,116,666 50,430,582 14,479,386 13,310,172
Depreciation 1,115,819 984,166 71,000 71,313
Impairment losses on financial assets (net) 484,367 366,048 25,870 17,588
Information technology 1,056,551 996,115 393,493 457,741
Insurance 629,302 607,187 102,683 101,020
Interest expense and other financial services expenses 5,691,319 5,213,261 - -
Legal, professional and other fees 4,214,664 3,639,848 825,751 573,564
Occupancy costs - Lease rental charges, ulilities, elc. 3,402,879 3,265,280 596,477 605,355
Repairs and maintenance expenditure 754,671 714,627 40,203 41,001
Staff costs (Note 26) 13,828,705 13,795,418 3,735,514 3,583,723
Transportation 2,093,695 1,842,927 461,395 397,639
Other expenses 1,632,020 1,801,299 381,469 607,238

94,404,217 88,944,423 22,292,588 20,862,180
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25,

26.

Other Income

Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Dividend income 25,073 15,489 2,353,901 2,196,038
Net foreign exchange gains 833,343 282,776 248,237 16,817
Change in fair value of investment properties 10,000 34,000 - -
Change in value of investments — fair value through profit or loss 135,228 {1,148) - -
Gain on acquisition of subsidiary (Note 38) - 418,460 - -
Gain on disposal of investments 1,069,837 45,699 - 10,531
Gain/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets 27,704 (8,200) 947 1,210
Fees and commissions 557,626 486,870 2,949,938 2,340,855
Interest income - available-for-sale securilies 310,027 324,046 - -
Rebates, reimbursements and recoveries 227,696 239,093 38,011 36,278
Rent 235,596 175,177 - -
Miscellaneous 53,880 75,744 8,263 17.041
3,486,010 2,088,006 5,599,297 4,618,770

Staff Costs

Group Company

2018 2017 2018 217
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Wages and salaries 9,988,619 9,743,090 2,602,219 2,335,102
Pension {Nole 14) 79,506 174,000 79,506 174,000
Pension contributions to defined contribution scheme (Note 14) 330,859 293,859 65,683 60,073
Other post-employment benefits (Note 14) 461,749 621,224 207,097 271,952
Share-based paymenis 104,406 56,960 73,302 34,598
Statutory contributions 930,486 918,470 257,971 230,219
Other costs 1,933,080 1,987,815 449,736 477,779
13,828,705 13,795,418 3,735,514 3,583,723
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27. Taxation
Taxation is based on the profit for the yvear adjusted for taxation purposes:

Group Company
2018 2017 2048 2017
$'000 $°000 $'000 $°000
Current tax 1,542,417 1,323,159 37,113 12,991
Adjusiment fo prior year provision (52,467) (149,626) - -
Deferred tax (Note 13) (170,502) (126,071) {48,161) (167,735)
1,319,448 1,047,462 {11,048) (154,744)

The tax on the Group's and company's profit before tax differs from the theorstical amount that would arise using the tax rate of the home

country of the company as follows:

Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Profit before tax 6,963,025 5,819,562 2,435,769 1,579,980
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25% 1.740,756 1,454,891 608,942 394,995
Adjusted for the effects of:
Different tax rates in other countries 26,933 68,857 - -
Different tax rate of regulated Jamaican companies 361,696 276,446 - -
Income not subject to tax {525,230) {296,163) (637.315) {582,440)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 318,953 230,385 17,325 33,432
Adjustment to prior year provision (52,467) {149,626) - -
Share of profils of associates and joint ventures included net of tax (122,718) (121,243) - -
Urban renewal tax credit {427,697} (416,449) - -
Other (778) 364 - {731)
Tax expense/(credit) 1,319,448 1,047,462 (11,048) (154,744)
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27. Taxation (Continued)

The tax (charge)/credit relating to components of other comprehensive income is as follows:

Group
2018 2017
Tax
Before Tax After Before {charge)/ After
tax charge tax tax credit tax
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Items that will not be reclassified fo profit
or loss:
Revaluation surplus 899,329 {214,691) 684,638 2,500 20,527 23,027
Fair value gains 156,268 (52,667) 103,601 - - -
Remeasurements of post-employment
benefit obligations (3.660,408) 925,771 (2,734,637) 72,015 (13.081) 58,934
Share of other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures 30.249 - 30,249 3.436 - 3,436
(2.574,562) 658,413  (1,916,149) 77.951 7.446 85,397
flems that may be subsequently reciassified
to profit or loss:
Foreign currency transiation adjustments {1,180,883) - {1,180,883) {201.407) - (201,407)
Fair value (losses)/gains (402,511) 122,562 {279,949) 321,921 (71,244) 250,677
Share of other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures 15,373 - 15,373 (22,903} - (22,903)
(1,568,021) 122,562  (1,445,459) 97,611 (71.244) 26,367
Other comprehensive income (4,142,583} 780,975  (3,361,608) 175,562 (63,798) 111,764
Deferred tax (Note 13) - 780,975 - - (63,798) -
Company
2018 2017
Tax
Before Tax After Before credit/ After
tax charge tax tax (charge) tax
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
{tems that will not be reclassified to profit
or loss:
Revaluation surplus 7.412 (2,613) 4,799 - - =
Fair value losses (6,932) 1,733 (5,199) - . -
Remeasurements of post-employment
benefit obligations {3,354.775) 838,694  (2,516,081) 222,186 {55,547) 166,638
(3.354,295) 837.814  (2.516.481) 222,186 {55,547) 166,639
items that may be subsequently reclassifiad
fo profit or loss:
Fair value gains - - - 56,372 {14,093) 42,279
- - - 56,372 {14,093) 42,279
Other comprehensive income (3.354,295) 837,814  (2,516,481) 278,558 {69,640) 208,918
Deferred tax (Note 13) - 837,814 - - (69,640) -
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28. Net Profit Attributable to the Owners of GraceKennedy Limited
Dealt with as follows in the financial statements of:

2018 2017
$'000 $'000
The company 2,446,817 1,734,724
Intra-group dividends, gain on disposal of subsidiaries within the Group
and other eliminations on consolidation {2.352,957) {(2,198,630)
Adjusted company profit/(loss) 93,860 (463,906)
The subsidiaries 4,421,182 4,095,035
The associates and joint ventures 490,873 484,972
5,005,915 4,116,101
29, Dividends
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Paid,
Interim — 40 cents per stock unit (2017 : 30 cents) 397,117 297,804
Interim - 45 cents per stock unit {2017 : 38 cents) 446,668 371711
Final — 50 cents per stock unit (2017 : 45 cents) 495,998 446,604
1,339,783 1,121,519

30. Earnings Per Stock Unit

Basic earnings per stock unit is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to owners by the weighted average number of ordinary stock

units outstanding during the year.

2018 2017
Net profit attributable to owners ($'000) 5,005,915 4,116,101
Weighted average number of stock units outstanding ('000) 991,865 992,654
Basic eamings per stock unit ($) 5.05 415

The diluted eamings per stock unit is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary stock unils oulstanding lo assume

conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary stock units.

(a) 2,493,000 (2017; 2,079,000) ordinary stock units for the full year in respect of stock options for directors.
(by 3,633,000 (2017: 2,616,000) ordinary stock unilts for the full year in respect of the stock optlions for managers.

2018 2017

Net profit attributabte to owners ($'000) 5,005,915 4,116,101
Weighted average number of stock units outstanding (‘000) 991,865 992 654
Adjustiment for share options ('000) 1,602 964
993,467 993,618

Diluted earnings per stock unit ($) 5.04 4.14
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31. Cash Flows from Operating Actlvities

Reconciliation of net profit to cash generated from operating activities:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
Nate $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Net profit 5,643,577 4,772,100 2,446,817 1,734,724
Items not affecting cash:
Depreciation 12 1,115,819 984,166 71,000 71,313
Amortisation 1" 634,620 586,370 70,318 63,389
Change in value of investment properties {10,000) {34,000) - -
Change in value of investments {135,228) 1,148 - -
{Gain)/loss on disposal of fixed assets {27,704) 8,200 (947} {1.210)
Gain on disposal of investments {1,069,837) {45,699) - {10,531)
Gain on acquisition of subsidiary - {418,460} - -
Share-based paymenls 17 104,406 56,960 73,302 34,598
Exchange (gain)/loss on foreign balances (210,951) 189,174 60,562 72,207
Interest income — non financial services {427,501} (378,212) (504,893) (541,547)
Interest income — financial services (4,332,173} (4,576,984) - -
Interest expense — non financial services 581,873 662,857 333,757 342,156
Interast expense - financial services 781,454 1,025,627 - -
Taxalion expense 27 1,319,448 1,047,462 {11,048) (154,744}
Unremitted equity income in associates and joint ventures (197,225) (146,490) - -
Pension plan surplus 78,979 173,014 78,979 173.014
Other post-employment obligations 253,228 456,213 62,223 162,579
4,102,785 4,363,446 2,680,070 1,945,948
Changes in working capital components:
Inventaries {1,530,921) 452,306 {497,717) 168,509
Receivables 546,885 {1.858,404) {528,674) (83,080)
Loans receivable, net 654,147 (1,787,965} - -
Payables 847,465 1,763,059 998,656 (35.051)
Deposits 558,089 3.271.821 - -
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 3,342,339 {(8,388,536) - -
Subsidiaries - - (1,180,214) 36,051
Total pravided by/(used in} operaling activilies 8,520,799 {2,184,273) 1,472,121 2,032,377
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31. Cash Flows from Operating Activities {Continued}
Reconclliation of net profit to cash generated from operating activilies (continued):

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $°'000 $'000
Cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 8,520,799 {2,184,273) 1,472,121 2,032,377
Interest received - financial services 4,404,330 4,555,353 - -
Interest paid - financial services (818,882) {1,058,846) - -
Translation losses (1.242,828) (113,163} - -
Taxation paid {1,418,683) {1,692,831) {61,894) (53,073)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 9,444,736 (493,760) 1,410,227 1,979,304
Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities:
Amounts represent bank and other loans, excluding bank overdrafis
Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At 1 January 13,833,665 11,276,191 4,022,443 3,391,830
Loans received 7.612,456 5,284,480 3,061,883 1,805,086
Loans repaid (7,558,098} (2,568,620) {2,629,854) {1,108,119)
Foreign exchange adjustimenis 104,837 (124,254) 126,788 {59,522)
Netl interest movements (10,248) {34,132) 11,690 {6.832)
At 31 December 13,982,712 13,833,665 4,592,950 4,022,443
32. Commitments
{a}  Future lease payments under operating leases at 31 December 2018 were as follows:
$'000
In financial year 2019 1,366,102
2020 1,080,861
2021 944,297
2022 722,364
2023 566,589
2024 and beyond 1,517,061

{b) At 31 December 2018, the Group had $452,651,000 (2017: $2,126,181,000) in autharised capital expenditure for which it had

established contracts.
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33. Contingent Liabllitles

(a)

(b}

(c)

By lelter dated 17 May 2018, the Guyana Revenue Authority (GRA) indicated that GraceKennedy Remillance Services Guyana
('GKRS") was “incorrectly” classified as a non-commercial company rather than a commarcial company. Based on this, the GRA
asserted that GKRS had wrongly paid corparation taxes at the lower non-commercial company rate. GKRS’ tax liability was assessed
by the GRA to be the equivatent of J$228,254,000, excluding penallies and interest if applicable. GKRS lodged abjections to the GRA's
assessment on the basis thal the GRA wrongly assessed GKRS as a commercial company and that GKRS had filed (and the GRA had
accepled), retums for a period of over 20 years as a non-commercial company. By letter dated 26 September 2018, received on 4
October 2018, the GRA indicated that it would maintain its assessments despite the objection.

GKRS instructed counsel to file an appeal to a Judge in Chambers in the matter. The appeal was filed on 26 Oclober 2018 and defence
in response filed by the GRA on 21 December 2018.  Wrilten submissions were also filed by both parties thereafter. Both parties are
expected to make oral submissions before the Judge in chambers by the end of March 2019, providing any dlarification on the writlen
submissions filed, subsequent to which the judge will deliver a decision.

GKRS is confident that it has a strong basis of appeal having regard to counsel's advice, that the requirement to pay laxes as a
commercial company, as set out in the Corporation Tax Act of Guyana, does not apply because the company does not satisfy the
criterion for this classification. Based on this, no amounts have been provided for in these financial statements in respect of this matter.

On 27 December 2018, the company eslablished a Standby Letter of Credit (SBLC) for the equivalent of J$190,207,000 in favour of
the lessors for a new warehouse to be ulilised by a Food Trading subsidiary. The facility is priced at 2% per annum and expires after
1 year. Itis expected to be renewed for a further 12 months.

Various companies in the Group are involved in certain legal proceedings incidental to the normal conduct of business. The management
of these companies believes thal none of these proceedings, individually or in aggregate, will have a material effect on the Group.
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34. Related Parly Transactions and Balances

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
{a} Sales of goods and services
Sales of goods 2,104 2610 460,952 418,210
Sales of services 82,976 91,443 2,689,342 2,166,356
{b) Purchase of goods and services
Purchases of goods 4,096,454 3,094,559 7,894,680 7,076,255
Purchases of services - - 563,539 472,557
{c} Interest
Interest income 1,369 1,670 126,759 180,219
Interest expense 16,173 25,273 86,741 93,685

(d)

Dividends received by the company from subsidiaries and associates were $2,102,957,000 (2017: $1,893,369,000) and

$250,000,000 (2017: $300,000,000) respectively.

Transactions with key management

Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive) and members of the Executive Commitiee

The compensation of key management for services is shown below:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Salaries and other short-term employee benefils 411,074 371,093 284,976 240,645
Fees paid to directors 35,976 35,204 28,799 29,057
Post-employment benefils (28,052) (4,550) (33,536) (13,851)
Share-based payments 68,963 37,742 59,486 27,604
487,961 439,489 339,725 283,455

The following amounts are in respect of directors’ emoluments:

Group Company
20M8 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fees 35,976 35,204 28,799 29,057
Management remuneration 132,100 135,774 132,100 135,774
Consultancy services 9,019 - 9,019 -
Post-employment benefits paid 16.074 37,208 3,020 7.262
193,168 208,186 172,938 172,093
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34. Related Party Transactions and Balances (Continued)
(d} Transactions with key management {continued)

Transactions with directors and other key management personnel (and their families)

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Sale of goods and services —
Sales of goods 1,180 1,153 861 1,153
Sales of services 2,264 2,583 - -
Purchase of goods and services -
Purchase of services 4,095 - 4,095 -
Interest eamed and incurred -
Interest income 1,148 1,513 - -
Interest expense 4,001 8,740 - -

Transactions with companies conlrolled by directors and other key management personnel

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Sale of goods and services -
Sales of services 298 557 - S
{e) Year-end balances with related parties

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cash and deposits with subsidiaries - - 1.081.416 262,812
Investment securities with subsidiaries - - 86,159 227,035
Receivable from subsidiaries - - 1,867,140 1,063,372
Receivable from associates and joint ventures {Note 7) 29,591 14,122 17,465 3,168
Loans receivable from subsidiaries (Note 9) - - 1,336,805 3,238,328
Payable to subsidiaries - - 3,027,508 3,403,955
Payable o associates and joint ventures (Nole 16} 429,556 246,867 201,742 143,778
Loans & leases payable o subsidiaries - - 249,243 245,073
Deposits payable to associates and joint ventures 493,982 538,500 = s

{fH Loans to related parties

Loans receivable from subsidiaries are repayable in the years 2019 - 2025 and bear inlerest at 4.0% - 8.0% (2017: 0% - 9.5%). No
provision was required in 2018 and 2017 for loans made to subsidiaries.
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34. Related Party Transactions and Balances (Continued)

{H  Loans to related parties {continued)

Company
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
Loans to subsidiaries:
At 1 January 3,228,328 3,012,013
Loans advanced during the year 698,199 970,000
Loan repayments received (2,671,547) {718,285)
Exchange differences 113,765 (57,744)
Interest charged 46,312 143,451
Interest received {88,252) (111,107)
At 31 December 1,336,805 3,238,328
{g) Year end balances with directors and other key management
Balances with directors and other key management personnel {and their families)
Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Receivables 57 633 58 183
Loans receivable 73,869 75,818 52,833 59,114
226,327 300,958 - -

Deposits payable

{h) Loans to directors and other key management

The loans receivable attract interest at rates ranging between 0% - 10.5% {2017: 0% - 10.5%) and are repayable in the years 2021 -
2025. These loans are secured and are made on terms similar to those offered to other employees. No provision was required in

2018 and 2017 for the loans made {o directors and senior managers.

Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

$'00C $'000 $'000 $'000
Loans to directors and other key management:
At 1 January 75,818 115,235 59,114 98,637
Loans advanced during the year 28,723 4170 4,781 -
Loan repayments received (30,760) {43,051) (11,062) {40,523)
Exchange differences - {536) - -
Interest charged 1,148 1,513 - -
Interest received {1,060) {1,513) - -
At 31 December 73,869 75,818 52,833 59,114

{n Share options granted to directors

The outstanding number of share oplions granted to the direclors of the company at the end of the year was 2,493,000 (2017:

2,079,000).
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35,

Fair Values Estimation

Financial Instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received o sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants

at the measurement date.

The following tables provide an analysis of the Group's and company’s financial instruments held as at 31 December that, subsequent to initial
recognition, are measured at fair value. The financial instruments are grouped into levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair values

are cbservable, as follows:

. Level 1 includes those instruments which are measured based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

. Level 2 includes those instruments which are measured using inputs other than quoled prices within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly {lhat is, as prices) or indirectly {that is, derived from prices).

. Level 3 includes those instruments which are measured using valuation techniques that include inputs for the instrument that are not

based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Group
2018
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:
Quoted equities 577,070 - - 577,070
Government of Jamaica securities - 5,589,468 - 5,589,468
Foreign governments - 430,355 - 430,355
Other - 424 - 424
Financial assels at fair value through profit or loss:
Quoted equities 463,211 - - 463,211
Total Assels 1,040,281 6,020,247 - 7.060,528
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35. Fair Values Estimation (Continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Group
2017
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Assets
Available-for-sale securities:
Quoted equities 579,692 - - 579,692
Bank of Jamaica - 9,912,692 - 9,912,692
Govemment of Jamaica securilies - 12,944,286 - 12,944,288
Foreign govemments - 885,415 - 885,415
Corporate bonds - 9,472,499 - 9,472,499
Other debt securities - 2,954,634 - 2,954,634
Other - 5,779 - 5,779
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Quoted equities 25,344 - - 25,344
Total Assets 605,036 36,175,305 - 36,780,341
Company
2018
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Asseats
Financial assels at fair value through other comprehensive income:
Quoted equities 41,570 - - 41,570
Total Assets 41,570 - - 41,570
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35.

Fair Values Estimation {Continued)
Financial Instruments (continued)
Company
2017
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Assets
Available-for-sale securities:
Quotled equilies 48,502 - - 48,502
Government of Jamaica securities - 2,995,852 - 2,995,852
Comorate bonds - 1,954,336 - 1,954,336
Other debt securities - 1,514,573 - 1,514,573
Other - 335 - 335
Total Assets 48,502 6,465,096 - 6,513,598

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the statement of financial position date. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, indusiry group, pricing
service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regulary occuming market transactions on an arm'’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1. Instruments
included in level 1 comprise primarily equity investments listed on a public stock exchange classified as trading securities or available-for-
sale.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by
using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as
possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in
level 2,

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on abservable markel data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.

. The fair value of inlerest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable vield
curves.

. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is delermined using forward exchange rates al the statement of financial position
date, with the resulting value discounted back to present value.

. Olher techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.
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35.

Fair Values Estimation (Continued)

Financial Instruments {continued)

Note that all of the resulting fair value estimates are included in level 2 except for certain corporate bonds as explained below.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instrumenis for the years ended 31 December.

Group
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
At beginning of year - 969
Disposals - {969)

At end of year -

There were no transfers between the levels during the year.

Fair Value of Land and Buildings and Investment Properties

An independent valuation of the Group's land and buildings was performed by valuers to detemmine the fair value of the land and buildings as
at 31 December 2018. The revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred income taxes was crediled to other comprehensive income and is
shown in ‘capital and fair value reserves' in shareholders' equity (Nole 18). The following table analyses the nen-financial assels carried at
fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markels for identical assets or liabilities {Level 1).

. Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the assel or liabitity, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly {that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).
. Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

Land and buildings and investment properties are classified as level 3. The valuations have been performed using the sales comparison and
income approaches for all properties excepl the Distribution Centre, which is valued using the cost approach.

The carrying value of land and buildings classified as level 3 is $6,417,246,000 (2017: $5,741,334,000) and $82,000,000 (2017: $72,576,000)
for the Group and company respeclively, Included in Group's land and buildings is the Distribulion Cenfre with a camying value of

$3,822,000,000 {(2017: $3,207,522,000).

The carmrying value of investment properties classified as level 3 is $628,000,000 (2017: $618,000,000).

Reconclliation of the opening and closing batances of the Group's land and buildings:

Distribution

Other land

Distribution

Other land

center__and buildings Total center _and buildings Total
2018 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At beginning of year 3,207,522 2,533,812 5,741,334 3,285,000 2,559,749 5,844,749

Additions and transfers in 48,598 61,764 110,362 4,808 26,628 31,434

Revaluation adjustment 648,879 250,450 899,329 - 2,500 2,500

Disposals and transfers out - (242,244} (242,244) - - -
Depreciation (82,999) (27,791} {110,790} (82,284) (27,274) (109,558}
Translation adjusiment - 19,255 19,255 - (27,791) (27,791}

At end of year 3,822,000 2,586,246 6,417,246 3,207,522 2,533,812 5,741,334

There were no transfers to/ffrom Level 3 during the year.
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35.

Fair Values Estimation (Continued)
Fair Value of Land and Buildings and Investment Propertles (continued)

A reconciliation of the opening and closing balances for the company's land and buildings and the Group's investment properties are disclosed
in Notes 12 and 37 respectively.

Valuation processes of the Group

On a hiennial basis, the Group engages external, independent and qualified valuers to determine the fair value of the Group's land and
buildings. The most recent valuations were performed as at 31 December 2016. The Group engages external, independent and qualified
valuers to determine the fair value of its investment properties on an annual basis.

Sales Comparison Approach

There have been a limited number of similar sales in the local market, and consequently the sales comparison approach incorporates
unobservable inputs which in the valuator's judgement reflects suitable adjustments regarding size, age, condition, time of sale, quality of land
and buildings and improvements. The most significant input into this valuation is the price per square foot. The higher the price per square
foot the higher the fair value.

Incoma Approach

The projected net income of the subject properties are discounted using an appropriate capitalisation rate. The most significant inputs 1o this
valuation is the rental rate per square foot and the capilalisation rate. Rental rates of the subject properties are adjusted to refiect the market
rent for properties of similar size, location and condition. The higher the rental rate per square foot the higher the fair value. The higher the

capilalisation rate the fower the fair value. The average rent per square foot ranges between $450 to $500 and the capitalisation rate ranges
between 9% - 10%.

Cost Approach

The fair value of the Distribution Centre has been determined using the cost approach due to specialised nature of the asset. The key inpuls
into this valuation are shown in the table below.

Distribution Centre

Fair value at Fair value at

31 December 31 December Range of Relationship of
2018 2017 Valuation unobservable uncbservable
Description $'000 $'000 technique{s} Unobservable inputs  inputs inputs
Certified cosis of The higher the
construction as at date costs of
of completion of US$21,500,000 - construction the
Distribution centre 3,822,000 3,207,522 Coslt approach  property LIS$22,000,000 higher the fair value
The higher the rate
of increase in
Rate of increase in 2018: 10% - 12% construction costs
construction costs from 2017: 10% - 12%  the higher the fair
date of last valuation value
The higher the
Professicnal fees - professional fees
architects, quantity the higher the fair
surveyors, engineers 8% value
The higher the
2018: 10% - 12% interest cost the
Interest cost 2017: 10% - 12% higher the fair value
The higher the
developer's profit
Estimated profit margin the higher the fair
required by developer 5% value
The higher the rate
of obsolescence the
Rate of obsolescence 9% lower the fair value

3,822,000 3,207,522
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36. Financial Instruments by Category

Group
Assets at fair
value through
Assets at fair other
Assets at  value through comprehensive
amortised cost profit or loss income Total
$'000 $'000 $°000 $'000
As at 31 December 2018:
Cash and deposits 14,824,799 - - 14,824,799
Investment securities and pledged assels 31,132,140 463,211 6,597,317 38,192,668
Loans receivable 26,469,557 - - 26,469,557
Trade and other receivables 12,190,272 - - 12,190,272
Total financial assets 84,616,768 463,211 6,597,317 91,677,296
Group
Assets at fair
Loans and  value through Avallable for
receivahles profit or loss for sale Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
As at 31 December 2017:
Cash and depaosits 12,084,245 - - 12,084,245
Investment securities and pledged assels - 25,344 36,754,997 36,780,341
Loans receivable 27,548,329 - - 27,548,329
Trade and other receivables 13,789,630 - - 13,789,630
Total financial assets 53,422,204 25,344 36,754,997 90,202,545
Group _
Other financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
$'000
As at 31 December 2018:
Deposils 34,371,026
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 7.208,337
Bank and other loans 16,529,313
Trade and other payables 19,985,250
Total financial liabilities 78,093,926
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36. Financial Instruments by Category (Continued)

Group
QOther financial
liabllities at
amortised
cost
$'000
As at 31 December 2017:
Deposits 33,530,523
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 3,792,720
Bank and other loans 16,515,615
Trade and other payables 19,366,495
Total financial liabilitles 73,205,353
Company
Assets at fair
value through
other
Assets at comprehensive
amortised cost income Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
As at 31 December 2018:
Cash and deposils 3,960,985 - 3,960,985
Investment securities and pledged assets 5,705,912 41,570 5,747,482
Loans receivable 1,434,966 - 1,434,966
Trade and other receivables 1,583,879 - 1,583,879
Subsidiaries 1,867,140 - 1,867,140
Total financial assets 14,552,882 41,570 14,594 452
Company
Loans and Available for
receivables for sale Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
As at 31 December 2017:
Cash and deposits 1,944 451 - 1,944,451
Investment securities and pledged assels - 6,513,598 6,513,598
Loans receivable 3,359,306 - 3,359,306
Trade and other receivables 1,360,633 - 1,360,633
Subsidiaries 1,063,372 - 1,063,372
Total financial assets 7,727,762 6,513,598 14,241,360
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38. Financial Instruments by Category {Continued)

Company

Other financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
$'000

As at 31 December 2018:
Bank and other loans 6,114,341
Trade and other payables 3,558,129
Subsidiaries 3,027,509
Total financial liabilities 12,699,978

Company

Other financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
$'000

As at 31 December 2017:
Bank and other loans 4,053,268
Trade and other payables 2,544,670
Subsidiaries 3,403,955
Total financial liabilities 10,001,893

37. Investment Properties
Group
2018 2017
$'000 $'000
At 1 January 618,000 584,000
Change in fair value 10,000 34,000
At 31 December 628,000 618,000
The following amounts have been recognised in the income statement:
Group

2018 2017
$'000 $°000
Rental income arising from investment properties 40,176 26,086
Direct operaling expenses arising from investment properties 10,718 9,690

Investment properties comprise commercial properties that are leased to third parties.



Page 118

GraceKennedy Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2018
{expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

38,

39,

Business Combinations
In the prior year, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Consumer Brands Limited (CBL), a distributor of recognised intemational and

local third party branded household products in Jamaica. The acquisition has expanded the range of branded products that the Group distribules
in Jamaica and complements the Group's expertise in managing top tier brands and deep distribution channels.

The following table summarises the purchase consideration, net assets acquired and gain on acquisition:

31 August 2017

$'000
Purchase consideration:
Cash paid on date of acquisition 496,330
Cash paid subsequent to acquisition in relation to completion 228,181
Cash paid subsequent to acquisilion in relation to contingent consideration 275,049
Balance due on contingent consideration 108,610
Total purchase consideration 1,108,170
Fair value of net assels acquired 1,526,630
Gain on acquisition of subsidiary (Note 25) {418,4€0)
Purchase cansideralion settled in cash 496,330
Cash and cash equivalents in business acquired {357,590)
Cash outflow on acquisition 138,740
Purchase consideration settled in cash 999,560
Cash and cash equivalents in business acquired (357,590)
Cash outflow at end of prior year 641,970

Contingent consideration

From the date of acquisition, on the retention of certain supplier relationships over the next two years, further consideration up to an amount
of $108,610,000 is payable in cash with 50% being payable on 31 August 2018 and the remaining amount on 31 August 2019.

The following table summarises the change in contingent consideration:

5000
Balance at 1 January 2018 108,610
Payment during the year (54,331)
Balance at 31 December 2018 54,279

Subsequent Event

On 28 February 2019, the Board of Directors approved an interim dividend in respect of 2019 of 35 cents per ordinary stock unit. The dividend
is payable on 4 April 2019 to shareholders on record as at 15 March 2019.
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40. Adoption of New Accounting Standards

New accounting standards have been applied from 1 January 2018 and the financial statements of the Group have been restated as of that
date to reflect the effect of the adoption of IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments' and IFRS 15 *“Revenue from contracts with customers’.

As noted in the accounting policies for the new standards, the transition provisions applied by the Group do not require comparative figures
to be restated. The lotal impact of adoption is therefore recognised in the opening statement of financial position on 1 January 2018 as shown
in Tables 1a and 1b below for the Group and company respectively,

The following tables show lhe adjustments recognised for each individual line item. Line items that were not affected by the changes have
either not been included or are shown in aggregate. The adjustments are explained in more detail by standard below.

Table 1a - Impact on statement of financial position as at 1 January 2018:

Group
December 31 January 1
2017 2018
As originally Effects of Effects of As
presented IFRS 9 IFRS 15 restated
$'000 $'000 $000 $'000
Assets
Investment securilies and pledged assets 36,780,341 (553,921) - 36,226,420
Receivables 15,848,567 (75,260) - 15,773,307
Loans receivable 27,548,329 (441,683) - 27,106,646
Investments in associates 1,798,220 (47,732) - 1,750,488
Deferred tax assels 836,477 208,980 - 1,045,457
Other assets unaffected by adoption of new standards 47,176,706 - - 47,176,706
Total Assets 129,988,640 (909,616) - 129,079,024
Liabilities
Payables 22,210,899 - 143,322 22,354,221
Deferred tax liabilities 1,369,294 (94,810) - 1,274,484
Other liabilities unaffected by adoption of new standards 59,396,334 - - 59,396,334
Total Liabilities 82,976,527 (94,810) 143,322 83,025,039
EQUITY
Capital & reserves attributable to the company’s owners
Capital and fair value reserves 6,089,245 (605,449) - 5,483,796
Retained eamings 32,120,056 (205,869) (143,322} 31,770,865
Share capital, banking and other reserves 7.013,511 - - 7.013.511
45,222,812 (811,318) (143,322} 44,268,172
Non-Controlling Intarests 1,789,301 (3,488) - 1,785,813
Total Equity 47,012,113 (814,806) (143,322) 46,053,985

Total Equity and Liabilities 129,988,640 (909,616) - 129,079,024
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40.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards (Continued)

Table 1b - Impact on statement of financtal position as at 1 January 2018

Company
December 31 Januvary 1
2M7 2018
As originally Effects of As
presented IFRS 9 restated
$'00G $'000 $'000
Assets
Invesiment securities 6,513,598 {352,913) 6,160,685
Receivables 1,434,445 (9,243) 1,425,202
Other assels unaffected by adoption of new standards 31,756,800 - 31,756,800
Total Assets 39,704,843 {362,156) 39,342,687
Liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 882,998 {90,539) 792,459
Other liabilities unaffected by adoption of new standards 12,445,336 - 12,445,336
Total Liabilities 13,328,334 (90,539} 13,237,795
EQUITY
Capital & reserves attributable to the company’'s owners
Capital and fair value reserves 404,977 (228,369} 176,608
Retained earnings 25,365,279 (43,248) 25,322,031
Share capital and other reserves 606,253 - 606,253
Total Equity 26,376,509 (271,617) 26,104,892
Total Equity and Liabilities 39,704,843 (362,156) 39,342,687
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40. Adoption of New Accounting Standards {Continued)

Table 2a - Impact on equity components as at 1 January 2018;

Group
Capital and Nen-
Fair Value Retained Controlling
Reserves Earnings Interests
$'000 $'000 $'000
Closing equity components 31 December 2017 — |AS 39/1A5 18 6,089,245 32,120,056 1,789,304
IFRS 9 Impact
Increase in provision for loans receivahle - (441,683) -
Increase in provision for trade receivables and ather receivables - (72,466) (2,794}
Increasea In provision for debt investments at amortised cost - (181,883) (380)
Increase in provision for debt investments at FVOCI 90,545 (90,545) -
Increase in deferred tax assets relaling to impairment provisions - 220,787 C
Share of associates increase in impairment provision - (47.732) -
Reclassify investments from AFS to FVPL (20,184) 20,194 -
Reclassify investments from AFS to amortised cost (371,344) - {314)
Decrease in deferred tax liabililies relating to reclassification of investments from 83.003 _ .
AFS to amortised cost '
Transfer from loan loss reserve (387,459) 387,459 -
(605,449) {205,869) (3.488)
IFRS 15 Impact
Recognition of liability for customer loyalty programme = (96.289) -
Recognition of contract liability for commission and fee income earmed _ (45,033) _
over time
- {143,322} -
Adjustment to equity from adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 {605,449) {349,191) {3,488)
Opening equity components 1 January 2018 — IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 5,483,796 31,770,865 1,785,813
Table 2b - Effect on equity componentis as at 1 January 2018:
Company
Capital and
Fair Value Retained
Reserves Earnings
$'000 $'000
Closing equity components 31 December 2017 - |IAS 39/1AS 18 404,977 25,365,279
IFRS 9 Impact
Increase in provision for trade receivables and other receivables - (9.243)
Increase in provision for debt investments at amortised cost - (48,421)
Increase in deferred tax assets relating to impairment provisions - 14,416
Reclassify investments from AFS to amortised cost (304,492) -
Decrease in c_leferred tax liabilities relating to reclassification of investments from 76.123 R
AFS to amortised cost '
Adjustment to equity from adoption of tFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 (228,369} {43,248)
Opening equity compeonents 1 January 2018 — IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 176,608 25,322,031
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40.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards {Continued)

(i

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ — impact of adoption

On 1 January 2018 (the date of Initial application of IFRS 9), the Group's management has assessed which business models apply lo
the financial assets held by the Group and has classified its financial instruments into the appropriate IFRS 9 calegories. The main
effects resulting from this reclassification are as follows:

_ Group
AFS Amontised FVOCI FVPL Total
Cost
Financial assels — 1 January 2018 Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Closing balance 31 December 2017
—-IAS 39 36,754,997 - - 25,344 36,780,341
Reclassify debl instruments from AFS to (a)  (29,369,416) 28,815,495 - - (553921)
l;scolaéslsify debt instruments from AFS to (b) (6.832,951) . 6,832,951 . .
ll:{sg%sisily equity instruments from AFS to (©) (426,580) } 426,580 R .
Esgissiry equity instruments from AFS to @ {126,050) . R 126,050 .
e Ll R L . 28815495 7,250,531 151,394 36,226,420
_ Company _
AFS Amortised FVOCI FVPL Total
Cost

Financial assets — 1 January 2018 Note $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Closing balance 31 December 2017
—IAS 39 5,513,508 - - - 6,513,598
Reclassily defit instruments from AFS o @  (6464761) 6,111,848 - - (352913)
'Igsgl%s;sify equity instruments from AFS to (c) (48,837) _ 48,837 R _
Opening balance 1 January 2018 . 6,111,848 48,837 . 6,160,685

-IFRS 9

The Group's invesiments securities that were previously classified as AFS have now been reclassified to amortised cost, FVOCI or
FVPL.

(a)

{b)
{c)

(d}

{e)
{n

Certain debt instruments were reclassified from AFS to amortised cost as the Group's business model is to hold these invesiments
for collection of contractual cash flows, and the cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest. Fair value gains
or lpsses previously recognised in OCI have been reversed. Impairment losses were recognised directly against the asset.

Certain debt instruments were reclassified from AFS to FVOCI, as the Group's business model is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling of these assets. The contractual cash flows of these investments are solely principal and interest.

The Group elected to present in OCI changes in the fair value of some of its equily investments previously classified as AFS

because these investments are held as long-term strategic investments that are not expected to be sold in the short to medium
term.

For other equity investments, whera the Group has the intention to periodically sell, these investments were reclassified from AFS
1o FVPL. The associated fair value gains and losses previously recognised in QCI have been reclassified to opening retained
eamings.

Equity instruments that are held for trading are required to be held as FVPL under IFRS 9. The classification for invesiments
already held by the Group under this business model is unchanged.

There was no impact on the amounts recognised in relalion to the financial assets described in items (b) to (e) from the adoption
of IFRS 8.
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40, Adoptlon of New Accounting Standards {Continued)

Reclassifications of financial instruments on adoption of IFRS 8
On 1 January 2018 (the date of initial application of IFRS 9), the financial instruments of the Group were as follows, with any

reclassifications noted:

Group
Measurement category Carrying amount

Original New Criginal New Change

{1AS 39) {IFRS 9) $'000 $'000 $'000
Cash and deposils Amortised Cost Amortised Cost 12,084,245 12,084,245 5
Investment securilies - debt AFS Amortised Cost 29,369,416 28,815,495 (553,921)
Investment securilies - debt AFS FVOCI 6,832,951 6,832,951 -
Investment securilies - equity AFS FVOCI 426,580 426,580 -
Investment securilies - equity AFS FVPL 126,050 126,050 -
Investment securilies - equity FVPL FVPL 25,344 25,344 -
Trade and other receivables Amortised Cosl Amortised Cast 13,789,630 13,714,370 (75,260)
Loans receivable Amoartised Coslt Amortised Cost 27,548,329 27,106,646 (441,683)

Company
Measurement category Carrying amount

Original New Original New Change

(1AS 39} {IFRS 9) $'000 $'000 $'000
Cash and deposits Amuortised Cost Amortised Cost 1,044,451 1,944,451 -
Investment securities - debt AFS Amortised Cost 6,464,761 6,111,848 (352,913)
Investment securities - equity AFS FVOCI 48,837 48,837 -
Trade and other receivables Amortised Cost Amortised Cost 1,360,633 1,351,390 {9,243)
Subsidiaries Amortised Cost Amortised Cost 1,063,372 1,063,372 -
Loans receivable Amortised Cost Amortised Cost 3,359,306 3,359,306 -

Impaimment of financial assets

The Group has four types of financial assets that are subject fo the new expected credit loss model under IFRS 9:

- Loans receivable
- Receivables

- Debt instruments carried at amortised cost
- Debt instruments carried at FVQCI

The Group revised its impairment methodology under IFRS 9 for each of these classes of assets. The impact of the change in
impaiment methodology on the Group's and company's retained eamings is disclosed in Tables 2a and 2b above.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impaiment requirements of IFRS 9, the idenlified impairment loss was

immalterial.
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40. Adoption of New Accounting Standards (Continued)

(ii)

IFRS 15 — impact of adoption

The Group's adoption of IFRS 15 resulted in adjustments to the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The adjusiments were
made to the amounts recagnised in the statement of financial position at the dale of initial application {1 January 2018} and are shown

in Table 1a above.

The impact on the Group's retained eamings as at 1 January 2018 is shown in Table 2a above.

Below is an outline of the items affecting the opening retained eamings:

Customer loyalty programme

The Group has concluded that it acts as an agent in the customer loyalty programme. Revenue which was previously deferred
is now recognised at the point of sale and the related breakage has been reversed. A liability was established for amounts
payable to third pariies with primary responsibility for satisfying the performance obligation in respect of the awards.

Income eamed aver lime

The Group recognised contract liabilities in respect of contracts with customers in the insurance brokerage and banking industries,
for which consideration was received or due before the Group transferred the service to the customer. This resulted in revenue
deferral of $22,326,000 and $22,707,000 in relation fo Insurance Commissions and Credit Card Fees respectively.

As a result of applying IFRS 15 in the current reporting pericd ended 31 December 2018, line items in the income slatement were

affected as follows:

Group
Revenue from Direct and Net impact of
products and operating IFRS 15 on
services expenses profit or loss
$'000 $'000 $'000
Components of the income statement for the 12 months ended
31 December 2018 — IAS 18 93,822,059 {94,185,712)
Effects of adopting IFRS 15
Reclassification of retum of goods, discounts and loyalty
reward points from expenses to revenue (265,862) 265,862 -
Provision for discounts available to customers and expected
retums {23,929) - {23,929)
Net impact on contract liabilities from the recognition of
commission and fee income eamed over time {9,684) - {9,684)
Net impact of IFRS 15 on profit or loss (299,475) 265,862 {33,613)
Components of the income statement for the 12 months ended
31 December 2018 —IFRS 15 93,522,584 {93,919,850) (33,613)
Company
Net impact of
Cost of goods [FRS 15 on
Revenue sold profit or loss
$'000 $'000 $'000
Components of the income statement for the 12 months ended
31 December 2018 - IAS 18° 19,056,273 (15,076,538)
Effects of adopting IFRS 15
Reclassification of retum of goods and discounts (88,008) 88,008 -
Provision for discounts available to customers and expecled
retums (10,341} - {10,341)
Net impact of IFRS 15 on profit or loss (98,349} 88,008 (10,341)
Components of the income statement for the 12 months ended
31 December 2018 - IFRS 15 18,957,924 (14,988,530) {10,341)

* after accounting for the effects of IFRS 9



